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Group revenues (in € million)

2016

2015

2014

865.4

870.8

813.8

EBIT (in € million)

2016

2015

2014

50.6

47.0

48.4

Order backlog as of Dec 31 (in € million)

2016

2015

2014

797.5

739.7

693.0

GROUP KEY FIGURES

Rosenbauer Group		  2014	 2015	 2016
Revenues	 € million	 813.8	 865.4	 870.8
EBITDA	 € million	 61.0	 64.7	 63.1
EBIT	 € million	 48.4	 50.6	 47.0
EBIT margin		  5.9%	 5.8%	 5.4%
EBT	 € million	 47.3	 48.2	 44.0
Net profit for the period	 € million	 36.7	 36.8	 34.6
Cash flow from operating activities	 € million	 (37.1)	 6.5	 83.4
Investments1	 € million	 51.2	 22.1	 24.3
Order backlog as of Dec 31	 € million	 693.0	 797.5	 739.7
Order intake	 € million	 845.9	 905.9	 816.8
Employees (average)		  2,800	 2,969	 3,312
Employees as of Dec 31		  2,941	 3,086	 3,375

Key statement of financial position		  2014	 2015	 2016
Total assets	 € million	 579.9	 611.8	 650.6
Equity in % of total assets		  34.2%	 37.0%	 37.2%
Capital employed (average)	 € million	 341.2	 437.1	 470.2
Return on capital employed		  14.2%	 11.6%	 10.0%
Return on equity		  24.5%	 22.7%	 18.8%
Net debt	 € million	 154.2	 191.3	 171.3
Working capital	 € million	 137.7	 178.3	 189.6
Gearing ratio		  77.7%	 84.4%	 70.8%

Key stock exchange figures		  2014	 2015	 2016
Closing share price	 €	 71.5	 66.6	 54.2
Number of shares	 million units	 6.8	 6.8	 6.8
Market capitalization	 € million	 485.9	 452.9	 368.6
Dividend	 € million	 8.2	 10.2	 8.22
Dividend per share	 €	 1.2	 1.5	 1.22
Dividend yield		  1.7%	 2.3%	 2.2%
Earnings per share	 €	 4.0	 3.3	 3.5
Price/earnings ratio		  17.9	 20.2	 15.5

1 Investments relate to rights and property, plant and equipment.

2 Proposal to Annual General Meeting
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“Fantastic 
Ideation Day”
Linz, February 15, 2017, 9:00 a.m. 15 young, creative minds meet at  
the Blue Danube Airport in Linz for Rosenbauer’s Fantastic Ideation Day.  
The goal of the Fantastic Ideation Day is to come up with innovative  
ideas for the fire service of the future in 2050. As many off-the-wall ideas  
as possible. The more fantastic the better.





Fire Services  
in 2050
What might the possible duties of fire services be in the future? What  
will be their challenges in the year 2050? And what about the fire service 
solutions to meet these challenges?
Talented young minds from Austria and Germany let their imaginations  
run free for Ideation Day. It is not about developing product ideas, but  
rather about thinking freely and creatively.





The Ideation  
Concept
And how does one come up with fantastic, new ideas? You define the 
framework: Fire Services in 2050. You create various future scenarios.  
You invent things utopian and dystopian. For technology, business  
and society. You develop and choose. You remix and focus. You provoke,  
select and visualize. And behold: The wealth of ideas is limitless.





Limitless  
Ideas
The burning interest in firefighting has paid off. At the end  
of the day there are a lot of wild ideas. The young thinkers  
and visualizers have developed something exciting.  
The day is capped off by a visit to the plant and a ride on  
the Rosenbauer PANTHER.
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GROUP PROFILE

GROUP PROFILE

Rosenbauer is the world’s leading manufacturer of systems for firefighting and disaster protection.  
The company develops and produces vehicles, fire extinguishing systems, equipment and telematics  
solutions for professional, industrial, plant and volunteer fire services and systems for preventive  
firefighting. All of the main sets of standards are covered by products manufactured in Europe, the US  
and Asia. The Group has an active service and sales network in over 100 countries.

The listed family company is in its sixth generation and has served fire departments for 150 years.  
A strong customer focus, innovative strength and reliability are Rosenbauer’s key assets.

€ 870.8 million
Revenues up 1%

3,375
Employees worldwide

€ 816.8 million
Incoming orders down 10%

€ 83.4 million
Strong cash flow improvement

SALES, PRODUCTION AND SERVICE COMPANIES  
ON FOUR CONTINENTS



11

HIGHLIGHTS 2016

HIGHLIGHTS  
2016

STOCK MARKETS
AND ECONOMY

January 1, 2016
Sound capacity utilization: 
Rosenbauer begins 2016 with  
order backlog of € 797.5 million

May 20, 2016
Attractive dividend: Annual General 
Meeting resolves increase to € 1.5 
(2014: € 1.2) per share

Appointment renewed: Christian 
Reisinger confirmed on Supervisory 
Board for further five years

Changing chairs: Rainer Siegel  
elected as Deputy Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board

July 18, 2016
Slowing procurement momentum:  
Falling price of oil weakens demand 
and influences 2016 revenues and 
earnings development

November 18, 2016

Smart & efficient: New vehicle plant 
in Leonding named by Fraunhofer 
Society as one of Austria’s most 
state-of-the-art production facilities

INTER-
NATIONAL

February 22, 2016
Expansion of presence in Slovenia:  
Acquisition of all shares in the  
long-term sales partner Mi Star

April 5, 2016
KAEC plant: New production site 
opened in Saudi Arabia

June 9, 2016
Efficient Technology (ET): 
Rosenbauer presents new, highly  
efficient vehicle series

July 20, 2016

Hydraulic firefighting and rescue 
platforms: Rosenbauer  
Rovereto manufactures platform 
superstructures in Italy

September 1, 2016
Assets bundled: Start of Rosenbauer 
Brandschutz GmbH after acquisition 
of G&S Brandschutztechnik AG

September 30, 2016
New building opened: Rosenbauer 
Schweiz equipped for further  
growth with additional capacity

RESPON-
SIBILITY

June 22, 2016
Family-friendly: Rosenbauer  
awarded Austrian “Companies for 
Families” prize

September 15, 2016
Family business with long  
tradition: A reliable partner to fire 
departments for 150 years

Concept Fire Truck: Rosenbauer  
presents concept study for fire truck 
of the future

December 7, 2016
Rosenbauer donates equipment:  
Gloves and boots for Greek fire 
departments
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Dear Shareholders,
2016 was an anniversary year for Rosenbauer, which gave  
us the opportunity to look back with pride over our 150-year 
history. The company has always responded to the challenges  
of the day with vision and innovation, and it has continued  
on its successful path. 2016 was like a mirror held up to our 
history: In spite of worsening conditions, the Group remained  
on course and we were once again able to demonstrate our 
technology leadership with the Concept Fire Truck.

The biggest challenge of the past year was delays in the  
handling of major orders due to payments, which had a con
siderable impact on the planned revenue performance at some 
Group companies. There was also a significant reduction  
in global demand for ARFF vehicles due to the postponement  
of major procurement projects. Temporary adjustments in 
production capacity were therefore necessitated as of the end  
of the year.

It is under difficult conditions such as these that the strategy  
of regional risk diversification that has been pursued for  
years proves to be the right approach, and an effective one.  
Thus, losses in 2016 were compensated largely by the strong 
local performance on the largest fire service markets, the US  
and Germany, and on key export markets such as China and 
Japan. Overall, we in the Group even achieved a slight increase  
in revenues compared to 2015, and our result was almost  
equal to that of the previous year.

The municipal fire service segment had a very positive year. 
Innovation, quality, and cost awareness once again proved to  
be a recipe for success here. The production lines of the  
AT series were fully utilized, and sales of firefighting helmets  
led to a new record in revenues. With our innovative top 
HEROS-titan model taking the lead, more than 60,000 helmets 
were sold worldwide.

The internationalization of our Group continued in 2016 with  
the acquisition of the German company G&S Brandschutz- 
technik and the majority interest in an Italian manufacturer  
of fire service platforms, which now operates as Rosenbauer 
Rovereto. The two companies complement our product portfolio 
in segments with good prospects for growth.

FOREWORD  
FROM THE CEO

FOREWORD FROM THE CEO
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The world is changing rapidly and so is the firefighting world. 
Current social and technical developments are changing  
the way fire departments are organized and the technology they 
use. At Rosenbauer, we not only work on tomorrow’s products, 
we also think about how firefighting technology will develop 
further in the future. With the Concept Fire Truck presented as 
part of our 150th anniversary celebrations, we provide an  
answer to this with a vehicle that combines almost all of our 
thoughts as to what the fire truck of the future might be like.  
The positive feedback from customers shows that we are  
on the right track.

I am particularly pleased that Rosenbauer was awarded  
the Austrian “Companies for Families” award in 2016 for its 
family-friendly working conditions. In addition to our nursery,  
the award was bestowed on us in recognition of flexible  
working hours, part-time work and parental leave solutions, 
childcare during vacations, and many other measures to help 
optimize work-life balance.

It is extremely important to us at Rosenbauer to offer our 
employees the best possible human and family support, even  
in the face of all the challenges of running a business. After  

all, our successes are all thanks to ambitious and well-trained 
employees who exhibit loyalty to the company even in difficult 
times, and without whom the good results for 2016 would  
not have been possible. I would like to take this opportunity  
to thank them personally.

I would also like to offer you, our shareholders, my warmest 
thanks for your loyalty. Our dividend policy will remain geared 
toward continuity, although we also intend to take adequate 
account of negative effects in the future in view of growing 
political instability on the international markets and invest- 
ments in pioneering firefighting vehicles. We will therefore offer 
the Annual General Meeting a dividend for 2016 at the average 
level of the previous years.

Sincerely,

Dieter Siegel

FOREWORD FROM THE CEO
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Dieter Siegel, CEO
Born 1964
Joined Rosenbauer: 2009
Date of first appointment: 2011
End of current term of office: 2021

Gottfried Brunbauer, CTO
Born 1960
Joined Rosenbauer: 1995
Date of first appointment: 2000
End of current term of office: 2019

Günter Kitzmüller, CFO
Born 1961
Joined Rosenbauer: 2013
First appointment: 2013
End of current term of office: 2018

GLOBAL PRODUCT DIVISION
Customer Service

GLOBAL CENTRAL FUNCTIONS
Corporate Development, Human Resources,  
Global Product Management, Global Marketing,  
Sales Administration, Group Communication

GLOBAL PRODUCT DIVISION
Firefighting & Body Components

GLOBAL CENTRAL FUNCTIONS
Purchase & Logistics, Quality Assurance &  
Management Systems, Technical Functions,  
Technical Information Systems

GLOBAL PRODUCT DIVISIONS
Fire & Safety Equipment, Stationary Fire Protection

GLOBAL CENTRAL FUNCTIONS
Group Finance & Accounting, Controlling, Legal &  
Compliance, Risk Management, Internal Control System,  
Group Audit, Treasury, Business Information Systems,  
Investor Relations, Export Finance & Insurance

EXECUTIVE  
BOARD

EXECUTIVE BOARD



From left: Gottfried Brunbauer, Dieter Siegel, Günter Kitzmüller 15

EXECUTIVE BOARD
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“We asked ourselves the simple 
question: What am I supposed  
to do if there’s a fire? Fire drills 
are one thing, but who knows 
how you’re going to react  
in a real fire? When smoke and  
fire overcome you. When a  
chaos breaks out. How do you 
keep a clear head?
Our answer is augmented reality 
games – designed to simulate 
serious situations in familiar 
surroundings. Augmented  
reality glasses show us escape 
routes where we are and tell  
us what to do with emergency  
equipment like oxygen masks  
and emergency ear plugs.  
In the future this could be  
a way to prepare for potentially 
dangerous situations through 
play.”

Federico Fricke for the
Rescue 5.0 Group
(Federico Fricke, Franz Ludwig,
Christian Walter)

Augmented  
Reality Games
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In a challenging global environment marked by the weakest 
growth momentum of recent years and rising geopolitical  
tension, we successfully concluded the 2016 financial year. The 
Supervisory Board welcomes and supports the consolidation 
measures initiated at the end of the year and, together  
with the Executive Board, is standing by the growth trajectory  
of Rosenbauer International AG.

The 24th Annual General Meeting of Rosenbauer International  
AG was held in Linz on May 20, 2016. Following a detailed  
report on the state of the company by the Executive Board, 
resolutions were made on the appropriation of profits, the  
official approval of the actions of the members of the Executive 
Board and the Supervisory Board for the 2015 financial year  
and the election of the auditor of the annual and consolidated 
financial statements for the 2016 financial year.

At the Annual General Meeting, Christian Reisinger was con-
firmed as a member of the Supervisory Board for a further five 
years and Rainer Siegel was elected as the Deputy Chairman.

The Executive Board was further authorized to acquire treasury 
shares in accordance with section 65 (1) no. 4 and no. 8  
and (1a) and (1b) AktG, both on and off the stock exchange,  
up to an amount of 10% of the share capital.

Furthermore, the Articles of Association of Rosenbauer Inter
national AG were amended in terms of the use of modern  
means of communication for resolutions and meetings of  
the Supervisory Board. Thus, voting by the Supervisory Board  
by means of electronic channels and the option of holding 
conference calls, web conferences, and (qualified) video con- 
ferences have now been introduced and regulated in the  
Articles of Association. In addition, the Supervisory Board’s 
quorum has been amended and reduced to the presence  
of three members of the Supervisory Board.

At its meetings the Executive Board regularly informed  
the Supervisory Board of the development of business and  
the company’s situation. The report of the Executive Board  
on this and its reports on important items of business were 
acknowledged by the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board held four ordinary meetings in the  
year under review. In addition, there were regular meetings of  
the shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board  
that discussed matters of operational and strategic corporate 
governance with the Executive Board. The members of the 
Supervisory Board attended a total of eight meetings of  
the Supervisory Board, its committees and other meetings  
in 2016.

REPORT OF THE  
SUPERVISORY BOARD

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
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The Audit Committee met in March 2017 to review and  
prepare for the adoption of the 2016 annual financial state- 
ments, to devise a proposal for the appointment of the auditor, 
and to confer on matters relating to the Group’s financial 
reporting. A further meeting was held to appraise the audit 
system, risk management system, internal control system,  
and compliance. The members of the Audit Committee  
were Alfred Hutterer (Chairman), Rainer Siegel, and Rudolf 
Aichinger.

The annual financial statements and the management report 
were audited by Ernst & Young Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesell- 
schaft m.b.H. in accordance with the statutory provisions.

The findings of the audit did not give rise to any objections.  
The annual financial statements and the management report 
were therefore issued with an unqualified audit opinion.  
The auditor’s report has been submitted to the members of  
the Supervisory Board in accordance with section 273 (3)  
of the Unternehmensgesetzbuch (UGB – Austrian Commercial 
Code).

The Supervisory Board approves the annual financial state- 
ments as of December 31, 2016, which are thereby adopted  
in accordance with section 96 (4) of the Aktiengesetz  
(AktG – Austrian Stock Corporation Act), and acknowledges  
the consolidated financial statements. The Supervisory  
Board concurs with the Executive Board’s proposal for the 
appropriation of profits and proposes that this be put to  
the Annual General Meeting.

The members of the Supervisory Board would like to thank  
the Executive Board and all employees of the Rosenbauer  
Group, and to express their appreciation for their excellent 
performance and huge commitment in the 2016 financial year. 
My thanks also go to the shareholders of Rosenbauer Inter- 
national AG for their trust and, at the same time, I invite them  
to remain with Rosenbauer as it moves forward.

Leonding, March 2017

Alfred Hutterer
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD



Declaration in accordance with section 243b UGB
Rosenbauer is committed to the Austrian Corporate Gover- 
nance Code (www.corporate-governance.at) and complies  
with virtually all provisions. Rosenbauer therefore meets 
investors’ expectations in terms of responsible, transparent,  
and long-term corporate governance.

The basis of the Code is formed by the provisions of Austrian 
stock corporation, stock market, and capital market law,  
EU recommendations on remuneration of supervisory board 
members and directors, and the principles of the OECD  
corporate governance guidelines. This corporate governance 
report is based on the Code as amended January 2015.

The explanations required by the Austrian Code  
of Corporate Governance have also been published on  
www.rosenbauer.com/group in chapter “Investor Relations”.

Rosenbauer complies with all C rules of the Code with the 
following explanations:

p	 C Rule 27: The agreements for the Executive Board  
are tied to sustainable and long-term performance criteria. 
Non-financial criteria have not been referenced as they  
cannot be measured objectively.

p	 C Rule 27a: The economic situation of the company is not 
taken into account in determining the amount of severance 
payment as members of the Executive Board are selected  
in line with the principle of sustainability.

p	 C Rule 62: Compliance with the provisions of the Austrian 
Code of Corporate Governance was, to date, reviewed by 
Internal Audit. External review is planned for future years.

Executive bodies of the company and working methods 
of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board
Composition of the Executive Board

Dieter Siegel	 CEO

Born	 1964

Global product division	 Customer Service

Global central functions	 Corporate Development,  

	 Human Resources, Global Product  

	 Management, Global Marketing,  

	 Sales Administration,  

	 Group Communication

Date of first appointment	 2011

End of current term  

of office	 2021

Supervisory Board  

mandates	 –
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To ensure sustainable, value-adding corporate  
development, Rosenbauer applies the standards  
and principles of an open and transparent  
communications policy.

CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE  
REPORT
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Gottfried Brunbauer	 CTO

Born	 1960

Global product division	 Firefighting & Body Components

Global central functions	 Purchase & Logistics,  

	 Quality Assurance & Management  

	 Systems, Technical Functions,  

	 Technical Information Systems

Date of first appointment	 2000

End of current term  

of office	 2019

Supervisory Board  

mandates	 –

Günter Kitzmüller	 CFO

Born	 1961

Global product divisions	 Fire & Safety Equipment,  

	 Stationary Fire Protection

Global central functions	 Group Finance & Accounting,  

	 Controlling, Legal & Compliance,  

	 Risk Management, Internal Control  

	 System, Group Audit, Treasury,  

	 Business Information Systems,  

	 Investor Relations,  

	 Export Finance & Insurance

Date of first appointment	 2013

End of current term  

of office	 2018

Supervisory Board  

mandates	 –

Remuneration of Executive Board members (in € thousand)

2016	 Fixed	 Variable	 Total
Dieter Siegel	 391.6	 373.0	 764.6

Gottfried Brunbauer	 358.6	 310.9	 669.5

Günter Kitzmüller	 329.9	 186.5	 516.4

	 1,080.1	 870.4	 1,950.5
2015
Dieter Siegel	 388.8	 485.9	 874.7

Gottfried Brunbauer	 355.7	 404.9	 760.6

Günter Kitzmüller	 327.0	 242.9	 569.9

	 1,071.5	 1,133.7	 2,205.2

Composition of the Supervisory Board
None of the members of the Supervisory Board held a super
visory board mandate or similar function in any other Austrian  
or foreign listed company in the 2016 financial year.

Alfred Hutterer	 Chairman since 2007

Born	 1947

Date of first appointment	 2003

End of current term  

of office	 2018

Functions	 Former Managing Director  

	 of TRUMPF Maschinen Austria  

	 GmbH & Co. KG
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Rainer Siegel	 Deputy Chairman since May 21, 2016

Born	 1963

Date of first appointment	 2009

End of current term  

of office	 2019

Functions	 Freelance management consultant  

	 and management trainer;  

	 Partner in Institut für Wirtschafts- 

	 pädagogik GmbH & Co. KG

Christian Reisinger	 Deputy Chairman until May 20, 2016;  

	 Member since May 21, 2016

Born	 1960

Date of first appointment	 2006

End of current term  

of office	 2021

Functions	 CEO of Shandong Yamei  

	 Sci-tech Co., Ltd.;  

	 Managing Director of CR Management  

	 und Investment GmbH

Karl Ozlsberger
Born	 1948

Date of first appointment	 2007

End of current term  

of office	 2017

Functions	 Management consultant

Appointed by the Works Council:

Rudolf Aichinger
Born	 1963

Date of first appointment	 2003

End of current term  

of office	 2020

Alfred Greslehner
Born	 1960

Date of first appointment	 2004

End of current term  

of office	 2020

Remuneration of Supervisory Board members (€ thousand)

2016	 Fixed	 Variable	 Total
Alfred Hutterer	 24.0	 33.0	 57.0

Rainer Siegel	 21.7	 29.8	 51.5

Christian Reisinger	 20.3	 27.9	 48.2

Karl Ozlsberger	 18.0	 24.8	 42.8

	 84.0	 115.5	 199.5
2015
Alfred Hutterer	 24.0	 37.0	 61.0

Rainer Siegel	 18.0	 27.8	 45.8

Christian Reisinger	 24.0	 37.0	 61.0

Karl Ozlsberger	 18.0	 27.8	 45.8

	 84.0	 129.6	 213.6

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Agreements subject to approval
No agreements subject to approval in accordance with  
L Rule 48 were concluded with a member of the Supervisory 
Board in 2016.

Independence of the Supervisory Board
C Rule 53: The Supervisory Board bases the criteria for the 
independence of its members on the guidelines of Annex 1  
to the Code of Corporate Governance. In line with these 
guidelines, the Supervisory Board members Alfred Hutterer 
(Chairman), Christian Reisinger and Karl Ozlsberger are  
deemed independent.

Supervisory Board members  
with a shareholding of more than 10%
C Rule 54: The Supervisory Board members Alfred Hutterer 
(Chairman), Christian Reisinger and Karl Ozlsberger do  
not have shareholdings of more than 10% in Rosenbauer 
International AG. They also do not represent the interests of  
a shareholder with an investment of more than 10%.

Remuneration report of the Executive Board
A key element in the remuneration system is the variable 
component that is closely linked to the company’s performance. 
The ratio of the fixed to the performance-based components  
of the Executive Board’s total remuneration was 55% to 45%  
in the reporting period.

In line with C Rule 27, the agreements for the Executive Board 
are tied to sustainable and long-term performance criteria.  
The bonus is calculated from the degree of target attainment  

of consolidated earnings on the basis of the income statement 
before taxes and earnings attributable to non-controlling 
interests in the respective financial year. The target is set by  
the Supervisory Board for two financial years at a time. Only 
financially quantifiable criteria are referenced. Non-financial 
criteria have not been referenced as they cannot be measured 
objectively. Variable remuneration has been capped at double  
the fixed annual remuneration.

The severance regulations are based on the statutory specif- 
ications. After leaving the company, the company will not  
incur any future expenses from title to the occupational pension 
scheme or other benefits for Executive Board members.

The agreements include a regulation for the subsequent 
repayment of variable remuneration if this is found to have  
been paid on the basis of incorrect data. The circumstances  
of a member of the Executive Board leaving the company are 
taken into account in that, in the event of early dissolution  
of the Executive Board agreement without gross breach of duty, 
the member in question has a maximum entitlement to the 
remuneration owed under the agreement for 18 months. In the 
event of a gross breach of duty, pro rata variable remuneration, 
severance entitlements, and all other termination benefits  
owed by the company will be forfeit. In the event of premature 
termination without cause, the severance payment will not 
exceed two years’ total remuneration. The economic situation  
of the company is not taken into account in determining  
the amount of severance payment as members of the Executive 
Board are selected in line with the principle of sustainability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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There are no stock option programs for either members of  
the Executive Board or senior managers. There is a D&O 
(directors’ & officers’) insurance policy for the Group, the costs  
of which are paid by Rosenbauer International AG.

Working methods of the Executive Board
In accordance with the law, the Articles of Association and  
the Rules of Procedure approved by the Supervisory Board,  
the Executive Board of Rosenbauer International AG manages  
the company on its own responsibility. It performs its manage-
ment duties as demanded by the good of the company,  
taking into account the interests of all internal and external 
stakeholders, above all including the owners and the employees. 
At regular meetings it discusses current business performance 
and makes the necessary decisions and resolutions.

A constant and open exchange of information between the 
members of the Executive Board and within the top management 
level is one of the principles of management at Rosenbauer.  
The Executive Board reports to the Supervisory Board regularly 
and comprehensively on all relevant issues of business  
development, including the risk situation and risk management  
in the Group. Furthermore, the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board maintains regular contact with the CEO, with whom he 
discusses strategy and ongoing business development.

Working methods of the Supervisory Board
In addition to monitoring the Executive Board, the Supervisory 
Board also sees it as its duty to support the Executive Board  
in its management of the company, particularly in decisions of 
fundamental significance. All members of the Supervisory Board 
attended more than half of the meetings of the Supervisory 
Board in the reporting period.

Committees of the Supervisory Board
The Audit Committee met to review and prepare for the  
adoption of the annual financial statements, to devise a proposal 
for the appointment of the auditor and to confer on all matters 
relating to the Group’s financial reporting. A further meeting  
was held to appraise the Group’s risk management, internal 
control system (ICS), and compliance. The members of the Audit 
Committee were Alfred Hutterer (Chairman), Rainer Siegel and 
Rudolf Aichinger.

The duties of the Strategy Committee, which prepared funda- 
mental decisions in collaboration with the Executive Board, 
calling upon expert assistance where appropriate, are performed 
by the Supervisory Board as a whole, provided that this does  
not comprise more than five elected members.

The remuneration of the Executive Board is regulated by the 
Executive Committee. All other duties of the Human Resources 
Committee, in particular Executive Board succession planning, 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

24



are performed by the Supervisory Board as a whole. The 
Executive Committee consists of the Chairman of the Super
visory Board and his Deputy and met once in the period under 
review. Once a year the Executive Committee conducts an 
appraisal interview with each member of the Executive Board  
to discuss his performance in the past year and goals for the 
coming year.

The committees’ members are appointed for the same length  
of time as their term in office on the Supervisory Board.  
Each committee elects a chairman and deputy chairman from 
among its members.

Meetings of the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board met four times in 2016. In addition,  
there were regular meetings of the shareholder representatives 
that discussed matters of operational and strategic corporate 
governance with the Executive Board.

In one meeting, with external support, the Supervisory Board  
also performed the self-evaluation described in Rule 36  
of the Code of Corporate Governance. Based on a catalog of 
questions, this covered the general cooperation between  
the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, the quality and 
scope of the documents provided to the Supervisory Board  
and organizational issues.

Affirmative action for women
There are currently no women on the Supervisory Board or 
Executive Board of Rosenbauer. The share of female executives 
was 9% in the 2016 financial year (2015: 9%). There are general 
efforts to sustainably increase the share of women at all  
levels of the Group through suitable measures. In a sector that  
is traditionally preferred more by men, Rosenbauer is striving  
to further increase the female share of its workforce.  
Non-discrimination and equal opportunities in the workplace, 
without gender preference, are taken for granted at Rosenbauer. 
There are also measures to help optimize work/life balance,  
such as the establishment of a childcare facility at the Leonding 
location.

Leonding, March 15, 2017

Dieter Siegel
Chairman of the Executive Board, CEO

Gottfried Brunbauer	 Günter Kitzmüller
Member of the Executive Board,	 Member of the Executive Board,

CTO	 CFO
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“Imagine: Soon, in the not  
too distant future – in the year 
2050 – when everyone lives  
in a smart apartment. Fires are 
put out straight away inside  
the building. Just by removing 
the oxygen. Problem solved.
But what happens to the people  
in the building with no air to 
breathe? Clearly, they breathe 
through smart escape masks 
that drop from the ceiling.  
These escape masks ensure  
that everyone has air to breathe. 
And at the same time they  
guide you to escape routes out  
of the building using a head-up 
display. As an additional  
feature, there is also a built-in 
LED light above the viewing  
panel. That’s so that emergency 
services can see you from  
a distance as they approach.”

Franz Ludwig for the
Rescue 5.0 Group
(Federico Fricke, Franz Ludwig,
Christian Walter)

Smart Escape  
Masks



Stock exchange development
2016 began with price declines on the international stock 
exchanges. The ATX likewise fell to a three-year low of 1,957 
points in the middle of February. The subsequent recovery  
to more than 2,300 points was wiped out by the Brexit  
vote at the end of June, which led to the ATX again testing the 
2,000-point line.

There was then a strong upturn in the second half of the  
year. The ATX gained 10.6% as against 2015 over the year as  
a whole.

Investors will be faced with political influence again in 2017,  
and it remains to be seen how the elections in Germany,  
France, and the Netherlands affect the stock markets.

Shares track sideways
In step with the benchmark indices, the price of Rosenbauer’s 
shares fell dramatically from October 2015 to February  
2016, dropping to a long-term low of € 45.8. While they rose 
again by almost 20% by the end of the year, their recovery was 
significantly weaker than that of the overall market. At € 54.2, 
Rosenbauer’s shares were down by 19% compared to 2015  
at the end of the financial year, and its market capitalization 
decreased from € 452.9 million to € 368.6 million.

The shares have been tracking sideways since September  
2016 with upward potential.

Performance of Rosenbauer shares in 2016 (in €)

	  Rosenbauer     ATX Prime Index (indexed)

Rosenbauer’s shares are listed in the Prime Market of the  
Vienna stock exchange. 51% of the shares are held by Rosen- 
bauer Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH, a company founded  
by the family shareholders. Around 5% of the share capital is  
held by an institutional investor in France. The remaining 
shareholdings in the free float are held by investors in Europe 
(Belgium, Denmark, Germany, France, the UK, Austria, Sweden, 
Switzerland) and the United States. Despite the turbulent  
market environment, Rosenbauer has been able to further 
develop its shareholder structure. This has confirmed  
the wisdom of the decision to deepen the dialog with investors, 
and with institutional investors in particular, and to intensify  
the roadshow work.
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2016 was an eventful year for Rosenbauer’s shares.  
A wealth of events on the world markets influenced  
the development on the Vienna Stock Exchange  
and thus the performance of Rosenbauer’s shares.
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The Executive Board and Supervisory Board will propose a 
dividend of € 1.2 (2015: €1.5) per share at the Annual General 
Meeting. Accordingly, the distribution volume for 6.8 million 
no-par-value shares will be € 8.2 million (2015: € 10.2 million). 
Based on the closing price of € 54.2, this corresponds to a 
dividend yield of 2.2% (2015: 2.3%).

Open dialog
The open exchange of information with all players on the  
capital market is a key component of Rosenbauer’s IR work.  
In 2016, roadshows were held and capital market conferences 
were visited at a number of European financial centers to  
inform institutional investors of the strategy and development  
of the Rosenbauer Group.

Rosenbauer regularly holds press conferences and meetings  
with analysts. Furthermore, capital market representatives  
such as analysts and investors take the opportunity to learn 
about the latest product developments and manufacturing 
methods, and to talk with management, at plant visits.

Rosenbauer regularly organizes a shareholder day for private 
investors at its corporate headquarters. Here they are kept 
up-to-date on the economic development of the Group and can 
form their own impression of the ongoing development of the 
company.
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Shareholder structure

1 Holding company of Rosenbauer family shareholders

Dividend
Rosenbauer follows a growth-oriented and sustainable dividend 
policy that is consistent with the company’s performance.  
Its goal is to distribute a secure and attractive dividend based  
on a performance component dependent on revenues, earnings, 
and free cash flow.

Dividend per share

2016

2015

2014

5% Institutional  
investor (FR)

44% Free float
51% Rosenbauer  

Beteiligungs- 
verwaltung GmbH1

€ 1.5

€ 1.2

€ 1.2
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Analysts from renowned financial institutions and banks are  
a key source of information for institutional investors, providing  
a basis on which to make decisions. The banks Baader  
Bank, Kepler Cheuvreux, and Raiffeisen Centrobank recently  
analyzed the shares of Rosenbauer International AG. Price  
targets and recommendations are updated daily on the website 
www.rosenbauer.com/group in chapter “Investor Relations”.

Insider Compliance Directive
The principles on the forwarding of insider information and  
the measures for avoiding the misuse of information are  
set out in the Insider Compliance Directive. Some aspects of  
this were adapted and expanded on in the reporting period  
as a result of the EU’s Market Abuse Directive coming into  
effect.

Conformity with the Directive is monitored on an ongoing  
basis by the Insider Compliance Officer. The Directive applies  
to the members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory 
Board, the top management level of the Group and all persons 
who are privy to insider information on a routine or project- 
related basis.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
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Share details
ISIN: AT0000922554

Vienna Stock Exchange listing: Prime Market

OTC listings: Berlin, Dusseldorf, Hamburg, Hanover,  

Munich, Stuttgart

Stock exchanges: Regulated market in Munich;  

OTC market in Berlin, Dusseldorf, Hamburg, Hanover, Stuttgart;  

open market in Frankfurt

Ticker symbols: Reuters: RBAV.VI; Bloomberg: ROS AV;  

Vienna Stock Exchange: ROS

Number of shares: 6,800,000

Share class: No-par-value shares, bearer or registered

Share capital: € 13,600,000

ATX prime weighting: 0.41% (2015: 0.57%)

Capital market calendar
Mar 28, 2017	 Publication of results for 2016

May 8, 2017	 “Annual General Meeting” record date

May 12, 2017	 Publication of Quarterly Report 1/2017

May 18, 2017	 Annual General Meeting, begins 10.00 a.m. 

	 Börsensäle Wien

May 23, 2017	 Ex-dividend date

May 24, 2017	 “Dividend” record date

May 26, 2017	 Dividend payment date

Aug 11, 2017	 Publication of Half-year Financial Report 2017

Nov 14, 2017	 Publication of Quarterly Report 3/2017

Investor Relations
Gerda Königstorfer
Telephone: +43 732 6794-568, ir@rosenbauer.com
www.rosenbauer.com/group
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Group-wide regulations
Compliance with international rules and treating all stake- 
holders fairly are among the most important of the company’s 
principles. Rosenbauer is committed to more than just statutory 
provisions. Internal regulations, voluntary obligations and  
ethical principles are also integral components of Rosenbauer’s 
corporate culture.

Rosenbauer firmly believes that business success can endure 
only where it is established in a legally impeccable manner.  
The company has created its own Code of Conduct for  
business dealings to be complied with by all employees and 
partners worldwide.

Compliance Organization
The Compliance Organization monitors the issues of corrup- 
tion prevention, competition law and third party due diligence 
together with the areas and subsidiaries directly affected.  
The Group Compliance Officer reports directly to the Executive 
Board and gives annual reports to the Supervisory Board’s  
Audit Committee on the activities that have been undertaken  
and on any relevant events.

The possibility exits to report misconduct that may be relevant  
to compliance, even anonymously.

Regular training
All employees and partners are issued with a copy of the Code  
of Conduct. Staff for whom compliance is especially relevant 
must undergo training courses on pertinent topics at regular 
intervals according to a detailed training schedule. Information 
and training literature are available to all employees on the 
Group-wide company portal.

System confirmed
Rosenbauer has had a review of its compliance management 
system carried out by an external third party, which confirmed 
the system’s full and unqualified effectiveness and functionality.

Vetted partners
Rosenbauer demands full and absolute compliance from its 
business associates and sales partners. Anyone who works with 
Rosenbauer must meet Rosenbauer’s compliance standards. 
Rosenbauer’s expectations regarding the conduct of its partners 
are explicitly set out in its sales agreements.

Sales partners are subjected to a risk-based integrity review  
in order to identify potential corruption risks. The ongoing 
analysis of new and existing business partners is conducted 
using a web-based tool that supports the risk analysis and due 
diligence process in connection with business and sales  
partners. In addition, business partners are also vetted directly  
at the local level in individual instances.

COMPLIANCE
Compliance at Rosenbauer means abiding  
by statutory provisions and regulatory standards,  
including the ethical standards and  
requirements set out by the company itself.

COMPLIANCE



Rosenbauer takes responsibility
As a family company, Rosenbauer attaches great importance  
to sustainability. This applies both to its own business activities 
and its interactions with society and the environment. Inno- 
vative vehicles and reliable equipment for fire departments are 
its most important contribution to society. Rosenbauer products 
are used to put out fires all over the world, to save lives, and  
to mitigate or redress the effects of natural disasters. Rosen- 
bauer is aware of this responsibility, and it therefore relies on 
long-term, future-proof, and successful corporate development.

Sustainability factors are taken into account from the engineer- 
ing of a product through its production to after-sales service. 
Rosenbauer achieved another milestone with the introduction of 
an electrically powered firefighting vehicle in the fall of 2016.

Rosenbauer has a Code of Conduct that establishes binding  
rules for all its employees and partners. These relate not only  
to the business contacts, but also to interactions with all 
stakeholders and are founded on the values of the UN Charter  
on Human Rights. Its CSR policy is also deliberately designed 
according to social and environmental considerations.

Rosenbauer analyzed its entire value chain in 2016 in order  
to be aware of its impact on the environment, society,  
and employees. The most significant aspects of this cycle were 

subjected to a social and ecological review. To comply with  
the EU directive and the Austrian law on non-financial  
reporting, Rosenbauer is currently establishing sustainability 
reporting. An internal report with initial key figures is being 
prepared for 2016. A CSR report in line with the GRI standard  
will be published from 2017. Thus, the company will inform  
all stakeholders transparently and openly about relevant 
sustainability issues. The goal is to improve external sustain- 
ability communication.

Employees
The number of employees as of the end of the year was  
3,375 and was therefore up by 9% year-on-year (2015: 3,086), 
not including temporary employees (177). The increase was  
due mainly to the acquisition of G&S Brandschutztechnik  
with its roughly 130 employees, the integration of Rosenbauer 
Rovereto with its approximately 30 employees and the necessary 
increase in the workforce at the German and US production 
locations.

Rosenbauer attaches great importance to retaining its  
employees in the long term. This is verified by the average  
length of service of 9.4 years and the low employee turnover. 
Equal opportunities for all employees is a major concern for 
Rosenbauer. As a result, more and more women are entering  
the company’s technical professions – especially among  
the younger generation.

SUSTAINABILITY  
REPORT
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“As a family enterprise, we actively practice  
sustainability to ensure a successful and long-term  
future. This is reflected by our basic social attitudes.”  
(Excerpt from mission statement)



Employees who work with a volunteer fire service are especially 
welcome at Rosenbauer. Not only do they make an important 
contribution to society, they also bring a great deal of expertise 
into the company. This leads to products and vehicles that  
are even closer to the customer and guarantee proven quality.

Training and continued professional development: 
Investment in employees
Qualified and motivated employees ensure the long-term  
success of the company. Rosenbauer therefore invests heavily  
in the ongoing development of professional qualifications  
and personal skills. Blue-collar and white-collar employees were 
assisted by internal and external experts who offer tailored 
training and continued professional development programs.

Rosenbauer also invests heavily in young talent: 139 young 
people received dual training in Austria, Germany, Switzerland, 
and Slovenia in 2016.

Rosenbauer also trains young people with special needs in 
cooperation with charitable organizations. The aim of this is to 
integrate the young people into the workplace and into a social 
structure as much as possible. In Leonding, Rosenbauer took  
on two recognized refugees as apprentices in mechatronics and 
operating logistics.

In another project, Rosenbauer supports school students  
from migrant backgrounds. The first START scholarship student 
passed her school-leaving examination in the reporting year.  
The students who receive this support also have the opportunity 
to take part in internships within the company.

Work-life balance
A good work-life balance is another important factor that con- 
tributes not just to employee satisfaction, but also to the 
long-term success of the family enterprise. Rosenbauer supports 
work-life balance with part-time models, flexible working hours 
even in production, extensive healthcare measures, and vacation 
weeks for employees’ children to name just a few examples.  
An in-house sports club takes care of the workforce’s fitness, 
covers the costs of taking part in sports events, and strengthens 
the Rosenbauer team spirit with its own sportswear.

Every year Rosenbauer is delighted to see so many of its 
employees bring new children into the world, and also allows its 
male employees to take parental leave and dedicate more time  
to their families. To make it even easier for women and men  
to return to work, the company runs its own nursery in  
cooperation with Silhouette and PEZ/Haas. The facility is hugely 
popular as parents have a fixed place for their children and so 
can return from parental leave as soon as they want to.

All these efforts to help families do not go unnoticed in the  
public eye. In 2016, Rosenbauer received the Austrian  
“Companies for Families” prize and the state “Felix Familia”  
prize for its commitment.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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Safety at work
Efficiency, ergonomics and employee safety are a top priority 
when designing workplaces and work processes. Wherever 
production areas are reorganized and modernized, attention  
is paid to short routes, optimal device support, ergonomic  
access to materials, mobile tool trays and energy sources, mini- 
mization of noise generation and corresponding safety systems 
for work on vehicle roofs and superstructures. In doing so,  
the company works closely with prevention staff such as safety 
experts, occupational physicians, industrial psychologists, and 
works and official representatives.

SOS (from the German for safety, orderliness and cleanliness)  
at work and in industry is regularly reviewed and improved  
as part of internal SOS audits and special safety inspections. 
Since 2009, occupational health and safety has also been part  
of the integrated management system and certified in line  
with OHSAS 18001 (Occupational Health and Safety Manage-
ment System).

The physical and mental stresses entailed by work processes  
are assessed by the Rosenbauer work safety organization.  
In Austria, this consists of a safety and occupational health 
service and safety experts, safety representatives, first-aiders, 
fire prevention officers, and employee representatives. Similar 
work organizations are in place at other Group locations in  
line with the statutory requirements.

There is a reporting system that uses standardized procedures  
to report work accidents. In addition to reportable workplace  
and minor accidents, “near-miss” accidents are also registered, 
documented, and analyzed and improvements are derived  
from this. The internal indicator used is hours lost as a result  
of work accidents and employee figures.

Products
The intensive examination of the requirements of fire depart-
ments and continuous research and development activities make 
Rosenbauer the firefighting industry’s innovation and technology 
leader. This is possible only thanks to the expertise of long- 
serving employees. At the same time, customers and users are 
involved in all developments. The focus is always on the health 
and safety of firefighters. Thanks to its high level of innovation, 
Rosenbauer creates state-of-the-art products precisely tailored  

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

34

In 2016, Rosenbauer  

received the Austrian  

“Companies for Families”  

prize and the state  

“Felix Familia” prize for  

its commitment.



to the needs of fire departments. Rosenbauer products are 
characterized in particular by functional design and the perfect 
interplay of the systems involved.

The issue of sustainability today runs through all phases in  
the life cycle of a firefighting product. Environmentally friendly  
raw materials are sourced in purchasing, product develop- 
ment looks to easily recyclable materials and simple servicing, 
production focuses on generating as little waste as possible,  
and the efficient use of resources while the priority in deploy-
ment is absolute reliability and longevity.

Quality a priority
Quality is the top priority for all our products, processes, and  
in production. Because firefighting technology has to provide  
a safe service for many years. Rosenbauer’s quality is prover- 
bial, and it is thanks to experienced experts – and an integrated 
management system (IMS) that comprises the following 
regulations:

p	 a quality management system according  
to ISO 9001:2008,

p	 an environmental management system according  
to ISO 14001:2004,

p	 a health and safety management system according  
to OHSAS 18001:2007,

p	 an energy management system according  
to ISO 50001:2011.

The integrated management system is used as an instrument  
for continuous process optimization and managing the company. 
All the regulations and documents needed for operational pro- 

cesses are available online. The system is reviewed and honed  
by way of regular internal and external audits (Quality Austria)  
in addition to customer audits.

Finally, the systematic implementation of the processes, 
instructions and stipulations set out in the IMS is reflected in  
the development of quality costs. The quality indicator for  
the 2016 financial year based on production costs including 
chassis is 1.6%.

Global customer service and training
Comprehensive training opportunities are made available to 
customers to facilitate the safe and sustainable use of Rosen- 
bauer products. These range from operator and technical  
training on vehicles and extinguishing systems, through special 
tactical training to simulated fieldings. Rosenbauer therefore 
assumes responsibility not just for the manufacture of its 
products, but also for their use.

Another contribution to sustainability is the high quality of 
Rosenbauer products, which allow long service lives and save 
valuable resources. A guaranteed spare parts program further 
extends the service life of equipment and vehicles. Customer 
service is available around the clock all over the world.

Another contribution to sustainability that has been encouraged 
in recent years is the refurbishment of fire trucks. Hydraulic 
firefighting and rescue equipment in particular is completely 
overhauled and refitted with state-of-the-art engineering and 
safety features.
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Environment
Rosenbauer attaches great importance to environmental 
protection along its entire value chain. Right at the beginning  
of the engineering and innovation process, there is an inten- 
sive analysis of materials, their processing, and recycling  
characteristics. Safety, resource efficiency, and cost-effective-
ness are weighted equally in the initial phase. Clear environ- 
mental standards ultimately apply in production. Regular  
reviews and audits likewise contribute to quality and environ- 
mental protection.

Efficient environmental management would not be possible 
without employee involvement. There are therefore regular  
joint discussions on how improvements in environmental pro- 
tection can be introduced. In addition to establishing external 
sustainability communication, awareness of these issues  
will be heightened among employees. Moreover, all production 
employees who perform safety or environmental functions 
receive environmental, energy, quality, and work safety  
training once a year.

Particular attention was paid to the avoidance of waste, the 
reduction of heating and fuel consumption, and the substitution 
of energy-intensive appliances with energy-saving ones (e. g. 
electric tools in place of compressed air equipment). Generally, 
however, the environmental impact of production at Rosen- 
bauer tends to be low as it involves mainly assembly work  
on mechanical engineering and specialty vehicle manufacturing, 
metalworking, and plastics processing.

Suppliers are expected to comply with environmental protec- 
tion as well. In addition to ongoing supplier evaluation, attention 
is paid to reducing packing materials and waste. One example  
of this is the use of reusable transport racks instead of  
disposable cartons. A large number of suppliers, particularly in 
the area of equipment, like Rosenbauer, already have ISO 14001 
environmental management.

Efficient energy use
As one of the first companies in Austria to have an energy 
management system certified to ISO 50001:2011, Rosenbauer  
is committed to constantly optimizing its energy footprint.  
In this context, all relevant workflows, mechanical installations, 
buildings, and processes are assessed and weighted according  
to their energy efficiency, and measures are derived from this  
to improve efficiency.

To reduce its overall energy consumption, Rosenbauer uses 
waste heat from production to heat its paint shops. Furthermore, 
these systems are modernized on an ongoing basis. For example, 
the 35-year-old paint shop in Karlsruhe was replaced by a new 
one in the reporting year. This is now provided with power from 
the district heating grid and no longer uses fossil fuels. More- 
over, a new heat exchanger was installed with which 75% of the 
energy used can be recovered.

Rosenbauer has also been using district heating to heat Plant II  
in Leonding for some time. However, this does not come from a 
public grid, but rather as waste heat from voestalpine, a company 
in Linz. This way, around 1,000 metric tons of CO2 per year are 
saved compared to conventional oil/gas heating.
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Efficient logistics with just-in-time supply for production also 
saves CO2. And the shuttle service between Plants I and II  
in Leonding is carbon neutral as well. This is the first electric 
vehicle used in the Rosenbauer fleet.

Further energy savings in production were achieved by installing 
air compressors with consumption-based control. Furthermore, 
new offices are equipped with cutting-edge daylight and heating 
control systems, and extra thermal insulation is being added to 
buildings whenever they are converted or extended.

Employees who want to do something for the environment are 
actively supported by Rosenbauer. Participation in car-free days 
is rewarded with free bicycle inspections and lunch packages.  
In 2016, Rosenbauer took part in Earth Hour and encouraged  
its employees to turn their lights off at home, too. With these 
measures, the company is promoting environmental protection 
awareness outside work as well.

Water consumption and hazardous substances
Further key environmental aspects emerged in the materiality 
analysis of the Rosenbauer value chain in 2016. For example,  
the water consumption of Rosenbauer products is an important 
factor. The family company offers a large selection of high and 
ultra-high pressure pumps. This enables efficient firefighting 
operations using less water. Moreover, the water consumption in 
production needed for the testing of pumps and extinguishing 
systems is reduced by catch basins and reuse.

Many different paints are used in the production of vehicles. 
Rosenbauer is working to eliminate substances containing 
solvents and heavy metals throughout the Group.

The Concept Fire Truck
Rosenbauer made history in 2016 with the introduction of the 
first electrically driven municipal vehicle. The Concept Fire  
Truck (CFT) is not just tailored through and through to the future 
needs of fire departments, it is also emission-free on the move. 
And the CFT scores with other advantages: The chassis can  
be lowered at the operational area, which means that equipment 
“comes to the operator” and not the other way round. The crew 
compartment is no longer separate from the cab, which firstly 
facilitates communication and secondly enables the safe 
transport of injured persons. In the CFT Rosenbauer has created 
a concept study with which to shape the future.

Society
Rosenbauer is aware of its social responsibility as a manufac- 
turer of firefighting technology. For 150 years, the family 
company has served society and enabled emergency services  
the world over to save lives safely and efficiently.

With production sites on three continents, Rosenbauer generates 
regional value added around the globe. Cooperation with local 
suppliers and partners safeguards jobs in the respective regions. 
The aim is always to join with them to create value added for  
the company, its stakeholders, and the region. This is achieved 
mainly through secure jobs, pay, investment, purchases, and 
taxes that promote economic development.
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Social commitment is self-evident for Rosenbauer, especially  
in the field of firefighting, sports, and youth training. Again and 
again, this also includes product donations after natural disasters. 
In 2016, for example, 240 pairs of gloves and 11 pairs of safety 
boots were given to fire departments in Greece, and a donation 
to Nepal was made in early 2017.

But Rosenbauer also helped out at Karlsruhe Zoo: In summer 
2016, when all the sprinklers suddenly stopped working in  
the Elephant House, Rosenbauer quickly provided new nozzles  
so that the animals could cool off.

Youth support
Another example is the cooperation with the SOS Children’s 
Village. Rosenbauer sponsors two programs at the Altmünster 
Children’s Village in Upper Austria. This helps 23 young people  
to live a socially and professionally successful life. Also, Rosen-
bauer is delighted every year by two beautiful Christmas trees, 
adorned with decorations made by the children of St. Isidor.  
A donation was made to Caritas in return.

Rosenbauer UK supported a charity at an event in Huddersfield, 
West Yorkshire, to improve the quality of life for young people  
in need.

Rosenbauer supports  

Greek fire depart- 

ments and donates  

gloves and boots.
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Global economy
The development of the global economy was relatively muted  
in 2016. Global GDP grew by 3.1% compared to 2015, the  
lowest figure for the past five years. The situation bottomed  
out in the summer, and global production picked up again in  
the second half of the year. An increase in GDP of 3.4% is there- 
fore forecasted for 2017; the global economy should grow by 
3.6% in 2018.

GDP growth 2006 to 20162

The debt crisis in the emerging markets feared at the beginn- 
ing of 2016 did not materialize. The price of oil, and the  
most important commodities, has fallen further, so that the 
economic situation of many commodity-exporting countries  
has not eased yet.

A crucial factor in the development of the global economy in the 
coming years will be the agenda of the new US administration. 
Depending on its fiscal and trade policy, or how it manages the 

dollar and interest rates, economists see both significant upside 
and downside risks in their forecasts. The impact of the Brexit 
negotiations and the geopolitical risks to the global economy  
due to warlike conflicts, border disputes, and terrorism likewise 
cannot be estimated.

Development in price of oil UK Brent 1998 to 20162 (in $)

While growth indicators have recently improved significantly  
in major economies such as the US and Germany, the global 
economic climate is characterized by many uncertainties  
at the start of 2017.

North America
The US economy was slow to get going in 2016, and reported 
somewhat weak growth for the year as a whole of 1.6%. Towards 
the end of the year, however, there were clear rising trends and 
positive momentum for 2017. The economic output of the  
US should therefore grow more decisively by 2.3% in the current 
year and by 2.5% in 2018.
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This forecast does not take into account the economic policy  
of the new US government. If it is able to stimulate the domestic 
economy with economic and infrastructure measures, this  
could even lead to faster growth. However, if it goes ahead with 
the proclamations of a more protectionist economic policy,  
the negative impact on the global economy could also affect  
the US itself.

Europe
Economic growth in Europe was 1.9% (EU 28) and 1.7% (euro 
area) in 2016, and therefore slightly above expectations. It  
was boosted by the expansive monetary policy of the European 
Central Bank and brisk consumer spending. The forecasts  
for the next two years are somewhat more restrained: European 
economic growth is expected to be 1.8% respectively.

In Europe, too, there are questions over future economic  
policy with elections in Germany, France, and the Netherlands. 
Added to this there are the uncertainties of the refugee crisis,  
the Brexit negotiations, and the Russia sanctions, which could 
negatively affect economic development.

Towards the end of 2016, the German economy enjoyed  
its strongest growth in five years. Over the year as a whole it 
expanded by 1.9% compared to 2015, and is set to grow by 1.6% 
in 2017 and 1.8% in 2018. The driving force behind the recovery 
was strong domestic demand; consumer spending was 2% higher 
than in the previous year and government spending was even  
up by 4.2%. Rising export figures and a historically good situation 
on the labor market continue to brighten the German economy.

Russia’s economy recovered a little in 2016, with negative 
growth of only -0.6% as of the end of the year. Its turnaround  
is expected this year and its economy should grow by around 
1.1% in 2017 and 1.2% in 2018.

Asia
Emerging and Developing Asia (as defined by the IMF) has 
become the world’s strongest economic region. As in previous 
years, the biggest growth engines were China and India with  
GDP increases of 6.7% and 6.6%, respectively. ASEAN-5 also 
performed well and achieved economic growth of 4.8%. Overall, 
Emerging and Developing Asia increased its economic output  
by 6.3% in 2016, an increase of more than double global  
GDP. The Asian economy will grow at a similar pace over the  
next two years, rising by 6.4% in 2017 and 6.3% in 2018.

Although China experienced its weakest economic growth  
in 26 years in 2016, economists nonetheless saw this as a sign 
of stabilization. Beijing is in the middle of its transformation  
from being “the world’s workbench” to being a service and 
consumer society. Beijing’s leadership is supporting this process 
with economic policy stimulus such as an expansive monetary 
and fiscal policy, and in return accepts somewhat slower growth. 
Economic researchers are therefore forecasting a further,  
gentle slowdown in growth to 6.5% and 6.0% for 2017 and 2018 
respectively.
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World firefighting market
Like the global economy, the firefighting industry saw little 
growth momentum in 2016. While the most recent UN statistics 
for 2015 showed global fire truck production of around  
€ 4,202 million1 (2014: € 3,680 million), it is assumed that fewer 
than 22,000 fire trucks were sold in 2016. On the one hand, 
major modernization programs in some countries came to an  
end, on the other there are now official statistics that have  
not previously been taken into account to this extent. As before, 
the strongest sales regions are Europe, North America, and Asia.

There was a significant decline in procurement volumes in 
countries with a strong dependence on the price of oil in 2016, 
as this decline now also impacted government fire department 
budgets. However, the development of the markets in Southeast 
Asia and the D-A-CH-region (Germany, Austria and Switzerland) 
was stable, with demand declining slightly in North America.

Given a vital project landscape, a similar industry develop- 
ment is expected in 2017, especially as the general economic 
environment is characterized by uncertainty.

North America
The North American firefighting market was unable to distance 
itself from its economic environment in 2016. Despite brisk 
tendering activity at the beginning of the year, the procurement 
volume was down as against 2015 and below the long-term 
average of 4,000 vehicles.

So far there is no clear indication of the direction of the North 
American firefighting market in the current year. Much will 
depend on whether the announced stimulation of the US econ- 
omy will be successful and will also benefit fire departments.

For the US vehicle industry, this means an ongoing adjustment  
of production plans and intensified price competition, starting 
with those manufacturers who have already been struggling with 
capacity utilization problems for some time.

Europe
Europe is a highly heterogeneous firefighting market. Industry 
development in the individual submarkets and market segments 
differs considerably:

In Germany, the largest single market in Europe, the procure- 
ment volume was up by around 10% year-on-year in 2016. 
Demand for vehicles picked up mainly due to the conversion to 
the Euro 6 emissions standard and the investment backlog 
triggered by the increasing obsolescence of fire departments’ 
vehicle fleets. A similarly positive development is expected for 
2017. The market is still hard fought, however, and the pressure 
of intensive price competition on fire equipment suppliers  
is high.

The development of the market in Austria was satisfactory  
again in 2016, with sales of firefighting vehicles remaining at  
a high level after two record years.
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1	This figure does not include compact vehicles (up to a gross vehicle  

weight of 7.5 t) or fire and safety equipment.
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In Central and Eastern Europe, procurement figures have been 
lagging behind fire departments’ requirements for years. They 
lack the funds to buy new firefighting equipment. The result is 
postponements of planned modernization and sometimes fierce 
price competition, fueled by micro-providers, in the vehicle  
sector. This situation is not expected to change in the foresee-
able future.

The market downturn in recent years has been most severe  
in Southern and Southeastern Europe. The first indications of a 
recovery are now evident. In Spain in particular, after years of 
declining demand, a stable procurement market is in sight again, 
albeit at a low level. One special case is Turkey, where increased 
demand for European firefighting technology has developed  
in the last two years. Whether or not this trend continues greatly 
depends on further political developments in that country.

Demand for firefighting equipment in Russia fell sharply in  
2016 owing to the prior decline in the price of oil and the ruble. 
Even their recovery over the course of the year did not change 
this: procurement from the euro countries remains very  
expensive. After the first positive signs at the end of 2016, it 
remains to be seen whether the market situation in Russia  
will stabilize again in 2017. In any event, demand for modern 
firefighting equipment is still very high.

Asia
As a whole, the Asian firefighting markets enjoyed a robust per- 
formance in 2016. Demand in China and the ASEAN countries 
was positive, while procurement decreased sharply in countries 

dependent on oil and commodity prices. The situation is 
essentially unchanged for 2017. The firefighting industry in India 
could benefit from the new government’s intention to invest  
more in the country’s infrastructure. In China, however, the 
planned stimulus to boost the domestic economy could have 
negative consequences if, for example, more stringent approval 
requirements lead to a compartmentalization of the market.

Middle East
Investment in firefighting equipment suffered massively in 2016 
in countries dependent on oil and commodity prices. There were 
also the ongoing conflicts in the region, which led to a drastic 
shift in the public sector budgets that finance fire departments 
as well. Despite the consistently high need for security and the 
backlog in terms of modern equipment in many of the region’s 
countries, it is expected that the weak price of oil and the 
political unrest will continue to bring pressure to bear on budgets 
and that there will be no fundamental change in procurement  
in 2017.

Other markets
Demand for firefighting technology in Latin America and Africa 
remained roughly at the level of the previous year in 2016.  
In addition to the weak price of oil, many countries also had to 
deal with currency problems, which severely hampered imports 
of modern firefighting technology from Europe or the US.
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“Our scenario needs a little  
imagination. We’re saying that 
the coming shortage of meat  
is not the only reason we’ll  
be more dependent on insects  
in the future.
In 2050, they will even help  
us to put out fires. Kamikaze 
firefighting beetles – or KFBs  
for short – are a genetically 
engineered cross between  
a beetle and a moth. They are 
instinctively drawn to fire.  
So KFBs will flock in swarms  
to burning buildings. As soon  
as they come into contact  
with the flames, they burst  
and release a highly effective, 
animal-based extinguishing 
foam. And as a side effect  
kamikaze firefighting beetle 
foam is biodegradable as well.”

Christian Walter for the
Rescue 5.0 Group
(Federico Fricke, Franz Ludwig,
Christian Walter)

Kamikaze Fire- 
fighting Beetles
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The Rosenbauer Group closed 2016 with break-even revenues 
and earnings down only slightly despite substantial market 
slumps in the MENA region. The key pillars of its sustainable 
development are its systematic international orientation and  
the Group’s innovation.

The Rosenbauer Group’s revenues amounted to € 870.8 million  
in the 2016 financial year (2015: € 865.4 million) and remained 
satisfactory in spite of the downturn in demand on major markets 
due to political unrest and the low price of oil. The regional 
declines in revenues were compensated by a further expansion  
of business on the developed markets, such as North America 
and Europe, and in the equipment sector.

Consolidated revenues/EBIT (in € million)

	 Consolidated revenues	 EBIT

2016

2015

2014

In July 2016, Rosenbauer also founded a joint venture for busi- 
ness with hydraulic firefighting and rescue platforms together 
with the Italian platform manufacturer CTE SpA, based in 
Rovereto. The new company Rosenbauer Rovereto Srl, in which 
Rosenbauer holds a 70% interest, will specialize in the develop-
ment, production, and servicing of hydraulic firefighting and 
rescue platforms, and was included in the consolidated financial 

statements from July 2016. Rosenbauer Rovereto generated 
revenues of € 1.2 million in its short financial year with around 
30 employees.

The largest share of revenues in 2016 was contributed by 
Rosenbauer International AG at € 455.2 million (2015:  
€ 522.7 million). Its revenues were therefore below the  
previous year’s level. With an export ratio of 92% (2015: 92%) 
and deliveries to more than 100 countries, Rosenbauer has  
the largest international presence in the firefighting industry.

Breakdown of revenues
At 77% (2015: 79%), the strongest revenue segment in the  
Group was the Vehicles product segment (including hydraulic 
firefighting and rescue equipment). The Fire & Safety Equip- 
ment segment posted revenues of € 81.1 million (2015:  
€ 70.8 million), accounting for a share of 9% (2015: 8%). The  
Firefighting Components segment contributed 3% (2015: 3%)  
of total revenues, Customer Service 5% (2015: 5%), and  
the Other segment 4% (2015: 4%). As a result of the acquisition  
of the G&S Group, revenues in Stationary Fire Protection rose  
to € 20.7 million (2015: € 6.5 million).

Revenues by product segment in 2016

50.6

47.0

865.4

870.8

813.8 48.4

5% Customer Service

4% Others

77% Vehicles

3% Firefighting  
Components

9% Fire & Safety  
Equipment

2% Stationary  
Fire Protection
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Result of operations
EBIT for the 2016 financial year was below the previous year’s 
level at € 47.0 million (2015: € 50.6 million). The operating  
result was influenced mainly by the change in the product mix 
with lower volumes of specialty vehicles and the fierce com- 
petition in Europe. As a result of the increase in revenues, the 
German locations are benefiting from better coverage of fixed 
costs, though margin pressure has risen further due to the  
high competitive intensity. Area NOMA’s contribution to earnings 
has also been defined by declining export deliveries, which were 
partially offset by an increase in local single-vehicle business, 
though this involves more complex handling.

In addition, this result also includes extraordinary effects of 
around € 3.5 million relating to the start-up phase of the newly 
founded company Rosenbauer Rovereto, a provision for staff 
measures and an increase in expenses in connection with  
recent acquisitions.

The capitalization of development costs of € 3.6 million (2015:  
€ 4.4 million) also had a positive effect on earnings.

The financing of working capital was predominantly in the 
short-term range in 2016. However, the maturity structure  
of financing was adjusted in light of high investments of recent 
years. There are loan agreements for about € 100 million with 
terms of up to ten years with several banks.

Revenues by regions in 2016

High share of production costs
The cost of materials was slightly below the previous year’s  
level in 2016 at € 547.3 million (2015: € 555.4 million), corre-
sponding to 63% (2015: 64%) of total revenues. For reasons 
specific to the industry, the majority of this related to purchases 
of European chassis.

Staff costs rose by 9% year-on-year in 2016. They increased  
from € 182.9 million to €198.7 million, amounting to 23% (2015: 
21%) of revenues. The rise was due mainly to the acquisition  
of the G&S Group and Rosenbauer Rovereto. The strong growth 
in the US also led to a higher headcount as of the end of the year.

Amortization on intangible assets and depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment climbed by 6% from € 13.9 million  
last year to € 14.8 million. The rise was a result of investment  
in the expansion of production space. Other operating expenses 
were up at € 96.8 million as of the end of the year (2015:  
€ 93.2 million).

5% Rest of the world

14% Asia/Oceania

16% Arab world

41% Europe

24% NAFTA

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT



48

Net finance costs amounted to € –4.3 million in the reporting 
year (2015: € –3.0 million). As a result of lower interest income 
and a slight rise in finance expenses from operating activities,  
net finance costs exceeded the previous year’s level.

The non-current liabilities were predominantly subject to fixed 
interest rate agreements. The interest incurred on total  
interest-bearing financial liabilities amounted to € 3.2 million in 
the reporting period (2015: € 3.1 million). The average interest 
rate was 1.6% (2015: 1.5%).

The earnings contribution of the associate PA “Firefighting 
special technics” LLC. in Moscow rose to € 1.2 million (2015:  
€ 0.2 million) as a result of the improved results in Russia. The 
joint venture Rosenbauer Ciansa S.L. in Spain is also accounted 
for using the equity method, and generated earnings of  
€ 0.1 million (2015: € 0.4 million). The two companies accounted 
for using the equity method together contributed € 1.3 million  
to earnings in the past year (2015: € 0.6 million). Earnings before 
taxes (EBT) amounted to € 44.0 million in the reporting period 
(2015: € 48.2 million).

The reported tax expense was € 9.4 million (2015: € 11.4 mil- 
lion); the tax rate was 21.4% (2015: 23.7%). After deducting 
income taxes the profit for the period amounted to € 34.6 million 
(2015: € 36.8 million).

The non-controlling interests held by the partners in Rosenbauer 
America, Rosenbauer Española, Rosenbauer d.o.o. in Slovenia, 
Rosenbauer UK, Rosenbauer South Africa, Eskay Rosenbauer 
Brunei, and Rosenbauer Saudi Arabia amounted to € 11.1 million 
in the reporting year (2015: € 14.4 million). The decline is due 
mainly to the lower result of Rosenbauer America.

Orders
The Rosenbauer Group reported incoming orders of € 816.8 mil- 
lion in the past year (2015: € 905.9 million). The high figure in 
the previous year was mainly due to higher incoming orders from 
MENA countries. While orders have increased in Central Europe 
and North America, oil- and commodity-exporting countries are 
clearly more restrained in procurement owing to the geopolitical 
situation.

The order backlog was down on the previous year’s figure at  
€ 739.7 million as of December 31, 2016 (December 31, 2015:  
€ 797.5 million). This order backlog gives the Rosenbauer Group 
a satisfactory level of capacity utilization at its production 
facilities for the next ten months.

Incoming orders/order backlog as of December 31 (in € million)

	 Incoming orders	 Order backlog

2016

2015

2014

905.9

816.8

797.5

739.7

845.9 693.0
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	 PROCUREMENT,  
	 LOGISTICS AND  
	 PRODUCTION

It is of essential importance to the business success of the 
Rosenbauer Group to work with only the best and most  
innovative suppliers. Fire departments’ demands are constantly 
changing, and Rosenbauer and its suppliers must be just as 
flexible in how they react.

Vetted suppliers
Rosenbauer therefore deliberately sets great store by close 
cooperation based on a spirit of partnership with its suppliers, 
who are carefully evaluated and selected. One of the goals  
of the intensive cooperation with suppliers is to leverage not just 
Rosenbauer’s own knowledge, but also the expertise, creativity, 
and experience of its suppliers. Together, strategies are  
developed to optimize cooperation, improve the logistics chain, 
satisfy environmental aspects and even to develop innovative 
product solutions.

High purchasing volume
The Group-wide purchasing volume for production materials  
and merchandise was € 527.4 million in the reporting period 
(2015: € 550.3 million). This corresponds to a 61 % share of the 
Group’s revenues. Given the high procurement volumes, keeping 
production operations supplied on time is a considerable 
challenge.

90% of Rosenbauer International AG’s procurement volume  
is sourced in Europe, and most of the rest comes from the US. 
The principal suppliers are from Austria, Germany, and the US.

Global purchasing
As an international enterprise, Rosenbauer utilizes the global 
procurement markets while maintaining its corporate social 
responsibility. This includes complying with the applicable laws 
and respecting fundamental ethical values everywhere and  
at all times in addition to acting sustainably. In line with this 
strategy, Rosenbauer also expects responsible conduct from its 
suppliers and partners in addition to their employees.

Focus on chassis
At 33%, chassis for firefighting vehicles make up the largest  
share of the Group’s procurement volumes. While they account 
for 32% of vehicle manufacturing costs, for Rosenbauer they  
are generally a pass-through accounting item. The main suppliers 
in Europe are MAN and Daimler. Firefighting vehicles in the US 
are built predominantly on custom chassis that were specifically 
developed for fire trucks. Rosenbauer also has its own custom 
chassis in the Commander and the Warrior, with which it has 
significantly increased its value added in the US. The PANTHER 
chassis is also produced in-house. It is manufactured at Rosen-
bauer Motors in Wyoming, Minnesota, and Plant II in Leonding.

Stable prices
For years the systematic procurement policy has allowed Rosen- 
bauer to smooth out price fluctuations in purchasing. Rosenbauer 
is constantly monitoring developments in commodities prices 
and responds to price fluctuations with a procurement policy 
adapted to the situation.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT



	 FINANCIAL POSITION,  
	 NET ASSETS, AND  
	 CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For reasons specific to the industry, the structure of the state- 
ment of financial position as of the end of the year is charac- 
terized by high working capital. This results from the compara-
tively long turnaround times for firefighting vehicles, which are 
always custom-built. The financial situation of the Rosenbauer 
Group remains solid even in times of a difficult market situation. 
Total assets rose by 6% as against the previous year, mainly  
as a result of acquisitions, and amounted to € 650.6 million as  
of December 31, 2016 (2015: € 611.8 million).

Non-current assets climbed from € 158.5 million to € 189.3 mil- 
lion, essentially as a result of the acquisition of the G&S Group 
and the equity investment in Rosenbauer Rovereto.

The global business growth has led to a further increase  
in property, plant and equipment to € 146.6 million (2015:  
€ 134.2 million). A significant share of this is accounted  
for by the construction of the production facility in Saudi Arabia  
and the expansion of the sales location in Switzerland. As a  
result of the capitalization of goodwill and the customer base  
of the most recent acquisitions, intangible assets have risen  
to € 31.6 million (2015: € 13.5 million).

Working capital at high level due to deliveries
Working capital amounted to € 189.6 million as of the end  
of the year (2015: € 178.3 million). The increase as of the end  
of the year is due predominantly to higher trade receivables  
in the Arab and Asian regions as the average figure for days  
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Structure of the statement of financial position over three years (in € million)

20152016 2014 2014 2015 2016

A S S E T S L I A B I L I T I E S
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sales outstanding was higher, and the delivery volume was  
at a very high level as of the end of the year. Cash was up from  
€ 17.9 million to € 30.2 million as of the end of the year due  
to incoming payments.

Inventories increased to € 199.1 million as of the end of  
the year (2015: € 190.2 million). Construction contracts were  
down by 22% on the previous year at € 67.7 million (2015:  
€ 87.3 million) on account of the lower capacity utilization in the 
first quarter of 2017. Current interest-bearing liabilities fell from 
€ 135.2 million to € 102.4 million as a result of the changed 
financing structure.

Solid financing
For years, the Group’s financing has followed the principles  
of maintaining assured liquidity combined with the highest 
possible equity capitalization. Total asset management ensures 
the optimization of current assets with the continuous monitor- 
ing of production levels and trade receivables. In the past 
financial year, equity rose again by 7% to € 242.0 million (2015:  
€ 226.6 million). Despite the acquisitions and the resulting 
increase in total assets, the equity ratio amounted to 37.2% 
(2015: 37.0%) and was therefore up on the long-term goal  
of more than 35%.

The Rosenbauer Group’s financial management system  
provides financial resources within the Group, ensures financial 
independence and that the company is liquid at all times, and 
monitors all interest and currency risks. In order to safeguard 
liquidity, suitable financing instruments are used that guarantee 
the necessary financial freedom to finance operations, invest-
ments and targeted growth.

In recent years, loan agreements for around € 100 million with 
terms of up to ten years were concluded with several banks  
with which business relationships had already been established. 
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities climbed to € 99.7 million 
as a result (2015: € 74.4 million). Benefiting from the current  
low interest rates, Rosenbauer leveraged the Group’s good credit 
rating to optimize its financing costs.

The accounting ratios of the Rosenbauer Group reflect the 
structure of business in the firefighting industry. The Group’s net 
debt (the net amount of interest-bearing liabilities less cash  
and cash equivalents and securities) improved to € 171.3 million 
in the past year on account of trade working capital (2015:  
€ 191.3 million). The gearing ratio decreased to 70.8% (2015: 
84.4%).

Net cash flow improved
The net cash flow from operating activities improved to  
€ 83.4 million in the past year (2015: € 6.5 million). This positive 
development is due to higher advance payments received, the 
decline in construction contracts and the lower rise in receiv-
ables as against the previous year.

Key profitability figures (in € million)

	 2014	 2015	 2016
Capital employed1	 341.2	 437.1	 470.2
ROCE	 14.2%	 11.6%	 10.0%
ROE	 24.5%	 22.7%	 18.8%

511	Average
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Investments (rights and property, plant and equipment)  
by the Rosenbauer Group climbed to € 24.3 million (2015:  
€ 22.1 million). Investment activity focused on Plant I in  
Leonding, the Oberglatt location in Switzerland, King Abdullah 
Economic City (KAEC plant) in Saudi Arabia, rationalization 
measures for aerial ladder production in Karlsruhe, Germany,  
and consolidation of the location structure in Madrid, Spain,  
and at US locations.

65% of investment in non-current assets related to the extension 
of the production area and the associated improvement of 
productivity, 17% was for replacement investments and official 
requirements, and 18% was spent on streamlining measures.

Investment/depreciation (in € million)

	 Investment	 Depreciation

2016

2015

2014

Since 2005, investment has consistently outstripped depre- 
ciation in line with the goal of sustainable growth. Depreciation 
increased to € 14.8 million in the year under review as a  
result of the higher level of investment in recent years (2015:  
€ 13.9 million).

Construction of new plant in KAEC
After 14 months of construction, the KAEC plant in Saudi Arabia 
was officially opened for business in early 2016. The total 
investment was around € 5 million. The production infrastructure 
includes a 2,500 m² production hall with two assembly lines,  
two painting booths, several finishing workstations, and a  
test stand. Rosenbauer uses the new plant for the final assembly 
of vehicles and thereby brings the value added demanded by 
customers into the region. Maintenance work on Rosenbauer 
vehicles is also performed here.

Switzerland location expanded
The strong growth of the past few years made it necessary to 
expand capacity at the Oberglatt location in Switzerland.  
€ 4.9 million was invested in the new facility with a total area  
of 2,300 m², thereof € 2.5 million in 2016. The most important 
part of the new building is the bigger workshop with its four  
24 m pitches and new sheet metal processing machinery. Here, 
every Rosenbauer vehicle is individually completed and equipped 
according to the requirements of the fire departments, which  
can vary greatly from canton to canton. In addition, the  
workshop is intensively used for servicing, which is offered by 
Rosenbauer nationwide.

Servicing improved at Luckenwalde
Rosenbauer Deutschland acquired a business premises adjacent 
to the Luckenwalde plant in the reporting period. On the property, 
which measures around 14,000 m², there is now additional 
factory space of around 2,100 m² and office space of 1,000 m², 
which Rosenbauer will use for the expansion of its service 
infrastructure.

52

	 INVESTMENTS

22.1

24.3

13.9

14.8

51.2 12.6

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT



Reorientation of Plant I, Leonding
As part of the modernization of Plant I in Leonding, the produc-
tion areas for firefighting systems and for sheet metal part, 
pipeline, and module production were redesigned in 2016. Pump 
systems and portable fire pumps are produced on standardized 
lines, while sheet metal parts, pipelines, pre-assembled, ready- 
to-install components and modules are produced on new pitches 
even better aligned to the material flow and more efficiently 
designed. Like in Plant II in Leonding, the supply of materials has 
been converted to Kanban logistics in line with the pull principle. 
Truck-mounted fire pumps, monitors and a number of other 
components from Plant Leonding I and the Neidling Plant are 
delivered directly without intermediate storage to the PANTHER 
and AT superstructure lines in Plant Leonding II just in time.

In 2017, the modernization of the paint shop will be initiated and 
capacity and processes in warehouse logistics will be optimized. 
Over the course of several years, a total of € 10 million is being 
invested in the reorientation of Plant I in Leonding.

New locations in UK and Spain
The Spanish sales and service company Rosenbauer Española 
acquired a property in the Madrid area in the reporting period. 
With a work area of around 4,500 m², there is now sufficient 
space to be able to combine sales, finance, project management, 
engineering, purchasing, and servicing. The current site in Madrid 
will be sold after relocation. Spanish production of firefighting 
vehicles still takes place at the Linares plant, around 300 km 
south of Madrid. The investment in Madrid will be completed by 
the middle of 2017 and will require around € 2.7 million.

Rosenbauer UK also moved into new, rented premises where  
it can combine its sales and service activities. The new location 
is in Meltham, Holmfirth, West Yorkshire, and – at around  
1,900 m² – provides sufficient space for sales, final vehicle 
assembly, and servicing on the British market. The relocation 
took place at the beginning of 2017, entailing expenditure of 
around € 0.3 million.

Karlsruhe paint shop
In order to boost efficiency and for environmental reasons,  
the 35-year-old paint shop in Karlsruhe was replaced by a new 
one in 2016. The total investment amounted to € 1.4 million.  
In addition to the modernization of the existing paint shop and 
the installation of a heat exchanger, with which 75% of the energy 
used can be recovered, the investment also includes three  
new multi-function painting booths. The system is connected to 
district heating; the oil heating system previously used was thus 
decommissioned. Rosenbauer Karlsruhe now no longer uses 
fossil fuels for heating or painting. This further improves the 
energy footprint and environmental impact of the location. In 
addition, there was initial investment in the further rationalization 
of ladder production using robots in Karlsruhe in 2016.
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“Imagine that you have to enter  
a burning building. Smoke  
and fire. No one knows for sure  
if there’s a risk of collapse or 
explosion.
So in 2050, we’ll use firefight- 
ing robots in extreme danger  
situations. The practical robots 
are secure transport systems. 
They have a range of firefighting 
functions and extendable  
shoulder supports for ceiling 
stabilization.
The manned variant is an  
exoskeleton. This protects fire- 
fighters and makes them  
stronger as well. The built-in  
functions make it easier to  
transport tools and equipment. 
And the turret is integrated  
directly into the exoskeleton’s 
arm.”

Federico Fricke for the
Rescue 5.0 Group
(Federico Fricke, Franz Ludwig,
Christian Walter)

Firefighting Robots 
& Exoskeletons



56

	 RESEARCH  
	 AND  
	 DEVELOPMENT

Research and development are of central importance  
at Rosenbauer. R&D activity anticipates the future issues for  
fire departments and develops them into innovative product 
solutions. The strategic goal is to equip fire departments  
with fascinating, state-of-the-art products – a standard that 
Rosenbauer plays a large part in defining as the firefighting 
industry’s technology and innovation leader.

Innovation activities have a long-term focus and are based  
on systematic innovation management. Ongoing and intensive 
market observation also helps to enable the development  
of market-ready products with recognizable value added for 
customers.

The Rosenbauer Group invested € 18.6 million in research and 
development in 2016 (2015: € 19.4 million). This represents  
3.5% (2015: 3.4%) of the relevant net proceeds of in-house pro- 
duction. The capitalization rate was 19.4% (2015: 22.7%) and 
related to developments in Austria, Germany, and the US. Around 
73% (2015: 77%) of development costs (€ 13.5 million; 2015:  
€ 14.9 million) were incurred by Rosenbauer International AG,  
the Group-wide center of expertise for municipal and specialty 
vehicles, firefighting systems and equipment.

Research and development/R&D ratio

	 R&D (in € million)	 R&D ratio

2016

2015

2014

Concept Fire Truck
Rosenbauer has long been analyzing social megatrends  
and the future requirements for emergency services that can  
be derived from them. Many trends already visible today, such  
as demographic change or rapid digitization, will also affect  
fire department organization and technology. The Concept Fire 
Truck (CFT) is Rosenbauer’s first response to what a fire truck  
of the future might look like.

The CFT is a compact, maneuverable and highly functional 
emergency vehicle that can be operated safely and easily from 
ground level. On the inside, it is more like a command center 
than a personnel carrier, and produces only very limited exhaust 
emissions.

Its optimized spatial concept ensures room for a full range of 
equipment that fire services require for their various operations. 
It is a firefighting vehicle with a pump and tank, a rescue vehicle 
with hydraulic recovery equipment on board, a universal fire  
truck that can store a vast quantity of special equipment in its 
rear section and an ambulance that can be so converted with  
just a few simple adjustments to allow emergency medical care 
for injured persons or for them to be transported lying down.

The Concept Fire Truck is therefore not the next stage of an 
existing development, but rather a completely new approach to 
fire trucks. The concept study provides all the necessary 
functions of a firefighting vehicle while at the same time being 
more ergonomic, more universal and more environmentally 
friendly than anything previously seen in this sector.19.4

18.6

3.4%

3.5%

15.9 2.9%
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Fourth generation FOX
Rosenbauer launched its FOX-S portable fire pump in 2015, 
followed by the new generation of the FOX in 2016. Both are  
now powered by BRP-Rotax engines and have the same techno-
logical base. The completely new FOX is a portable fire pump  
in accordance with PFPN 10/1500 (Portable Fire Pump Normal 
pressure) with a rating of 1,650 l/min at 10 bar.

The portable fire pump is the essential basic piece of equipment 
for many fire departments. It is used as a classic firefighting 
pump, is vital for establishing relay lines and is also used to pump 
out basements, etc.

US-produced PANTHER
In the fall of 2016, Rosenbauer America presented the first  
new generation PANTHER for the US market. Like all aircraft 
rescue firefighting (ARFF) vehicles for the US market, it was 
developed and produced by Rosenbauer Minnesota in Wyoming.

The new US PANTHER is technologically based on its Europe-
an-produced counterpart, with some adjustments for the  
US market. The vehicle exceeds the technical specifications  
of the Federal Aviation Administration and the NFPA (National 
Fire Protection Agency) for ARFF vehicles in every way:  
it accelerates faster, reaches a higher speed, and has more 
powerful firefighting technology.

Rosenbauer has looked  

to the future of firefighting  

with the Concept Fire  

Truck (CFT). The CFT is a  

concept study to show how  

fire departments can be given  

the best possible support  

with pioneering technology.

The new US PANTHER  

debuted in 2016  

at the annual conference  

of the ARFF Working  

Group in Frisco, Texas.
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Efficient Technology
Efficient Technology, or ET for short, is a new vehicle concept 
that brings European fire industry technology to international 
markets. The ET series is based on proven, lightweight aluminum 
structural design, can be fitted on all standard 2-axle chassis 
between ten and twenty metric tons and can be configured with 
the functions and features to match fire departments’ technical 
demands and operational tactics.

The ET series has a very high degree of standardization and  
can be pre-produced at different levels of vertical integration to 
undergo final assembly anywhere in the world. Cost-effective 
superstructures without lower compartments are available;  
the firefighting technology can also be manually operated. The 
ET’s firefighting technology and superstructure components  
are manufactured in-house. This ensures that they comply  
with the same standards of quality as Rosenbauer’s high-end  
AT vehicle.

The European NFPA helmet
The HEROS-titan Pro is the only European fire service helmet  
fully certified to US standard. It is thus approved for use in the 
US and other countries that comply with US National Fire 
Protection Agency regulations under the toughest operational 
conditions: building and indoor firefighting.

The HEROS-titan Pro is largely identical to the Rosenbauer  
top helmet HEROS-titan, which satisfies the highest protection 
levels of EN 443:2008 and ISO 16073:2011. It is one of the 
lightest fire service helmets on the market and offers excellent 
wearer comfort. Its innovative interior ensures the perfect fit, 
which means that the helmet can be individually adjusted  
to the shape of the wearer’s head and precisely aligned to his 
center of gravity.

Other innovations
Other new developments launched in the reporting period  
include the C-1 thermal imaging camera, the L40A-XS aerial 
ladder, a completely overhauled high-performance FANERGY  
fan series, the new RS14 generator and a new mobile training  
system for airport fire services.

For each advanced product, the top priorities are improved 
performance, ease of use, and operator safety. For example, the 
new C-1 thermal imaging camera fits in the lamp cavity on the 
HEROS-titan, where it serves as a thermal imaging camera  
or a helmet lamp, keeping the firefighter’s hands free in every 
situation. A great deal of attention is also paid to product design 
at Rosenbauer to achieve an ideal combination of form and 
function.
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The ET is Rosenbauer’s  

new, highly efficient  

vehicle series for  

international markets.
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	 EMPLOYEES

HR management
Dependability, innovation, and customer focus – the central 
Rosenbauer brand values form the basis for HR management. 
The company sets great store by both professionally and socially 
competent employees and supports them in the targeted and 
ongoing development of their skills. In addition to an extensive 
qualifications program there are special programs for team  
and management development.

Diversity in practice
Rosenbauer is striving to give every employee the chance  
of an optimal work-life balance, and to ensure that they enjoy 
equal opportunities – regardless of age, sex, culture, or origin. 
The internationalization of the company has meant a cultural 
enrichment. Employees who work with a volunteer fire  
service are held in especially high regard at Rosenbauer. They  
make an important contribution to society and uphold the  
values practiced in the company.

Employees by countries 2016

Adjustment of resources
The Rosenbauer Group employed 3,375 people as of the  
end of 2016, growth of 9% compared to the previous year. The 

headcount of the international organization rose by 18% to  
1,974, while in Austria it fell by 1% to 1,401.

The increase in the international organization was due mainly  
to the acquisition of G&S Brandschutztechnik with its roughly 
130 employees, the integration of Rosenbauer Rovereto with  
its approximately 30 employees and the necessary increase in 
the workforce at the German and US production locations.

In Austria, HR capacity at Plant II in Leonding was also adjusted 
in light of lower capacity utilization in production. There will be 
further staff measures in 2017 as part of this program, including 
the retransfer of production scopes from the Traun plant back  
to Leonding and staff cut-backs in the indirect sector.

Number of employees as of December 31

	 Workers     Salaried employees	 Apprentices

2016

2015

2014

The company created additional employment through the use  
of 177 temporary employees (2015: 210).

The average age of Rosenbauer employees in 2016 was 38.  
The average length of service with the company was 9,4 years. 
The low fluctuation rate of 6,5 % in spite of a growing workforce 
is a measure of the stability of the company as an employer.

10% Rest of the world

23% USA

25% Germany

42% Austria

2,941

3,086

3,375

1,809

1,863

1,979

1,002

1,077

1,257

130

146

139
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Broad employee development
Employee development and further training are among the  
most important tasks of HR management. Rosenbauer is there- 
fore constantly working to provide a wide range of training and 
continued professional development programs. These incor- 
porate sessions on technical and business topics in addition  
to seminars on improving project management, negotiation,  
and social skills and on a more in-depth study of various foreign 
languages. Spending on training and continued professional 
development in the Rosenbauer Group amounted to € 0.8 million 
in total in 2016 (2015: € 0.8 million).

Strategic manager training
After the top executives, an initial group from middle manage-
ment began the management development program in the 
reporting year. The aim of this training is to prepare managers  
for executive tasks and to build up a strategic management 
reserve. On the one hand, the program conveys content  
for strategic and operational management while, on the other,  
it provides an opportunity to improve individual skills in the  
areas of self-management, intercultural teamwork, handling 
conflict and change as well as decisiveness.

Cooperation with training partners
Rosenbauer works with external educational facilities, includ- 
ing general and vocational colleges, universities, polytechnics, 
and research institutes. In 2016, the company supervised  
14 technical degree theses, and 58 pupils and students were 
given the chance to have their first taste of the world of work  
by means of a vacation placement.

By offering internships, project-related, or scientific degree 
theses and by regularly taking part in university and job fairs, 
Rosenbauer is able to spark interest in the company among 
young potential talent early on.

Raising our own
Rosenbauer attaches a great deal of importance to the training  
of apprentices. There were 139 apprentices in 2016. The  
main fields were metal technicians with a focus on mechanical 
engineering, mechatronics, and industrial salespersons.

Furthermore, Rosenbauer also trains young people with special 
needs in cooperation with charitable organizations. The aim  
of this is to integrate the young people into the workplace and 
into a social structure as much as possible. In Leonding  
Rosenbauer took on two recognized refugees as apprentices  
in mechatronics and operating logistics in 2016.

Targeted support for women
As the firefighting industry is traditionally chosen by men as their 
professional field, Rosenbauer applies measures to actively 
support women. These extend from taking on female apprentices 
for production and technology to the social commitment to raise 
interest in technical professions among women.

The share of women in Rosenbauer’s overall workforce is 
currently around 12.5%. 10% of management positions in Austria 
are held by women at present. Young women are already  
doing apprenticeships in mechatronics and metal technology.
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Companies for Families
In 2016 Rosenbauer was awarded the Austrian “Companies  
for Families” prize. There are many examples of the company’s 
family-friendly policies: daycare in the Leonding nursery,  
the summer camp for employees’ children, and financial  
benefits such as vouchers for children at Christmas or child- 
birth allowances.

Rosenbauer supports flexible working hours, the use of parental 
part-time work, and individual solutions aimed at achieving a 
better balance between professional and family life. Examples 
include the promotion of paternity leave or the variety of 
individual part-time agreements and flexitime models that allow 
parents to meet their family responsibilities in addition to their 
professional activity. Work-life balance is the motto of Rosen- 
bauer’s HR policy.

Attractive environment
Rosenbauer ensures a safe and motivational working environ-
ment that individual employees can actively help to shape.  
In the reporting year the assembly lines for specialty vehicles in 
Plant I in Leonding were reorganized and ergonomic improve-
ments were made at other production sites to make work simpler, 
more forgiving and, at the same time, faster and more accurate.

The state of occupational health and safety is checked regularly 
in SOS audits (from the German for safety, orderliness, and 
cleanliness) and safety inspections. Workplace accidents and 
near-miss accidents are documented and analyzed in accordance 
with a defined reporting system. Since 2009, occupational  

health and safety has been part of Rosenbauer’s integrated 
management system and certified in line with OHSAS 18001, 
which was renewed in 2016.

Fitness at work
As part of company healthcare provisions, around 90 employees 
in Leonding participated in free health examinations in 2016. 
Rosenbauer also offers funded vaccination drives for flu,  
TBE, and hepatitis, and funds sports activities outside work for  
its employees.

SAFE and SVP
The SAFE program shapes all processes along the value chain  
in line with lean management considerations. From 2016,  
the SAFE 2020 management team has been overseeing ongoing 
projects such as the quality and efficiency drive at Plant II in 
Leonding or the optimization of Rosenbauer’s Supply Chain 
Management (RSCM) and the implementation of a new enter- 
prise resource planning system (ERP). The aim of this is to speed 
up the handling of projects through lean scheduling, precise 
milestone planning, and the reallocation of resources.

SVP is the SAFE improvement process that was successfully 
completed in 2016: 86% of more than 900 suggested improve-
ments were implemented. The annual net benefit, i.  e. the 
amount now saved year for year thanks to these suggestions, is  
€ 0.9 million – for which the teams have been paid bonuses of 
around € 80 thousand.
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Rosenbauer is exposed to various opportunities and risks in  
the course of its global business activities. The ongoing identifi-
cation, appraisal, and controlling of these risks are an integral 
part of the management, planning, and controlling process.  
The risk management system builds on the organizational, 
reporting, and leadership structures in place within the Group 
and supplements these with specific elements needed for proper 
risk assessment. The five core elements are as follows:

p	 The risk strategy presented in writing and the supple- 
mentary risk policy;

p	 A defined organizational structure with risk managers  
in the individual divisions and operating units, plus a  
central risk coordinator;

p	 Half-yearly risk identification and assessment in all areas  
and at all subsidiaries;

p	 The reporting structure of the Group;
p	 The risk report at divisional and individual company level.

Systematic monitoring
Group-wide risk management defines a structured process that 
provides for the systematic monitoring of business risks. They 
can therefore be identified and evaluated in good time.

As part of this process, risks are identified and then quantita- 
tively and qualitatively analyzed and assessed in terms of their 
probability of occurrence and the anticipated extent of any 
damage. Measures for risk control and prevention are derived 
from this and, if applicable, the instruments for protection 
against risk are defined.

Risk management at Rosenbauer is mapped in a web-based 
system. Group-wide risk owners have been defined that bear 
ultimate responsibility in their area, company, or field. Twice a 
year risks are analyzed and assessed and risk management 
measures are defined. To assist in this, a comprehensive catalog 
has been documented that contains all the risks that can pose  
a threat to the Group. Furthermore, a standardized and uniform 
classification of probabilities of occurrence and a generally 
applicable method for determining the damage caused by risks 
has been set out.

The results of the risk inventory are summarized by central  
risk management and discussed with the Supervisory Board 
annually at a meeting of the Audit Committee, which also 
assesses the functionality and effectiveness of risk identification 
and monitoring.

Sector-specific risks
Rosenbauer regularly analyzes the major sector risks and makes 
use of opportunities by means of permanent product innova- 
tions, greater efficiency in processes, and increased activity on 
new markets.

Rosenbauer pursues a consistent strategy of internationalization 
to ensure its long-term growth. Sales fluctuations on individual 
markets can be compensated as a result of having production 
sites on three continents and a global sales and service network.

	 RISK AND  
	 OPPORTUNITY  
	 MANAGEMENT
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Risks to the fire safety business arising from changes in overall 
political or legal conditions are very difficult to protect against. 
However, given that most customers operate in the public sector, 
it is rare that they cancel orders. Political crises and embargoes 
can temporarily limit access to certain markets.

Annual business planning is based on the multi-year Group 
strategy and comprises a list of objectives broken down  
by geographic and product-group-related aspects that serves as 
a means of control. This system enables opportunities and any 
strategic risks to be identified at an early stage.

Operating risks
Manufacturing activities necessitate a thorough examination  
of risks along the entire value chain. In view of today’s ever 
shorter innovation cycles, research and development work  
is becoming increasingly significant. The production risks that  
occur are monitored on an ongoing basis using a series of key 
performance indicators (productivity, assembly and through- 
put times, number of production units, quality, costs, etc.).

In addition to local performance indicators, the central con-
trolling element in vehicle manufacturing operations is “concur-
rent costing”, whereby variance analysis is used to monitor  
the production costs of every single order. To even out changes 
in capacity utilization at individual locations, Rosenbauer’s 
manufacturing processes operate on a Group-wide basis and  
the company also outsources construction contracts to external 
partners. In the event of a severe downtrend on the market,  
this keeps the risk of insufficient capacity utilization within 
manageable bounds.

Procurement risks
In particular, procurement risks lie in possible supplier  
defaults, quality problems, and price increases. These risks  
are countered by the standardization of parts and components, 
the diversification of the supplier structure, and a clear pro- 
curement strategy for each product group. In order to ensure  
that production supplies are delivered on schedule and in  
the required quality, the most important supply partners are 
subject to ongoing monitoring, while planning and management 
of the supply chain undergo constant further development  
in cooperation with the supplier. The risk of loss of production 
can thereby be significantly reduced.

The international network of the Group’s own production sites 
also helps to minimize operational risks. However, supplier  
risks due to potential insolvency or natural disasters cannot be 
completely ruled out.

Additional procurement risks can arise in relation to raw  
material and energy prices. Rosenbauer requires aluminum in 
particular and secures a stable purchase price by means of  
a long-term procurement policy. Energy costs, however, play only 
a subordinate role, as only a limited amount of process energy  
is needed for most assembly operations in production.

Income risks
Income risks that can occur on account of external disrup- 
tions to production are covered by suitable insurance against 
loss of production. Appropriate insurance coverage is also  
in place for risks associated with fire, explosions, and similar 
elemental risks.
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IT risks
IT risks include the possibility of networks failing and data  
being falsified, destroyed, or stolen due to operator or program-
ming errors or to external influences. These risks are countered 
by means of regular investment in hardware and software  
and the use of virus scanners, firewall systems, up-to-date data 
protection methods, and structured access controls. The 
robustness of the security systems is also tested by simulated 
external attacks.

Legal risks
Rosenbauer International AG and its subsidiaries face legal 
proceedings in the course of their business operations.  
A civil antitrust lawsuit has been filed against a company of  
the Rosenbauer Group. An appropriate provision has been 
recognized.

Legal proceedings are pending against Rosenbauer Inter- 
national AG in Austria for an alleged infringement of provisions  
of the Foreign Trade Act. In Canada, legal proceedings are 
pending against Rosenbauer International AG and other Group 
companies due to an alleged product defect. As a realistic 
assessment of the outcome of these proceedings is not possible 
at the current time, the Group has not taken any accounting 
measures to date.

Environmental risks
Environmental risks and risks associated with the supply of  
raw materials and energy are considered less important due to 
the type of production and the multitude of providers. Further-
more, clear environmental standards and instructions apply to 
the in-house processes. These are documented in an environ-

mental management system and are regularly reviewed and 
amended by means of internal and external audits in accordance 
with ISO 14001.

Energy management at the Austrian and German locations  
is also certified as per ISO 50001. This serves primarily as an 
instrument by which energy costs and consumption are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis and with which long-term measures  
to reduce the consumption of resources can be determined.

Product opportunities and risks
Rosenbauer practices systematic quality management in 
accordance with ISO 9001. This is regularly audited and makes  
a significant contribution to ensuring the same Rosenbauer 
quality worldwide and to minimizing liability risks such as product 
liability cases.

The latest development methods, continuous control and the 
improvement of product quality, in addition to ongoing process 
optimization, help to reduce risks. Nonetheless, the possibility  
of product defects cannot be completely ruled out. To reduce 
potential financial risks the instrument of product liability 
insurance is used throughout the Group alongside the risk 
management system.

In order to offer products with the best possible benefit  
to customers, Rosenbauer operates a systematic innovation 
management process and works closely with fire services on 
product development. A team of experts from Technology, 
Production, Sales and Controlling determines the direction of the 
development process. Market analyses and cost-effectiveness 
considerations are incorporated in a technology roadmap.
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Personnel opportunities and risks
Risks can arise as a result of the turnover of employees in  
key positions and the recruitment and development of  
personnel. Consistent personnel development with institutional-
ized employee appraisals and a performance-based remunera- 
tion system with participation in the company’s success are  
two central instruments for retaining qualified and motivated 
employees at Rosenbauer. In addition, Rosenbauer is specifically 
working on succession planning for key management positions. 
Rosenbauer views its employees as a key factor in successfully 
achieving the company’s objectives.

Financial risks
A solid financial basis is of great importance to an international 
company. Thanks to the excellent equity capital resources and 
the resultant good credit rating, the necessary funding for 
operating equipment and investment has been secured without 
restrictions and under persistently good conditions. This took 
place via multiple banks so as to ensure the greatest possible 
independence in corporate finance. Moreover, Financial Manage-
ment conducts annual rating discussions with the relevant  
banks, which are used to determine the position of the Group  
on the financial market.

Interest rate and currency risks
The international nature of the Group’s activities gives rise to 
interest and currency-related risks that are hedged by the  
use of suitable instruments. A financial and treasury policy that 
applies throughout the Group stipulates which instruments are 
permitted.

Operating risks are hedged with derivative financial instru- 
ments such as interest rate swaps, FX forwards, and FX options. 
These transactions are conducted solely to hedge risks and  
not for the purposes of trading or speculation. Please refer to  
the details in the explanatory notes in this context.

Credit risks
Credit risks, which can arise from payment defaults, are con- 
sidered unlikely as most customers operate in the public sector. 
For deliveries to countries with increased political or economic 
risk, public and private export insurance is generally taken out  
for the purpose of protection.

Assessment of overall risk
Rosenbauer feels that it is still well positioned to meet the 
demands made of it by the market, the economic environment, 
and international competition. Based on the analysis of currently 
discernible risks, there are no indications of any risks that –  
either singly or in conjunction with other risks – might jeopardize 
the Rosenbauer Group’s continued existence. This applies both  
to the results of past business activity and to activities that are 
planned or have already been initiated.
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The purpose of the internal control system (ICS) of the Rosen- 
bauer Group is to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency  
of business activities. It comprises systematically designed 
organizational measures and controls for adhering to internal and 
external policies and preventing damages that could, for instance, 
be incurred as a result of unregulated or unlawful actions. The 
controls are directly integrated into business processes and are 
also performed independently of processes by Internal Audit.

Targeted control environment
Company-wide regulations and policies form a key basis for  
the ICS. There are also process illustrations integrated in  
the management system, which are supplemented by numerous 
work instructions. Compliance with policies and processes is 
evaluated in internal audits, which also include the performance 
of internal controls. The results of this are documented in detail, 
possible recommendations are generated and their implemen- 
tation is monitored. The results of the evaluation of the ICS are 
presented to the Supervisory Board for evaluation and discussed 
in detail at the annual meeting of the Audit Committee.

Standard financial reporting
The control environment for the financial reporting process is 
characterized by clear structural and process organization. All 
functions are clearly assigned to particular persons (in Account-
ing or Controlling, for example). The employees involved in the 
financial reporting process fulfill all professional requirements. 

Insofar as the size of the respective company and the available 
capacity permit it, the principle of dual control is observed  
during the relevant financial reporting processes. The account- 
ing systems used are largely standard software protected  
against unauthorized access. Material accounting principles 
relating to the financial reporting process are defined in a Group  
manual, which is kept up-to-date and must be implemented  
by the local units.

Detailed financial reports
In addition, the completeness and accuracy of accounting data 
are checked regularly by means of both manual and computer- 
aided random inspections and plausibility checks. Meanwhile, 
regular analyses are performed as part of the Group-wide 
controlling and financial management. Deviations from the fore- 
cast and previous year’s figures in the income and asset 
situations are identified and analyzed on the basis of detailed 
weekly, monthly, and quarterly financial reports.

Clear responsibilities
In addition to the process-focused conditions, this distinctive 
regulatory and reporting system provides primarily for procedural 
measures that must be implemented and/or adhered to by all 
units affected. Operational responsibility is borne by the respec- 
tive process managers. Compliance with Rosenbauer regulations 
is monitored by Internal Audit as part of the periodic review of 
the relevant areas.

	 INTERNAL  
	 CONTROL  
	 SYSTEM (ICS)
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p	 The share capital of Rosenbauer International AG amounts to  
€ 13.6 million and is divided into 6,800,000 no-par-value 
shares, each embodying a pro rata amount of the share capital 
of € 2.0. The shares of the company are either bearer shares 
or registered shares. Each Rosenbauer share confers one vote.

p	 Rosenbauer Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH (BVG) holds 51%  
of shares in Rosenbauer International AG. BVG requires  
a majority of 75% of votes for a transfer of its shares to third 
parties. In line with the principle of equal treatment, there are 
no restrictions on voting rights or transfers of shares if the 
share of bearer shares in the share capital of the company is 
not less than 40% at any time.

p	 One shareholder of Rosenbauer Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH 
indirectly holds an interest equivalent to 11.85% in Rosen- 
bauer International AG.

p	 To the best of the company’s knowledge, there are no share- 
holders with special rights of control.

p	 Employees who own shares exercise their voting rights directly.
p	 The Articles of Association of Rosenbauer International AG  

set out the provisions for the appointment and dismissal  
of members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board. 
Only persons aged less than 65 at the time of their appoint-
ment can be appointed as members of the Executive Board. 
However, a person over the age of 65 at the time of such 
appointment can be appointed if there is a resolution to this 
effect by the Annual General Meeting with a simple majority  
of the votes cast.

p	 Only persons aged less than 70 at the time of their appoint-
ment can be appointed as members of the Supervisory Board. 
However, a person over the age of 70 at the time of such 
election can be appointed if there is a resolution to this effect 
by the Annual General Meeting with a simple majority of the 
votes cast.

p	 The 24th Annual General Meeting authorized the Executive 
Board to acquire bearer shares in the company of up to 10%  
of the share capital for a period of 30 months from May 20, 
2016. These shares can be bought either on or off the stock 
exchange, though the lowest consideration paid cannot be 
more than 20% less and the highest consideration paid cannot 
be more than 10% more than the average closing market price 
on the last three exchange days before the acquisition of  
the shares. Trading in treasury shares is precluded. A detailed 
description of the authorization has been published on www.
rosenbauer.com/group. With the approval of the Supervisory 
Board, the share capital can be reduced by withdrawing  
these treasury shares without a further resolution by the 
Annual General Meeting. The Supervisory Board is authorized 
to resolve amendments to the Articles of Association arising 
from the withdrawal of shares.

p	 There are no significant agreements that would come into 
effect, significantly change, or end in the event of a change  
in control of the company as a result of a takeover bid.  
No compensation agreements have been concluded between 
the company and its Executive Board and Supervisory Board 
members or its employees providing for the event of a public 
takeover bid.

p	 The corporate governance report of the Rosenbauer Group has 
been published on the website www.rosenbauer.com/group  
in chapter “Investor Relations”.
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“It is the year 2050. We are 
living in an urbanized world 
with highly confined space.  
The major cities are over
crowded by skyscrapers,  
people, and machines. How  
do the emergency services  
get to where they need to be  
in time?
The best route is the direct 
route, without major diver- 
sions. And that’s possible  
because the fire service supply 
zeppelin will be floating above  
us in the future – a flying  
supply unit. It communicates 
with smart-scrapers that  
report when a fire breaks out. 
The fire service supply  
zeppelin then sends exactly  
the right equipment to the 
scene. By drone. Just in time  
as the firefighters arrive.”

Franz Ludwig for the
Rescue 5.0 Group
(Federico Fricke, Franz Ludwig,
Christian Walter)

Fire Service  
Supply Zeppelin
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Supplementary report
Since the end of the reporting period there have been no  
events of particular significance to the company that would have 
altered its net assets, financial position, or result of operations.

Overall economic development1
According to the most recent forecasts by economic  
researchers, the growth of the global economy will be some- 
what more dynamic in 2017 than 2016. Global GDP is set to 
grow by 3.4% in the current year and 3.6% in 2018.

Key factors will be the influence of decisions by the new  
US administration and the elections in Europe on economic 
development. This influence can be either positive or negative 
and lead to unexpected market changes at any time.

Prospects on sales markets
A similar development to 2016 is expected on the global 
firefighting markets in 2017. Above all demand is currently being 
driven by countries with continuous procurement or elevated 
security requirements following natural or terrorist disasters.

The markets of Western Europe should grow slightly again  
in 2017, while the largest single market, Germany, will continue 
its positive development. There are no signs of change at this 
time in Southern and Eastern Europe – demand is still low and 
the financing of firefighting technology is difficult even though 
procurement requirements are rising.

The market in North America recovered in the first months  
of the current year and an increase in the procurement volume is 
expected again in 2017. How strong this proves to be or whether 
the trend is reversed will depend on whether the announced 
stimulation of the US economy will be successful and will also 
benefit fire departments.

On the other hand, there is little prospect of an improvement  
in the market situation in the countries with a strong dependence 
on the price of oil, as the low price is still affecting government 
budgets.

North America
Rosenbauer performed well on the North American firefighting 
market in 2016. In a difficult environment with declining vehicle 
procurement, market share was even expanded further.

This year, market cultivation will mainly focus on the expansion  
of servicing and governmental business, the channel for public 
sector vehicle procurement. With excellent products and 
broad-based sales, the NOMA area is well prepared should the 
US fire department sector benefit from the new government’s 
planned infrastructure program. The orders received in the last 
few months already ensure high capacity utilization at American 
production facilities until the end of the year.

Europe
In many European countries, including Austria and Germany, 
there has recently been a significant increase in people’s security 
awareness. Budgets for safety technology were therefore  
already increased in the previous year, and fire department and 
disaster protection organizations benefited from this as well.

	 SUPPLEMENTARY  
	 REPORT  
	 AND FORECAST

1	 IMF, Interim World Economic Outlook, January 16, 2017
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As this trend will continue this year, brisk tendering can also be 
expected for 2017, at least in the D-A-CH-region (Germany, 
Austria and Switzerland). However, market cultivation in Europe  
is becoming increasingly difficult due to stricter requirements  
for the processing of tenders and the documentation of projects.

The markets in Central and Northern Europe will remain active, 
especially as the average age of the firefighting vehicles in use  
is already well above the long-term average. By contrast, demand 
in the countries of Southern and Eastern Europe and in Russia  
is likely to remain weak, even though the backlog in terms of 
modern firefighting technology would be greatest there.

International export business
In countries with elevated security demands and on emerging 
markets with higher investment in infrastructure, particularly 
China and India, demand is still at a high level. The ongoing 
urbanization will require additional investment in safety infra-
structure and fire protection in the years ahead as well.

Investment in firefighting equipment suffered massively in  
2016 in countries dependent on oil and commodity prices. There  
were also the ongoing conflicts in some regions, which led to  
a drastic shift in the public sector budgets that finance fire 
departments. Despite the consistently high need for security and 
the backlog in terms of modern equipment, it is expected that 
the weak price of oil and the political unrest will continue  
to bring pressure to bear on budgets and that there will be no 
fundamental change in procurement in 2017.

The markets in Africa and Central/South America are charac- 
terized by irregular central procurement. They are very difficult  
to forecast as they often have lead times of several years. 
Political risks cannot be entirely ruled out here either, and  
hence they require careful monitoring.

Rosenbauer closely monitors developments on the different  
fire equipment markets in order to exploit sales opportunities 
early on. Sales activities are then stepped up in the countries  
or regions where greater procurement volumes have been 
identified. This further expands the Group’s global presence  
and strengthens its international competitive capabilities.

As of the end of the reporting period, Rosenbauer has an order 
backlog of € 739.7 million (2015: € 797.5 million). This figure  
is almost equal to a year’s revenues, though equipment  
products and service revenues have only partly been taken into 
account owing to the shorter delivery times. Basic capacity 
utilization at production facilities is therefore ensured for 2017.

Innovations and new products
The goal of Rosenbauer’s research and development activities  
is to strengthen its competitive position against the backdrop  
of modern technological challenges. The Group also intensively 
looks at social and technical megatrends – such as demographic 
change and digitization – and their impact on fire department 
organization and technology. A first result of this was presented 
in the fall of 2016: the Concept Fire Truck, a concept study  
of the fire truck of the future.
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The Concept Fire Truck is an extremely compact and maneu- 
verable emergency vehicle with a highly functional design, which 
above all sets new ergonomic benchmarks. On the inside, it is 
more like a command center than a personnel carrier. Moreover, 
it is a vehicle that is extremely efficient when on the move  
and in operation, and that produces only very limited exhaust 
emissions.

Rosenbauer is one of the most innovative companies in the 
firefighting industry. It creates a competitive edge with constantly 
new and attractive products and leverages new growth oppor- 
tunities. Spending on research and development will therefore 
remain at a high level in 2017 as well.

In the current year, much of this will go towards expanding  
the product range for municipal vehicles, the development of  
the new PANTHER 8x8 and the start-up of the new PANTHER 
series in the US. Moreover, the company will continue to invest  
in the launch of newly developed equipment products and the 
new, highly efficient ET (Efficient Technology) vehicle series.

Investments and production capacity
The strong corporate growth has necessitated a comprehensive 
expansion of production facilities in recent years. Space and 
capacity have been increased at almost all plants.

Investment activity under this heading will be reduced in 2017. 
While the Group’s investment volume will fall below the level  
of the previous year as a result, it will still be higher than 

depreciation. The completion of ongoing investment projects  
is particularly important. Above all this includes the moderniza-
tion of Plant I in Leonding, which is undergoing reorganization 
with a view to increasing efficiency and profitability.

In 2016 Rosenbauer launched a Group-wide future project 
entitled fIT 2020, the goal of which is to implement a new 
enterprise resource planning (ERP) system. The project is a key 
part of the GO 2020 future strategy and has the same duration. 
InforLN, Rosenbauer’s future ERP system, integrates all business 
processes across all locations and provides users with con- 
temporary support. Specifically for the vehicle industry, InforLN 
offers preconfigured functions and standardized Group-wide 
systems from sales management and production planning to 
after-sales service and financial management.

Financial and liquidity situation
Rosenbauer has high financing requirements during the year  
for reasons specific to the industry. One reason for this is the  
long throughput times from an order being received to delivery, 
and the relatively low advances paid by customers. Rosenbauer 
counteracts this with targeted measures intended to optimize  
the supply chain, thus accelerating delivery for production, and 
to reduce throughput times.

The liquidity of the Rosenbauer Group is ensured by financing 
facilities provided by various banks with different maturities.  
In view of its solid credit and good bank access, highly attractive 
financing conditions are expected again in 2017.
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The Group’s financing strategy is based on conservative prin- 
ciples and prioritizes secure liquidity and the highest possible 
equity capitalization.

Overall assessment of future development
Rosenbauer is the leading manufacturer for the international 
firefighting industry with annual revenues of € 870.8 million. In 
order to secure and expand this market position, the company  
is constantly working to be more agile and more efficient in  
a dynamic environment. In the year under review, for example, 
further progress was made in Group-wide efficiency enhance-
ment programs, particularly at Plant II in Leonding. Fresh growth 
was ensured in 2016 primarily by new product launches.

Above all, the new HEROS-titan helmet is being well received  
by fire departments and more than several thousand units  
have already been sold. New equipment sector products will 
stimulate growth in 2017 as well, in particular the new  
HEROS-titan Pro, the only European fire service helmet to be 
certified for NFPA markets.

Additional international sales stimulus is also expected from  
the new ET series. It has been honed for efficiency in all aspects 
and can therefore be offered at market-specific prices. And the 
launch of the new top PANTHER 8x8 model this year is also  
set to generate new business, especially as the vehicle will  
once again set the benchmark for technology and design in the 
airport segment.

Furthermore, Rosenbauer is still investing in its sales organi- 
zation and product development in order to exploit every growth 
opportunity on the world’s firefighting markets.

Internationally well positioned and with a focus on a streamlined 
cost structure, Rosenbauer is therefore optimistic for year 2017 
and the years to come.

Revenues and result of operations
The uncertainty regarding the development of the firefighting 
markets has increased tangibly in recent months. Geopolitical 
tension and the low price of oil could affect growth on  
certain markets in 2017 as well. Overall, however, stable develop- 
ment in global demand for firefighting technology is assumed.

With a strong market presence, geographically balanced business, 
its broad portfolio, technology leadership and financial strength, 
Rosenbauer is well placed to take advantage of these opportuni-
ties for profitable, long-term growth. Efficiency enhancement  
and cost-cutting measures will be continued to ensure that the 
intended growth can be implemented on a solid financial basis. 
Despite the lower capacity utilization at the beginning of the year 
due to project effects and the sustained margin pressure in the 
developed markets in addition to the above factors, manage- 
ment is aiming to improve revenues and earnings as against the 
previous year.
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SEGMENT REPORTING
	 BUSINESS SEGMENTS  
	 (BY AREAS)

The organization of the Rosenbauer Group is divided into five 
sales regions. Its segment reporting is based on the defined 
areas CEEU (Central and Eastern Europe), NISA (Northern Europe, 
Iberia, South America and Africa), MENA (Middle East and  
North Africa), APAC (Asia-Pacific) and NOMA (North and Middle 
America). In addition to the segments managed by sales  
markets, the SFP (Stationary Fire Protection) segment is shown 
as a further segment in reporting since financial year 2016.

The areas are responsible for all business in their sales regions: 
they analyze market requirements, initiate product develop- 
ments, are in charge of sales and service, and run their produc-
tion plants. A key objective of the area organization is to 
strengthen well established markets and to cultivate and expand 
those with lower penetration in a targeted manner. This is to  
help even better exploit the growth potential of the Rosenbauer 
Group in both its core business and on new markets.

Revenues by areas in 2016

CEEU area
The CEEU area comprises 24 Central and Eastern European 
countries from the Baltic to the Bosporus, including Turkey.  
The CEEU area includes the production locations in Leonding 
(Plants I and II), Traun (until February 2017) and Neidling  
in Austria, Karlsruhe and Luckenwalde in Germany, Radgona in 
Slovenia and, since July 2016, Rovereto in Italy. The plants 
produce products for sale in CEEU, but also deliver to all other 
areas. The CEEU area also includes the Oberglatt sales and 
service location in Switzerland.

Market development
The elevated security awareness in Europe has recently led to 
increased demand for firefighting and disaster protection 
equipment. In Germany, the largest single market in Europe,  
the procurement volume was up by around 10% year-on-year in  
2016. Incoming orders in this area increased to € 298.4 million 
in the reporting year (2015: € 248.7 million), with Germany 
accounting for the biggest share.

Business development
Revenues in the CEEU area climbed to € 289.3 million in 2016 
(2015: € 224.5 million). This marks an increase of 29% as  
against the previous year despite more intensive competition. 
This growth was attributable mainly to strong demand for 
municipal emergency services in Germany and Turkey. Revenues 
also developed positively in the segments high rise aerial 
appliances, equipment, and firefighting components. The CEEU 
area contributed around 33% of consolidated revenues in 2016 
(2015: 26%).

24% NOMA

20% APAC

12% MENA

2% SFP

33% CEEU

9% NISA
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 CEEU area

 APAC area

 MENA area

 NISA area

 NOMA area

CEEU’s EBT amounted to € 9.0 million in the reporting year 
(2015: € 11.0 million). The decline is due firstly to the  
high margin pressure caused by increased price competition. 
Secondly, earnings were squeezed by extraordinary effects 
relating to the start-up phase of the newly founded company 
Rosenbauer Rovereto and a provision for staff measures.  
The CEEU area’s EBIT margin fell to 3.1% after 4.9% in the 
previous year.

Key segment figures for CEEU area (in € million)

	 2014	 2015	 2016
Revenues	 225.7	 224.5	 289.3
EBIT	 6.9	 11.0	 9.0
Incoming orders	 223.4	 248.7	 298.4
Order backlog	 133.1	 179.3	 180.1

NISA area
The NISA sales area comprises 78 countries, including almost  
all African, South American, and European countries from the 
North Cape to Gibraltar. The NISA area includes the Linares 
production location and the sales and service locations in Madrid 
(Spain), Meltham (UK), Chambéry (France), and Johannesburg 
(South Africa). The plant in Linares supplies its products mainly 
to the markets of the NISA area and, at the same time, is  
the center of competence for forest fire and towing vehicles.

Market development
The NISA markets gained little traction in 2016. Incoming  
orders fell short of the previous year’s level at € 83.6 million 
(2015: € 85.3 million). Especially in the countries whose 

economic performance is highly dependent on commodity 
exports, demand remained weak or scheduled procurement  
was postponed once again. Currency depreciation in some 
countries likewise hampered firefighting technology business.

The markets in the Northern and Western European countries  
are well developed and offer relatively constant demand  
for firefighting technology, while Africa and South America are 
typically spot markets with highly irregular procurement that  
is difficult to plan for.

Business development
Revenues in the NISA area were down year-on-year at  
€ 80.2 million in 2016 (2015: € 99.1 million) owing to difficult 
market conditions and the postponement of two major orders  
for Africa and South America. The bulk of these revenues  
was generated in the markets of Western Europe, where vehicle 
sales were increased in the UK, France, and the Benelux coun- 
tries in particular. Sales of equipment were highly encouraging.

EBIT in NISA was down from € 2.9 million in the previous  
year to € 0.3 million in the reporting year due to the lower volume  
of revenues and expenses for the two new locations in Spain  
and the UK.

Key segment figures for NISA area (in € million)

	 2014	 2015	 2016
Revenues	 96.7	 99.1	 80.2
EBIT	 5.7	 2.9	 0.3
Incoming orders	 83.4	 85.3	 83.6
Order backlog	 65.1	 50.4	 59.4
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MENA area
The MENA area comprises 13 countries in the Middle East  
and North Africa. The area includes the KAEC (King Abdullah 
Economic City) production site in Saudi Arabia that opened in 
April 2016 and a number of service locations in the region.  
The vehicles for the MENA area are produced in Europe and 
America and undergo final assembly at the KAEC plant.  
The comprehensive service network is a key success factor as  
it ensures direct and regular contact with customers.

Market development
In 2016, the firefighting markets of the MENA area were  
hit the hardest by the slump in prices for oil and commodities. 
There were also the escalating conflicts in the region, which  
led to a drastic shift in the public sector budgets that finance  
fire departments as well. Against this backdrop, in some cases 
demand for firefighting technology has fallen dramatically below 
the volumes of the last few years. Incoming orders in the  
MENA area declined from € 177.7 million in the previous year  
to € 33.1 million as a result of project effects.

Business development
Revenues in the MENA area were down year-on-year at  
€ 103.9 million in 2016 (2015: € 181.5 million). The reasons for 
this were the decline in the price of oil referred to above and 
rising political tension in the region. EBIT rose to € 13.6 million 
(2015: € 10.2 million) despite the drop in revenues thanks to the 
delivery of highly profitable orders.

Key segment figures for MENA area (in € million)

	 2014	 2015	 2016
Revenues	 170.2	 181.5	 103.9
EBIT	 13.5	 10.2	 13.6
Incoming orders	 222.5	 177.7	 33.1
Order backlog	 211.4	 207.3	 133.5

APAC area
The APAC area comprises 71 countries, including the entire 
Asia-Pacific region, several countries of the Middle East, China, 
India, and Russia. APAC’s production facilities are located in 
Singapore and Moscow; there are sales and service locations  
in China, Brunei, and the Philippines.

Market development
The largest individual markets, and also those with the most 
robust economic development in APAC, are China and India. 
However, both countries procure predominantly locally produced, 
budget segment vehicles. For vehicle manufacturers from  
Europe or the US, only the specialty vehicle segment is of inter- 
est as they demand a level of technology and quality not possible 
for local providers.

China displayed robust demand for firefighting technology in 
2016 as well. Rosenbauer served the Chinese market mainly with 
vehicles from the highest quality segment. Market development 
was also positive in the ASEAN countries, while procurement 
volumes decreased sharply in countries highly dependent on oil 
and commodity prices. The market in Russia also suffered from 
the strong depreciation of the ruble. Incoming orders in the APAC 
area fell to € 161.7 million in 2016 (2015: € 184.3 million).
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Business development
Despite the difficult situation on some markets, revenues  
in the APAC area were on par with the previous year in 2016  
at € 169.5 million (2015: € 166.2 million). EBIT amounted to  
€ 9.4 million after € 11.1 million in the previous year.

Key segment figures for APAC area (in € million)

	 2014	 2015	 2016
Revenues	 172.9	 166.2	 169.5
EBIT	 12.7	 11.1	 9.4
Incoming orders	 174.7	 184.3	 161.7
Order backlog	 132.0	 139.6	 134.7

NOMA area
The NOMA area includes the US, Canada, and countries in 
Central America and the Caribbean. Its production facilities are 
located in Lyons (SD), Wyoming (MN), and Fremont (NE). The 
 fire service vehicles are manufactured to US standards and  
most of them are delivered to the NOMA sales area, but also  
to customers in the MENA, NISA, and APAC areas.

Market development
The United States and Canada together form the largest single 
firefighting market in the world. Rosenbauer has since  
achieved a market share of around 15% and is one of the four 
major vehicle manufacturers for the US firefighting sector.

In North America, sales partners are the most important link 
between vehicle manufacturers and fire departments; almost all 
purchases go through them. Rosenbauer is represented by a 

comprehensive dealer network in both the US and Canada,  
and in 2016 further boosted its sales force for public sector 
business as well.

The procurement volume on the North American market  
declined as against 2015 and fell below the long-term average  
of 4,000 vehicles in the reporting year. Nonetheless, incoming 
orders in the NOMA area increased to € 220.2 million (2015:  
€ 204.7 million).

Business development
Revenues in the NOMA area were again on the rise. They climbed 
by 10% to € 207.1 million in the reporting year after € 187.5 mill- 
ion one year previously. The increase is attributable to a higher 
delivery volume on the domestic market – and in particular  
the growth in public sector business. Outstanding products and 
shorter delivery times contributed significantly to the positive 
sales performance. Demand for ARFF vehicles fell short of expec- 
tations on account of cost-cutting measures.

EBIT was up from € 14.8 million to € 15.5 million. One factor 
contributing to this was the reorganization of internal processes, 
which has led to greater efficiency and profitability in NOMA 
production.

Key segment figures for NOMA area (in € million)

	 2014	 2015	 2016
Revenues	 142.2	 187.5	 207.1
EBIT	 9.4	 14.8	 15.5
Incoming orders	 137.1	 204.7	 220.2
Order backlog	 149.5	 220.0	 223.6
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Stationary Fire Protection
Stationary Fire Protection handles the planning, installation,  
and servicing of stationary firefighting and alarm systems, and 
thus covers a broad field of fire protection technology.

The acquisition of the German G&S group at the beginning  
of the year made Rosenbauer a full-service provider in the field  
of preventive firefighting systems. Rosenbauer’s own expertise 
and solutions in foam extinguishing technology have now been 
added to by the comprehensive service and product portfolio  
of the G&S Group: sprinkler and deluge systems, water mist and 
gas extinguishing systems, kitchen extinguishing systems and 
alarms. These include innovative products such as compressed 
air foam, automated sprinkler inspection, and electronically 
controlled turrets.

They are used mainly to protect industrial facilities and  
machinery such as paint shops, recycling plants, machine tools, 
storage facilities, and industrial halls. The range also includes 
protection of highway tunnels, aircraft hangars, and heliports.

With its broad range of products, Rosenbauer can satisfy the 
entire fire protection technology requirements of the operators 
and builders of complex facilities, such as power plants as a 
general contractor.

All key system types and services in the portfolio are  
VdS-certified, which is usually required for tenders in Germany 
and is generally internationally acknowledged as a guarantee  
of quality. However, systems can also be installed according to 
other industry standards.

Retroactively from January 1, 2016, all assets in stationary  
fire protection were integrated from the Rosenbauer Inter- 
national AG into the renamed Rosenbauer Brandschutz GmbH. 
Together with the G&S Group, the business unit’s revenues  
rose to € 20.7 million (2015: € 6.5 million).

Key segment figures for Stationary Fire Protection (in € million)

	 2014	 2015	 2016
Revenues	 6.1	 6.5	 20.7
EBIT	 0.2	 0.5	 (0.7)
Incoming orders	 4.8	 5.2	 19.8
Order backlog	 1.9	 0.9	 8.4
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Vehicles
Rosenbauer produces all types of firefighting vehicles on  
all common chassis and, in some cases, on its own chassis as 
well. Its portfolio comprises operations control and command 
vehicles, firefighting and rescue trucks from 7.5 to 20 tons, 
emergency and specialty vehicles, and aerial ladders and 
platforms for working heights of up to 90 m. Hydraulic firefight-
ing and rescue platforms are usually used to rescue people  
from high altitudes or in technical operations, but Rosen- 
bauer also fits them with a tank, truck-mounted pump, and 
waterway system to create full combination vehicles (rescue  
and firefighting).

Vehicles delivered

2016

2015

2014

All types of firefighting vehicle are produced to both European 
and US standards. These two firefighting worlds differ greatly. 
The most visible expression of this is the different way that 
municipal emergency services vehicles are built. While in Europe 
they are built very compactly, in the US they tend to be much 
larger and heavier. The firefighting systems are different  
as well: Many European fire services use combined normal and 
high-pressure firefighting systems (10 and 40 bar), while in  
the US the use of high-pressure systems is not widespread  
in firefighting. Owing to the different tactics and building struc- 

tures, US firefighters tend to use normal pressure pumps  
with high delivery rates.

Firefighting vehicles can be broken down into the groups of 
municipal, ARFF, and industrial vehicles. The market for  
municipal firefighting vehicles is characterized by replacement 
procurement, especially in developed countries. The biggest 
markets in terms of volume in 2016 were the US, Germany,  
Saudi Arabia and Austria.

Depending on the level of use, firefighting vehicles remain  
in service for an average of between 15 and 30 years. While 
volunteer fire departments usually keep their vehicles for  
20 to 30 years, professional, industrial, and airport fire depart-
ment vehicles are replaced most of the time after 15 years  
owing to their more intensive use.

Vehicle revenues by category in 2016

Rosenbauer has vehicle plants around the world in Austria, 
Germany, Spain, Slovenia, Italy, Russia, Singapore, and the US. 
Final assembly is carried out in Switzerland, Saudi Arabia, and 
South Africa. Its largest manufacturing facilities are Plant I and II 
in Leonding (Austria) and the Lyons plant in South Dakota (USA).

2,388

2,751

2,125

8% Industrial  
firefighting vehicles

14% ARFF vehicles
78% Municipal  

firefighting vehicles

	 INFORMATION  
	 ON BUSINESS UNITS  
	 (BY PRODUCT)
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With revenues of € 665.2 million (2015: € 692.0 million),  
the Vehicles product segment accounted for the highest share  
of the Group’s revenues in the reporting year at 77% (2015:  
79%). Rosenbauer shipped a total of 2,125 vehicles in the period 
under review (2015: 2,751 vehicles).

Key segment figures for Vehicles (in € million)

	 2014	 2015	 2016
Incoming orders	 674.4	 727.8	 618.2
Revenues	 637.9	 692.0	 665.2

Firefighting Components
Developing and manufacturing firefighting systems and com- 
ponents is one of Rosenbauer’s core competences. This is a field 
in which the company has more than 100 years of experience. 
Many other superstructure manufacturers have to buy in these 

“centerpieces” of their vehicles, and only very few produce  
their own firefighting systems. Rosenbauer has a significant 
competitive advantage with its single-source approach for fully 
integrated firefighting equipment. Fire departments can trust  
that all these components will work perfectly together and that 
firefighting and vehicle technology are optimally coordinated.

The Firefighting Components product segment includes  
pumps and pump units, portable fire pumps, foam proportion- 
ing systems, turrets, and their electronic control systems. This 
segment also includes UHPS firefighting and compressed air 
foam systems that are fitted not just in trucks, but on motor
cycles and quads as well. Rosenbauer develops and produces  

the entire line of firefighting systems at its Leonding location. 
These products are supplied to the Group’s companies,  
selected superstructure manufacturers, and customers. There 
are long-term partnership agreements with independent super- 
structure manufacturers. They allow Rosenbauer to reach 
markets that would otherwise be wholly or largely inaccessible 
for international vehicle business.

Rosenbauer is increasingly operating as a system supplier  
to its superstructure partners. They are supplied with ready-to-
install systems that, in addition to the pump, are also equipped 
with a control system, foam proportioning system, and the full 
pipework.

Produced pumps, portable fire pumps and turrets

2016

2015

2014

 Truck-mounted fire pumps	  Pump units

 Turrets	  Portable fire pumps

A total of 1,731 truck-mounted fire pumps (2015: 1,951), 1,240 
pump units (2015: 1,232), 1,592 turrets (2015: 1,409), and 
1,091 portable fire pumps (2015: 819) were produced in 2016. 
The Firefighting Components product segment generated 

1,731

1,951

2,053

1,240

1,232

1,291

1,592

1,409

1,629

1,091

819

1,098
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independent revenues of € 23.2 million in 2016 (2015:  
€ 21.8 million), 3% (2015: 3%) of consolidated revenues. These 
figures do not include pump units or components installed in 
vehicles – which account for the vast majority of production.

Key segment figures for Firefighting Components (in € million)

	 2014	 2015	 2016
Incoming orders	 22.9	 23.0	 26.2
Revenues	 21.1	 21.8	 23.2

Fire & Safety Equipment
Rosenbauer provides a full range of fire service equipment, and 
its portfolio therefore features all personal and technical equip- 
ment products in addition to a full range for hazardous materials. 
Key strategic products are developed within the company, partly 
manufactured in-house, and sold as Rosenbauer-brand items. 
These are all positioned in the very top quality segment and are 
distinguished by their outstanding reliability, functional design, 
and attractive value for money.

New products in the reporting year include the HEROS-titan Pro 
fire service helmet certified to US standard, the C-1 thermal 
imaging camera, a completely overhauled series of FANERGY 
high performance fans, the RLS2000 lighting system with 360° 
floodlight function, and FIREFIT 2 and FIREMAX 3 protective 
clothing with PBI NEO exterior.

Sales of Rosenbauer products are being pushed around the  
world and corresponding structures are being set up in the 
respective areas. Around 45% of total revenues in the Equipment 
segment were already from Rosenbauer-brand items in 2016  
and the trend is rising. Furthermore, it is not uncommon  
for customer support in the equipment sector to lead to access  
to the local vehicle market.

The Equipment product segment generated revenues of  
€ 81.1 million in 2016 (2015: € 70.8 million), accounting for  
9% (2015: 8%) of consolidated revenues.

Key segment figures for Equipment (in € million)

	 2014	 2015	 2016
Incoming orders	 69.8	 72.8	 74.8
Revenues	 76.1	 70.8	 81.1

Customer Service
Given its significance, Customer Service has been stepped up 
and expanded worldwide in recent years. All areas today have 
service centers that handle repairs and spare parts management 
and manage the full service range in their respective region. In 
addition to Rosenbauer’s roughly 200 own service technicians, 
there are around 150 further service partners, mostly with  
their own workshop infrastructure. The Rosenbauer Group there- 
fore has by far the biggest service organization for the firefighting 
industry in the world.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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Customer Service offers defined service packages on  
the one hand and, on the other, training specific to firefighting.  
It increasingly makes use of simulators developed by Rosen- 
bauer in a range of models and sizes. A further pillar of  
Customer Service is the technical modernization work of fire- 
fighting vehicles as part of a general overhaul.

At € 45.3 million (2015: € 42.4 million), the Customer Service 
segment accounted for 5% of revenues in 2016 (2015: 5%).  
It should be noted that most of the service and repair work is 
carried out by Rosenbauer service partners, who are to be  
found in more than 100 different countries.

Key segment figures for Customer Service (in € million)

	 2014	 2015	 2016
Incoming orders	 46.8	 45.6	 44.6
Revenues	 40.3	 42.4	 45.3

Other
Other revenues have no causal link with the ordinary activities  
of the Group and thus cannot be assigned to any product 
segment. They essentially include freight and delivery costs and 
normally have no significant impact on the company’s results.

Other revenues amounted to € 35.3 million in the past financial 
year (2015: € 31.9 million).

Key segment figures for Other segment (in € million)

	 2014	 2015	 2016
Incoming orders	 27.2	 31.5	 33.2
Revenues	 32.4	 31.9	 35.3
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in € thousand	 Explanatory notes	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016

ASSETS
A.	 Non-current assets
	 I.	 Property, plant and equipment	 (D1)	 134,151.8	 146,646.1
	 II.	 Intangible assets	 (D1)	 13,529.9	 31,639.0
	 III.	 Securities	 (D2)	 412.2	 647.3
	 IV.	 Investments in companies accounted  
			   for using the equity method	 (D3, D4)	 4,953.8	 6,946.5
	 V.	 Receivables and other assets	 (D5)	 76.4	 51.9
	 VI.	Deferred tax assets	 (D6)	 5,379.6	 3,387.8
					     158,503.7	 189,318.6
B.	 Current assets
	 I.	 Inventories	 (D7)	 190,231.4	 199,131.5
	 II.	 Construction contracts	 (D8)	 87,290.8	 67,741.2
	 III.	 Receivables and other assets	 (D9)	 149,761.8	 162,507.2
	 IV.	 Income-tax receivables	 (D9)	 8,099.5	 1,692.8
	 V.	 Cash and cash equivalents	 (D10)	 17,877.8	 30,209.7
					     453,261.3	 461,282.4

Total assets		  611,765.0	 650,601.0

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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in € thousand	 Explanatory notes	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
A.	 Equity
	 I.	 Share capital	 (D11)	 13,600.0	 13,600.0
	 II.	 Capital reserves	 (D11)	 23,703.4	 23,703.4
	 III.	 Other reserves	 (D11)	 (6,717.1)	 (6,554.1)
	 IV.	 Accumulated results	 (D11)	 165,113.5	 178,308.7
			   Equity attributable to  
			   shareholders of the parent company		  195,699.8	 209,058.0
	 V.	 Non-controlling interests	 (D12)	 30,902.5	 32,933.5
					     226,602.3	 241,991.5
B.	 Non-current liabilities
	 I.	 Non-current interest-bearing liabilities	 (D13)	 74,409.1	 99,709.6
	 II.	 Other non-current liabilities	 (D14)	 1,347.7	 1,073.3
	 III.	 Non-current provisions	 (D15)	 30,156.2	 32,596.0
	 IV.	 Deferred tax liabilities	 (D6)	 4,256.0	 3,503.3
					     110,169.0	 136,882.2
C.	 Current liabilities
	 I.	 Current interest-bearing liabilities	 (D16)	 135,216.4	 102,403.4
	 II.	 Advance payments received		  18,977.6	 22,640.9
	 III.	 Trade payables	 (D17)	 43,168.8	 52,193.6
	 IV.	 Other current liabilities	 (D18)	 59,514.6	 67,620.4
	 V.	 Provisions for taxes	 (D19)	 2,906.3	 6,041.7
	 VI.	Other provisions	 (D19)	 15,210.0	 20,827.3
					     274,993.7	 271,727.3

Total equity and liabilities		  611,765.0	 650,601.0 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION



86

in € thousand	 Explanatory notes	 2015	 2016

1.	 Revenues	 (D20)	 865,407.1	 870,812.6
2.	 Other income	 (D21)	 9,241.0	 14,132.0
3.	 Change in inventory of finished goods  
	 and work in progress		  17,082.7	 17,328.8
4.	 Capitalized development costs	 (D1)	 4,408.9	 3,631.6
5.	 Costs of goods sold		  (555,418.2)	 (547,270.0)
6.	 Staff costs	 (D22)	 (182,899.6)	 (198,684.0)
7.	 Depreciation and amortization expense on  
	 property, plant and equipment and intangible assets		  (14,066.8)	 (16,104.2)
8.	 Other expenses	 (D23)	 (93,165.7)	 (96,810.3)
9.	 Operating result (EBIT) before share in results  
	 of companies accounted for using the equity method		  50,589.4	 47,036.5

10.	 Financing expenses	 (D24)	 (6,231.4)	 (5,410.2)
11.	 Financing income	 (D25)	 3,216.3	 1,155.4
12.	 Share in results of companies accounted  
	 for using the equity method		  620.8	 1,258.8
13.	 Profit before income tax (EBT)		  48,195.1	 44,040.5

14.	 Income tax	 (D26)	 (11,376.5)	 (9,435.5)
15.	 Net profit for the period		  36,818.6	 34,605.0
	 thereof:
	 — Non-controlling interests		  14,388.5	 11,091.2
	 — Shareholders of parent company		  22,430.1	 23,513.8

	 Average number of shares outstanding	 (E6)	 6,800,000	 6,800,000
	 Basic earnings per share	 (E6)	 € 3.30	 € 3.46
	 Diluted earnings per share	 (E6)	 € 3.30	 € 3.46

CONSOLIDATED  
INCOME STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
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in € thousand	 Explanatory notes	 2015	 2016

Net profit for the period		  36,818.6	 34,605.0

Restatements as required by IAS 19	 (D15)	 994.2	 (1,154.1)
— thereof deferred taxes		  (251.1)	 320.4
Total of changes in value recognized in equity  
that cannot be subsequently reclassified into profit or loss		  743.1	 (833.7)

Gains/losses from foreign currency translation		  5,865.9	 1,814.6
Gains/losses from foreign currency translation  
of companies accounted for using the equity method	 (D3)	 (312.4)	 983.9
Gains/losses from available-for-sale-securities
	 Change in unrealized gains/losses		  10.7	 43.5
	 — thereof deferred tax		  (2.7)	 (10.9)
Gains/losses from cash flow hedge	 (D30b)

	 Change in unrealized gains/losses		  (6,552.0)	 (3,921.3)
	 — thereof deferred tax		  1,638.0	 980.3
	 Realized gains/losses		  11,233.7	 4,156.8
	 — thereof deferred tax		  (2,808.4)	 (1,039.2)
Total changes in value recognized in equity  
subsequently reclassified into profit or loss  
when certain conditions are met		  9,072.8	 3,007.7

Other comprehensive income		  9,815.9	 2,174.0

Total comprehensive income after income taxes		  46,634.5	 36,779.0
thereof:
— Non-controlling interests		  17,242.2	 13,102.2
— Shareholders of parent company		  29,392.3	 23,676.8

PRESENTATION OF THE  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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	 Attributable to shareholders	 in the parent company
					     Other reserves
		  			   Restatement
		  Share	 Capital	 Currency	 as required	 Revaluation	 Hedging	 Accumulated		  Non-controlling	 Group
in € thousand	 Explanatory notes	 capital	 reserve	 translation	 by IAS 19	 reserve	 reserve	 results	 Subtotal	 interests	 equity

2016
As of Jan 1, 2016		  13,600.0	 23,703.4	 5,055.5	 (5,625.5)	 17.7	 (6,164.8)	 165,113.5	 195,699.8	 30,902.5	 226,602.3
Other comprehensive income		  0.0	 0.0	 787.5	 (833.7)	 32.6	 176.6	 0.0	 163.0	 2,011.0	 2,174.0
Net profit for the period		  0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 23,513.8	 23,513.8	 11,091.2	 34,605.0
Total comprehensive income		  0.0	 0.0	 787.5	 (833.7)	 32.6	 176.6	 23,513.8	 23,676.8	 13,102.2	 36,779.0

Disposal of  
non-controlling interests	 (B1)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 (118.6)	 (118.6)	 118.6	 0.0
Dividend	 (D12)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 (10,200.0)	 (10,200.0)	 (11,189.8)	 (21,389.8)
As of Dec 31, 2016		  13,600.0	 23,703.4	 5,843.0	 (6,459.2)	 50.3	 (5,988.2)	 178,308.7	 209,058.0	 32,933.5	 241,991.5

2015
As of Jan 1, 2015		  13,600.0	 23,703.4	 2,355.7	 (6,368.6)	 9.7	 (9,676.1)	 150,843.4	 174,467.5	 23,881.9	 198,349.4
Other comprehensive income		  0.0	 0.0	 2,699.8	 743.1	 8.0	 3,511.3	 0.0	 6,962.2	 2,853.7	 9,815.9
Net profit for the period		  0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 22,430.1	 22,430.1	 14,388.5	 36,818.6
Total comprehensive income		  0.0	 0.0	 2,699.8	 743.1	 8.0	 3,511.3	 22,430.1	 29,392.3	 17,242.2	 46,634.5

Dividend	 (D12)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 (8,160.0)	 (8,160.0)	 (10,221.6)	 (18,381.6)
As of Dec 31, 2015		  13,600.0	 23,703.4	 5,055.5	 (5,625.5)	 17.7	 (6,164.8)	 165,113.5	 195,699.8	 30,902.5	 226,602.3

CHANGES IN  
CONSOLIDATED EQUITY

CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED EQUITY
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	 Attributable to shareholders	 in the parent company
					     Other reserves
		  			   Restatement
		  Share	 Capital	 Currency	 as required	 Revaluation	 Hedging	 Accumulated		  Non-controlling	 Group
in € thousand	 Explanatory notes	 capital	 reserve	 translation	 by IAS 19	 reserve	 reserve	 results	 Subtotal	 interests	 equity

2016
As of Jan 1, 2016		  13,600.0	 23,703.4	 5,055.5	 (5,625.5)	 17.7	 (6,164.8)	 165,113.5	 195,699.8	 30,902.5	 226,602.3
Other comprehensive income		  0.0	 0.0	 787.5	 (833.7)	 32.6	 176.6	 0.0	 163.0	 2,011.0	 2,174.0
Net profit for the period		  0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 23,513.8	 23,513.8	 11,091.2	 34,605.0
Total comprehensive income		  0.0	 0.0	 787.5	 (833.7)	 32.6	 176.6	 23,513.8	 23,676.8	 13,102.2	 36,779.0

Disposal of  
non-controlling interests	 (B1)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 (118.6)	 (118.6)	 118.6	 0.0
Dividend	 (D12)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 (10,200.0)	 (10,200.0)	 (11,189.8)	 (21,389.8)
As of Dec 31, 2016		  13,600.0	 23,703.4	 5,843.0	 (6,459.2)	 50.3	 (5,988.2)	 178,308.7	 209,058.0	 32,933.5	 241,991.5

2015
As of Jan 1, 2015		  13,600.0	 23,703.4	 2,355.7	 (6,368.6)	 9.7	 (9,676.1)	 150,843.4	 174,467.5	 23,881.9	 198,349.4
Other comprehensive income		  0.0	 0.0	 2,699.8	 743.1	 8.0	 3,511.3	 0.0	 6,962.2	 2,853.7	 9,815.9
Net profit for the period		  0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 22,430.1	 22,430.1	 14,388.5	 36,818.6
Total comprehensive income		  0.0	 0.0	 2,699.8	 743.1	 8.0	 3,511.3	 22,430.1	 29,392.3	 17,242.2	 46,634.5

Dividend	 (D12)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 (8,160.0)	 (8,160.0)	 (10,221.6)	 (18,381.6)
As of Dec 31, 2015		  13,600.0	 23,703.4	 5,055.5	 (5,625.5)	 17.7	 (6,164.8)	 165,113.5	 195,699.8	 30,902.5	 226,602.3

CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED EQUITY
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in € thousand	 Explanatory notes	 2015	 2016

	 Profit before income tax		  48,195.1	 44,040.5
+	 Depreciation		  14,066.8	 16,104.2
±	 Gains/losses of companies accounted  
	 for using the equity method	 (D3)	 (620.8)	 (1,258.8)
–	 Gains from the retirement of property,  
	 plant and equipment, intangible assets and securities	 (D21)	 (153.2)	 (82.9)
+	 Interest expenses	 (D24)	 5,660.2	 4,831.4
–	 Interest and securities income	 (D25)	 (3,216.3)	 (1,139.6)
±	 Unrealized gains/losses from currency translation		  3,471.4	 1,334.1
±	 Change in inventories	 (D7)	 17,812.1	 (7,229.5)
±	 Change in receivables and other assets 
	 and construction contracts	 (D8, D9)	 (37,786.6)	 4,914.3
±	 Change in other receivables		  (1,249.7)	 6,030.3
±	 Change in trade payables  
	 and advance payments received		  (20,560.9)	 10,470.6
±	 Change in other liabilities		  (9,572.0)	 3,372.3
±	 Change in provisions (excluding income tax deferrals)		  4,265.7	 5,815.0
	 Cash earnings		  20,311.8	 87,201.9

–	 Interest paid	 (D24)	 (3,400.2)	 (3,436.1)
+	 Interest received and income of securities	 (D25)	 1,586.3	 890.9
+	 Dividends received from companies accounted  
	 for using the equity method	 (D3, D4)	 1,358.1	 250.0
–	 Income tax paid		  (13,328.4)	 (1,495.3)
	 Net cash flow from operating activities		  6,527.6	 83,411.4

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CASH FLOWS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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in € thousand	 Explanatory notes	 2015	 2016

	 Net cash flow from operating activities		  6,527.6	 83,411.4

–	 Payments from the acquisition of a subsidiary  
	 less acquired cash	 (B1)	 0.0	 (12,162.5)
–	 Payments from the purchase of property,  
	 plant and equipment, intangile assets and securities	 (D27)	 (22,547.3)	 (25,720.3)
+	 Proceeds from the sale of property,  
	 plant and equipment, intangible assets and securities		  838.1	 918.8
–	 Income from capitalized development costs		  (4,408.9)	 (3,631.6)
	 Net cash flow from investing activities		  (26,118.1)	 (40,595.6)

–	 Dividends paid	 (D27)	 (8,160.0)	 (10,200.0)
–	 Dividends paid to non-controlling interests	 (D12)	 (10,221.6)	 (11,189.8)
+	 Proceeds from interest-bearing liabilities		  99,084.3	 119,922.8
–	 Repayment of interest-bearing liabilities		  (70,666.6)	 (129,153.2)
	 Net cash flow from financing liabilities		  10,036.1	 (30,620.2)

	 Net change in cash and cash equivalents		  (9,554.4)	 12,195.6
+	 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period	 (D10)	 26,780.0	 17,877.8
±	 Adjustment from currency translation		  652.2	 136.3
	 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	 (D10)	 17,877.8	 30,209.7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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		  	 Cost of acquisition or production	 Accumulated depreciation	 Net book value

			   As of		  Acqui-				    As of	 As of				    As of	 As of	 As of
			   Jan 1,	 Currency	 sition of			   Adjust-	 Dec 31,	 Jan 1,	 Currency			   Dec 31,	 Dec 31,	 Dec 31,
in € thousand	 2016	 differences	 subsidiary	 Additions	 Disposals	 ments	 2016	 2016	 differences	 Additions	 Disposals	 2016	 2016	 2015

2016
I.	 Property, plant  
	 and equipment
1.	 Land and buildings
	 a)	 Land value	 15,402.9	 29.1	 318.6	 382.1	 0.0	 0.0	 16,132.7	 27.7	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 27.7	 16,105.0	 15,375.2
	 b)	 Office and  
		  plant buildings	 90,852.8	 394.4	 136.7	 5,147.7	 30.6	 3,215.8	 99,716.8	 31,075.7	 237.9	 3,386.6	 22.4	 34,677.8	 65,039.0	 59,777.1
	 c)	 Outside facilities	 7,450.9	 0.0	 0.0	 110.0	 0.0	 0.0	 7,560.9	 3,556.4	 0.0	 387.2	 0.0	 3,943.6	 3,617.3	 3,894.5
	 d)	 Investments in  
		  non-owned buildings	 5,964.0	 60.2	 0.0	 1,546.3	 140.6	 0.0	 7,429.9	 2,854.7	 20.3	 488.7	 122.2	 3,281.4	 4,148.5	 3,109.3
2.	 Undeveloped land	 8,277.1	 0.0	 0.0	 9.9	 0.0	 0.0	 8,287.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 8,287.0	 8,277.1
3.	 Technical equipment  
	 and machinery	 38,696.6	 272.7	 340.2	 5,011.3	 1,241.6	 4,363.0	 47,442.2	 22,669.6	 221.7	 3,267.6	 1,110.1	 25,048.8	 22,393.4	 16,027.0
4.	 Other equipment,  
	 furniture and fixture	 59,791.6	 145.5	 421.2	 8,182.3	 3,353.4	 724.7	 65,911.9	 38,597.5	 118.6	 6,471.2	 2,711.6	 42,435.8	 23,476.1	 21,194.1
5.	 Advance payments  
	 received and  
	 construction in progress	 6,497.5	 162.7	 1,707.7	 3,515.8	 0.4	 (8,303.5)	 3,579.8	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 3,579.8	 6,497.5
			   232,933.4	 1,064.6	 2,924.4	 23,905.4	 4,766.6	 0.0	 256,061.2	 98,781.6	 598.5	 14,001.3	 3,966.3	 109,415.1	 146,646.1	 134,151.8

II.	 Intangible assets
1.	 Rights	 5,876.9	 16.0	 324.2	 410.0	 92.2	 0.0	 6,534.9	 4,349.5	 2.9	 831.9	 87.3	 5,097.0	 1,437.9	 1,527.4
2.	 Goodwill	 1,163.5	 (13.0)	 5,461.1	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 6,611.6	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 6,611.6	 1,163.5
3.	 Customer base	 1,047.5	 (140.2)	 5,965.4	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 6,872.7	 112.2	 (18.2)	 772.4	 0.0	 866.4	 6,006.3	 935.3
4.	 Technology	 0.0	 0.0	 3,131.2	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 3,131.2	 0.0	 0.0	 200.1	 0.0	 200.1	 2,931.1	 0.0
5.	 Development costs	 10,067.4	 0.0	 0.0	 3,631.6	 0.0		  13,699.0	 163.7	 0.0	 298.5	 0.0	 462.2	 13,236.8	 9,903.7
6.	 Other intangible assets	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 1,415.3	 0.0	 0.0	 1,415.3	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 1,415.3	 0.0
			   18,155.3	 (137.2)	 14,881.9	 5,456.9	 92.2	 0.0	 38,264.7	 4,625.4	 (15.3)	 2,102.9	 87.3	 6,625.7	 31,639.0	 13,529.9

			   251,088.7	 927.4	 17,806.3	 29,362.3	 4,858.8	 0.0	 294,325.9	 103,407.0	 583.2	 16,104.2	 4,053.6	 116,040.8	 178,285.1	 147,681.7

MOVEMENT IN THE  
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS

MOVEMENT IN THE CONSOLIDATED ASSETS
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		  	 Cost of acquisition or production	 Accumulated depreciation	 Net book value

			   As of		  Acqui-				    As of	 As of				    As of	 As of	 As of
			   Jan 1,	 Currency	 sition of			   Adjust-	 Dec 31,	 Jan 1,	 Currency			   Dec 31,	 Dec 31,	 Dec 31,
in € thousand	 2016	 differences	 subsidiary	 Additions	 Disposals	 ments	 2016	 2016	 differences	 Additions	 Disposals	 2016	 2016	 2015

2016
I.	 Property, plant  
	 and equipment
1.	 Land and buildings
	 a)	 Land value	 15,402.9	 29.1	 318.6	 382.1	 0.0	 0.0	 16,132.7	 27.7	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 27.7	 16,105.0	 15,375.2
	 b)	 Office and  
		  plant buildings	 90,852.8	 394.4	 136.7	 5,147.7	 30.6	 3,215.8	 99,716.8	 31,075.7	 237.9	 3,386.6	 22.4	 34,677.8	 65,039.0	 59,777.1
	 c)	 Outside facilities	 7,450.9	 0.0	 0.0	 110.0	 0.0	 0.0	 7,560.9	 3,556.4	 0.0	 387.2	 0.0	 3,943.6	 3,617.3	 3,894.5
	 d)	 Investments in  
		  non-owned buildings	 5,964.0	 60.2	 0.0	 1,546.3	 140.6	 0.0	 7,429.9	 2,854.7	 20.3	 488.7	 122.2	 3,281.4	 4,148.5	 3,109.3
2.	 Undeveloped land	 8,277.1	 0.0	 0.0	 9.9	 0.0	 0.0	 8,287.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 8,287.0	 8,277.1
3.	 Technical equipment  
	 and machinery	 38,696.6	 272.7	 340.2	 5,011.3	 1,241.6	 4,363.0	 47,442.2	 22,669.6	 221.7	 3,267.6	 1,110.1	 25,048.8	 22,393.4	 16,027.0
4.	 Other equipment,  
	 furniture and fixture	 59,791.6	 145.5	 421.2	 8,182.3	 3,353.4	 724.7	 65,911.9	 38,597.5	 118.6	 6,471.2	 2,711.6	 42,435.8	 23,476.1	 21,194.1
5.	 Advance payments  
	 received and  
	 construction in progress	 6,497.5	 162.7	 1,707.7	 3,515.8	 0.4	 (8,303.5)	 3,579.8	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 3,579.8	 6,497.5
			   232,933.4	 1,064.6	 2,924.4	 23,905.4	 4,766.6	 0.0	 256,061.2	 98,781.6	 598.5	 14,001.3	 3,966.3	 109,415.1	 146,646.1	 134,151.8

II.	 Intangible assets
1.	 Rights	 5,876.9	 16.0	 324.2	 410.0	 92.2	 0.0	 6,534.9	 4,349.5	 2.9	 831.9	 87.3	 5,097.0	 1,437.9	 1,527.4
2.	 Goodwill	 1,163.5	 (13.0)	 5,461.1	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 6,611.6	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 6,611.6	 1,163.5
3.	 Customer base	 1,047.5	 (140.2)	 5,965.4	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 6,872.7	 112.2	 (18.2)	 772.4	 0.0	 866.4	 6,006.3	 935.3
4.	 Technology	 0.0	 0.0	 3,131.2	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 3,131.2	 0.0	 0.0	 200.1	 0.0	 200.1	 2,931.1	 0.0
5.	 Development costs	 10,067.4	 0.0	 0.0	 3,631.6	 0.0		  13,699.0	 163.7	 0.0	 298.5	 0.0	 462.2	 13,236.8	 9,903.7
6.	 Other intangible assets	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 1,415.3	 0.0	 0.0	 1,415.3	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 1,415.3	 0.0
			   18,155.3	 (137.2)	 14,881.9	 5,456.9	 92.2	 0.0	 38,264.7	 4,625.4	 (15.3)	 2,102.9	 87.3	 6,625.7	 31,639.0	 13,529.9

			   251,088.7	 927.4	 17,806.3	 29,362.3	 4,858.8	 0.0	 294,325.9	 103,407.0	 583.2	 16,104.2	 4,053.6	 116,040.8	 178,285.1	 147,681.7

MOVEMENT IN THE CONSOLIDATED ASSETS
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		  	 Cost of acquisition or production	 Accumulated depreciation	 Net book value

			   As of					     As of	 As of				    As of	 As of	 As of
			   Jan 1,	 Currency			   Adjust-	 Dec 31,	 Jan 1,	 Currency			   Dec 31,	 Dec 31,	 Dec 31,
in € thousand	 2015	 differences	 Additions	 Disposals	 ments	 2015	 2015	 differences	 Additions	 Disposals	 2015	 2015	 2014

2015
I.	 Property, plant  
	 and equipment
1.	 Land and buildings
	 a)	 Land value	 16,054.5	 243.8	 0.0	 0.0	 (895.4)	 15,402.9	 27.7	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 27.7	 15,375.2	 16,026.8
	 b)	 Office and plant buildings	 84,429.5	 1,847.0	 3,171.1	 357.8	 1,763.0	 90,852.8	 26,935.4	 1,077.2	 3,217.3	 154.2	 31,075.7	 59,777.1	 57,494.1
	 c)	 Outside facilities	 7,279.3	 0.0	 178.3	 6.7	 0.0	 7,450.9	 3,131.8	 0.0	 431.3	 6.7	 3,556.4	 3,894.5	 4,147.5
	 d)	 Investments in  
		  non-owned buildings	 4,269.8	 106.7	 1,625.3	 37.8	 0.0	 5,964.0	 2,456.5	 43.7	 381.8	 27.3	 2,854.7	 3,109.3	 1,813.3
2.	 Undeveloped land	 7,318.6	 0.0	 63.1	 0.0	 895.4	 8,277.1	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 8,277.1	 7,318.6
3.	 Technical equipment  
	 and machinery	 35,712.2	 917.9	 2,456.0	 389.5	 0.0	 38,696.6	 19,456.1	 567.4	 3,004.3	 358.2	 22,669.6	 16,027.0	 16,256.1
4.	 Other equipment,  
	 furniture and fixture	 55,429.1	 457.1	 6,764.9	 3,530.7	 671.2	 59,791.6	 35,463.5	 313.2	 6,126.1	 3,305.3	 38,597.5	 21,194.1	 19,965.6
5.	 Advance payments received  
	 and construction in progress	 2,117.4	 116.2	 6,867.4	 173.7	 (2,429.8)	 6,497.5	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 6,497.5	 2,117.4
			   212,610.4	 3,688.7	 21,126.1	 4,496.2	 4.4	 232,933.4	 87,471.0	 2,001.5	 13,160.8	 3,851.7	 98,781.6	 134,151.8	 125,139.4

II.	 Intangible assets
1.	 Rights	 5,184.5	 8.5	 924.6	 236.3	 (4.4)	 5,876.9	 3,859.2	 8.5	 718.1	 236.3	 4,349.5	 1,527.4	 1,325.2
2.	 Goodwill	 1,163.5	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 1,163.5	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 1,163.5	 1,163.5
3.	 Customer base	 993.7	 53.8	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 1,047.5	 7.5	 (1.3)	 106.0	 0.0	 112.2	 935.3	 986.3
4.	 Technology	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0
5.	 Development costs	 5,658.5	 0.0	 4,408.9	 0.0	 0.0	 10,067.4	 81.8	 0.0	 81.9	 0.0	 163.7	 9,903.7	 5,576.7
6.	 Other intangible assets	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0
			   13,000.2	 62.3	 5,333.5	 236.3	 (4.4)	 18,155.3	 3,948.5	 7.2	 906.0	 236.3	 4,625.4	 13,529.9	 9,051.7

			   225,610.6	 3,751.0	 26,459.6	 4,732.5	 0.0	 251,088.7	 91,419.5	 2,008.7	 14,066.8	 4,088.0	 103,407.0	 147,681.7	 134,191.1

MOVEMENT IN THE CONSOLIDATED ASSETS
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		  	 Cost of acquisition or production	 Accumulated depreciation	 Net book value

			   As of					     As of	 As of				    As of	 As of	 As of
			   Jan 1,	 Currency			   Adjust-	 Dec 31,	 Jan 1,	 Currency			   Dec 31,	 Dec 31,	 Dec 31,
in € thousand	 2015	 differences	 Additions	 Disposals	 ments	 2015	 2015	 differences	 Additions	 Disposals	 2015	 2015	 2014

2015
I.	 Property, plant  
	 and equipment
1.	 Land and buildings
	 a)	 Land value	 16,054.5	 243.8	 0.0	 0.0	 (895.4)	 15,402.9	 27.7	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 27.7	 15,375.2	 16,026.8
	 b)	 Office and plant buildings	 84,429.5	 1,847.0	 3,171.1	 357.8	 1,763.0	 90,852.8	 26,935.4	 1,077.2	 3,217.3	 154.2	 31,075.7	 59,777.1	 57,494.1
	 c)	 Outside facilities	 7,279.3	 0.0	 178.3	 6.7	 0.0	 7,450.9	 3,131.8	 0.0	 431.3	 6.7	 3,556.4	 3,894.5	 4,147.5
	 d)	 Investments in  
		  non-owned buildings	 4,269.8	 106.7	 1,625.3	 37.8	 0.0	 5,964.0	 2,456.5	 43.7	 381.8	 27.3	 2,854.7	 3,109.3	 1,813.3
2.	 Undeveloped land	 7,318.6	 0.0	 63.1	 0.0	 895.4	 8,277.1	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 8,277.1	 7,318.6
3.	 Technical equipment  
	 and machinery	 35,712.2	 917.9	 2,456.0	 389.5	 0.0	 38,696.6	 19,456.1	 567.4	 3,004.3	 358.2	 22,669.6	 16,027.0	 16,256.1
4.	 Other equipment,  
	 furniture and fixture	 55,429.1	 457.1	 6,764.9	 3,530.7	 671.2	 59,791.6	 35,463.5	 313.2	 6,126.1	 3,305.3	 38,597.5	 21,194.1	 19,965.6
5.	 Advance payments received  
	 and construction in progress	 2,117.4	 116.2	 6,867.4	 173.7	 (2,429.8)	 6,497.5	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 6,497.5	 2,117.4
			   212,610.4	 3,688.7	 21,126.1	 4,496.2	 4.4	 232,933.4	 87,471.0	 2,001.5	 13,160.8	 3,851.7	 98,781.6	 134,151.8	 125,139.4

II.	 Intangible assets
1.	 Rights	 5,184.5	 8.5	 924.6	 236.3	 (4.4)	 5,876.9	 3,859.2	 8.5	 718.1	 236.3	 4,349.5	 1,527.4	 1,325.2
2.	 Goodwill	 1,163.5	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 1,163.5	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 1,163.5	 1,163.5
3.	 Customer base	 993.7	 53.8	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 1,047.5	 7.5	 (1.3)	 106.0	 0.0	 112.2	 935.3	 986.3
4.	 Technology	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0
5.	 Development costs	 5,658.5	 0.0	 4,408.9	 0.0	 0.0	 10,067.4	 81.8	 0.0	 81.9	 0.0	 163.7	 9,903.7	 5,576.7
6.	 Other intangible assets	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0
			   13,000.2	 62.3	 5,333.5	 236.3	 (4.4)	 18,155.3	 3,948.5	 7.2	 906.0	 236.3	 4,625.4	 13,529.9	 9,051.7

			   225,610.6	 3,751.0	 26,459.6	 4,732.5	 0.0	 251,088.7	 91,419.5	 2,008.7	 14,066.8	 4,088.0	 103,407.0	 147,681.7	 134,191.1

MOVEMENT IN THE CONSOLIDATED ASSETS
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		  As of	 Currency		  Con-		  Com-	 As of
in € thousand	 Jan 1	 differences	 Allocation	 sumption	 Reversal	 pounding	 Dec 31

2016
Current
Provisions for warranties	 10,652.5	 112.0	 9,330.6	 (7,284.5)	 (636.1)	 0.0	 12,174.5
Provisions for  
onerous contracts	 76.9	 0.3	 0.0	 (0.6)	 (15.5)	 0.0	 61.1
Provisions for income tax	 2,906.3	 3.8	 5,473.4	 (2,341.8)	 0.0	 0.0	 6,041.7
Other provisions	 4,480.6	 (36.5)	 7,531.0	 (2,812.3)	 (571.1)	 0.0	 8,591.7
		  18,116.3	 79.6	 22,335.0	 (12,439.2)	 (1,222.7)	 0.0	 26,869.0

Non-current
Provisions for  
long-service bonuses	 3,783.6	 0.0	 491.7	 (59.1)	 0.0	 82.3	 4,298.5
		  3,783.6	 0.0	 491.7	 (59.1)	 0.0	 82.3	 4,298.5

		  21,899.9	 79.6	 22,826.7	 (12,498.3)	 (1,222.7)	 82.3	 31,167.5

The schedule of provisions for severance payments and pensions is contained under D15. “Non-current provisions” in the explanatory notes.

SCHEDULE  
OF PROVISIONS

SCHEDULE OF PROVISIONS
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		  As of	 Currency		  Con-		  Com-	 As of
in € thousand	 Jan 1	 differences	 Allocation	 sumption	 Reversal	 pounding	 Dec 31

2015
Current
Personnel provisions	 250.7	 (0.5)	 0.0	 (175.2)	 (75.0)	 0.0	 0.0
Provisions for warranties	 9,111.4	 335.1	 10,652.5	 (9,301.2)	 (145.3)	 0.0	 10,652.5
Provisions for  
onerous contracts	 471.6	 1.0	 20.4	 0.0	 (416.1)	 0.0	 76.9
Provisions for income tax	 319.2	 (9.2)	 2,889.5	 (293.2)	 0.0	 0.0	 2,906.3
Other provisions	 2,265.8	 23.8	 3,488.3	 (959.6)	 (337.7)	 0.0	 4,480.6
		  12,418.7	 350.2	 17,050.7	 (10,729.2)	 (974.1)	 0.0	 18,116.3

Non-current
Provisions for  
long-service bonuses	 3,335.6	 0.0	 403.3	 (25.0)	 0.0	 69.7	 3,783.6
Other non-current  
provisions	 23.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 (23.0)	 0.0	 0.0
		  3,358.6	 0.0	 403.3	 (25.0)	 (23.0)	 69.7	 3,783.6

		  15,777.3	 350.2	 17,454.0	 (10,754.2)	 (997.1)	 69.7	 21,899.9

The schedule of provisions for severance payments and pensions is contained under D15. “Non-current provisions” in the explanatory notes.

SCHEDULE OF PROVISIONS
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INFORMATION  
ON BUSINESS UNITS

		  CEEU	 NISA	 MENA	 APAC	 NOMA		  Con-
in € thousand	 area	 area	 area	 area	 area	 SFP1	 solidation	 Group

2016
External revenues	 289,337.6	 80,245.7	 103,893.1	 169,530.2	 207,125.6	 20,680.4	 0.0	 870,812.6
Segment revenues	 301,837.2	 248.0	 0.0	 0.0	 2,583.4	 0.0	 (304,668.6)	 0.0
Total revenues	 591,174.8	 80,493.7	 103,893.1	 169,530.2	 209,709.0	 20,680.4	 (304,668.6)	 870,812.6

EBIT before share of  
results of companies  
accounted for using  
the equity method	 8,973.3	 325.9	 13,630.5	 9,357.9	 15,469.2	 (720.3)	 0.0	 47,036.5
Profit before  
income tax (EBT)	 24,234.8	 206.7	 (749.6)	 3,051.1	 17,666.3	 (368.8)	 0.0	 44,040.5
Depreciation	 (12,688.3)	 (218.3)	 (483.0)	 (194.0)	 (1,619.1)	 (901.5)	 0.0	 (16,104.2)
Finance expenses	 (4,032.8)	 (95.4)	 (188.2)	 (23.3)	 (1,007.1)	 (63.4)	 0.0	 (5,410.2)
Financial income	 679.6	 7.0	 0.0	 0.0	 468.6	 0.2	 0.0	 1,155.4
Share in results of  
companies accounted for  
using the equity method	 0.0	 83.1	 0.0	 1,175.7	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 1,258.8

No customer contributed more than 10% of external revenues in 2016.

As shown above, depreciation and amortization, financial expenses, finance income, and the share of results of companies accounted for using the equity method  

are allocated according to the locations of Group companies (production-based).

	 Revenues
in € million	 2015	 2016

Vehicles	 692.0	 665.2
Firefighting Components	 21.8	 23.2
Fire & Safety Equipment	 70.8	 81.1
SFP1	 6.5	 20.7
Customer Service	 42.4	 45.3
Others	 31.9	 35.3
Group	 865.4	 870.8

1	Stationary Fire Protection

SEGMENT REPORTING
	 BUSINESS SEGMENTS

SEGMENT REPORTING



99

INFORMATION  
ON GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS

		  CEEU	 NISA	 MENA	 APAC	 NOMA		  Con-
in € thousand	 area	 area	 area	 area	 area	 SFP1	 solidation	 Group

2015
External revenues	 224,546.9	 99,109.3	 181,522.8	 166,204.7	 187,500.2	 6,523.2	 0.0	 865,407.1
Segment revenues	 392,432.8	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 5,563.3	 0.0	 (397,996.1)	 0.0
Total revenues	 616,979.7	 99,109.3	 181,522.8	 166,204.7	 193,063.5	 6,523.2	 (397,996.1)	 865,407.1

EBIT before share of  
results of companies  
accounted for using  
the equity method	 11,009.9	 2,927.2	 10,224.8	 11,090.0	 14,821.9	 515.6	 0.0	 50,589.4
Profit before  
income tax (EBT)	 20,071.8	 3,243.6	 208.7	 1,970.8	 23,564.6	 (864.4)	 0.0	 48,195.1
Depreciation	 (11,889.3)	 (206.9)	 (201.5)	 (240.9)	 (1,528.2)	 0.0	 0.0	 (14,066.8)
Finance expenses	 (5,500.3)	 (13.0)	 (14.2)	 (0.4)	 (703.5)	 0.0	 0.0	 (6,231.4)
Financial income	 1,733.3	 7.8	 0.0	 463.5	 1,011.7	 0.0	 0.0	 3,216.3
Share in results of  
companies accounted for  
using the equity method	 0.0	 392.1	 0.0	 228.7	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 620.8

The revenue of the customer that contributed more than 10% of external revenues in 2015 amounted to € 146,615.9 thousand and is associated with the area MENA.

As shown above, depreciation and amortization, financial expenses, finance income, and the share of results of companies accounted for using the equity method  

are allocated according to the locations of Group companies (production-based).

	 Revenues	 Property, plant	 Intangible assets
			   and equipment
in € million	 2015	 2016	 2015	 2016	 2015	 2016

USA	 163,027.4	 187,828.8	 10,902.3	 11,853.3	 11.3	 13.3
Germany	 121,764.1	 161,774.4	 13,225.8	 18,716.2	 2,278.2	 12,007.8
Saudi Arabia	 161,041.2	 87,756.9	 5,687.1	 8,192.5	 0.0	 0.0
Austria	 64,225.5	 57,330.4	 92,166.5	 91,281.8	 9,107.5	 13,228.6
Rest of the world	 355,348.9	 376,122.1	 12,170.1	 16,602.3	 2,132.9	 6,389.3
Group	 865,407.1	 870,812.6	 134,151.8	 146,646.1	 13,529.9	 31,639.0

1	Stationary Fire Protection

SEGMENT REPORTING



100

A. GENERAL 
INFORMATION

A1. Information on the company and the basis of preparation of the financial statements
The Rosenbauer Group is an international group of companies whose parent company is Rosenbauer Inter
national AG, based in Austria. Its main focus is on the production of firefighting vehicles, the development and 
manufacture of firefighting systems, equipping vehicles and their crews and preventive firefighting. The  
Group’s head office is located at Paschinger Strasse 90, 4060 Leonding, Austria. The company is registered  
with the Linz Regional Court under commercial register number FN 78543 f.

These consolidated financial statements of Rosenbauer International AG and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 
2016 were prepared in accordance with the principles of the International Financial Reporting Standards  
(IFRS), as endorsed by the EU, and are expected to be presented by the Executive Board to the Supervisory 
Board for approval for publication in March 2017. The additional requirements of section 245a (1) of the Unter- 
nehmensgesetzbuch (UGB – Austrian Commercial Code) have been complied with.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in thousands of euro (€). Unless stated otherwise,  
the figures in the explanatory notes are presented in thousands of euro. The commercial rounding of individual 
items and percentages may result in minor arithmetic differences.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared applying the historical cost system. This does  
not apply to derivative financial instruments or financial investments available for sale, which were measured  
at fair value.

A2. Effects of new accounting standards
The accounting policies applied in 2016 are basically the same as those used in the previous year.

The following new, revised or supplemented standards have no effect on the consolidated financial statements 
of Rosenbauer International AG:
	 Effective date
Standards/Interpretations	 in the EU
IAS 19 “Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions”  

(published November 2013)	 Feb 1, 2015

Improvements to IFRS (2010–2012) (published December 2013)	 Feb 1, 2015

Improvements to IFRS (2012–2014) (published September 2014)	 Jan 1, 2016

IAS 16 and IAS 41 “Agriculture: Bearer Plants” (published June 2014)	 Jan 1, 2016

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28: Investment Entities –  

Applying the Consolidation Exception (published December 2014)	 Jan 1, 2016

Amendments to IFRS 11: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations  

(published May 2014)	 Jan 1, 2016

Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method (published August 2014)	 Jan 1, 2016

Amendments to IAS 16 and 38: Depreciation and Amortisation  

(published May 2014)	 Jan 1, 2016

Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative (published December 2014)	 Jan 1, 2016

EXPLANATORY NOTES

EXPLANATORY NOTES
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A3. Changes in accounting policies
No new, revised or supplemented IASB standards affecting Rosenbauer’s consolidated financial statements 
were applied for the first time in the 2016 financial year.

The acquisition of the G&S Group at the beginning of 2016 (see note B1.) resulted in a slight change in segment 
reporting. This also necessitated an adjustment of the figures for the previous year. Further information can be 
found under note D28.

A4. Future changes in accounting policies due to new accounting standards
As of the time of these financial statements being approved for publication, in addition to the standards  
and interpretations already applied by the Group, the following standards and interpretations had already been 
published but were not yet effective or had not yet been endorsed by the European Commission. The Group 
intends to adopt these new or amended standards from their effective date.

In July 2014 the IASB published IFRS 9 (“Financial Instrument”), which is effective for the first time for reporting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, and replaces IAS 39 “Financial Instruments”. IFRS 9 contains 
amendments to the categorization and measurement of financial instruments, impairment of financial assets, 
and regulations on hedge accounting. No effect is expected on the classification and measurement of financial 
instruments in the Rosenbauer Group as its business model is geared mainly towards the “holding” of financial 
instruments, and the cash flows of the primary financial instruments consist mostly of principal and interest 
payments. No significant effect is expected in terms of the recognition of impairment losses on financial  
assets as the Group will apply the simplified impairment model for trade and lease receivables. Regarding hedge 
accounting, a preliminary detailed analysis found that more economic hedges in the Rosenbauer Group will 
qualify for hedge accounting than in the past. Therefore the amount of the changes recognized in equity in the 
fair value of hedging instruments that can be designated may rise. It is not yet possible to quantify the effects  
of the first-time adoption of IFRS 9 at present.

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 (“Revenue from Contracts with Customers”). This standard introduces a 
five-step model for accounting for revenue from contracts with customers and sets out a comprehensive frame- 
work for whether, how much, and when revenue should be recognized. The regulations of IFRS 15 redefined  
the concept of the transfer of control. In addition, the standard includes a number of additional regulations  
on detailed issues and an expansion of the necessary disclosures in the notes. IFRS 15 replaces the existing 
regulations on the recognition of revenues, including IAS 18 (“Revenue”), IAS 11 (“Construction Contracts”), and 
IFRIC 13 (“Customer Loyalty Programs”). In April 2016, a number of clarifications to IFRS 15 were published, 
particularly in relation to the identification of separate performance obligation, the distinction between principal 
and agent, and the recognition of license income. These clarifications have not yet been endorsed by the EU.

EXPLANATORY NOTES
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IFRS 15 is effective for the first time for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with either a 
full retrospective approach or a modified retrospective approach being permitted. Earlier adoption is permitted. 
The Group intends to adopt the new standard as of the stipulated effective date and to select the modified 
retrospective approach.

An implementation process is currently being set up to evaluate the effects of IFRS 15 on the consolidated 
financial statements of Rosenbauer. An initial analysis of contractual customer agreements showed that  
the application of IFRS 15 will affect revenue recognition in the field of multi-component contracts in particular 
for the Rosenbauer Group. These provisional estimates may change as a result of further detailed analysis.

The Group operates in areas including vehicle sales and stationary and mobile fire protection and performs 
related services. The vehicles and related equipment and spare parts are sold both in separately identifiable 
contracts and also as combined packages of goods and services. If the performance obligation relates only to 
the delivery of goods, then the revenues are still recognized as of a specific date. For contracts that include  
both a service component and the delivery of goods, the Group anticipates changes in revenue recognition  
due to the new provisions of IFRS 15 with the effect that consideration for individual components will now be 
divided up based on relative individual selling prices and the revenues from these contracts will no longer  
be fully recognized as of a specific date.

Furthermore, when IFRS 15 becomes effective it is currently believed from the management that it will no longer 
be possible to use the percentage of completion method for a majority of the projects presently accounted for 
using this method. This would result in the revenues for these projects no longer being recognized in line with 
the percentage of completion, and instead they would be recognized as of the date of the transfer of control. 
This results in later revenue recognition compared to previous accounting. It is not yet possible to quantify the 
effects of the first-time adoption of IFRS 15 at present.

There are new regulations on accounting for rental and lease contracts under IFRS 16, which was released in 
January 2016 and supersedes IAS 17 and the associated interpretations. In the future, lessees will have to 
recognize assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position for most leases regardless of whether  
they are operating or finance leases under past IAS 17 criteria. While payment obligations for operating leases 
previously had to be recognized as an expense in the income statement and disclosed in the notes, right-of- 
use assets (the value of which is the present value of the future lease payments plus directly attributable costs) 
and – at the same time – lease liabilities for the obligation to make future lease payments must be recognized  
in the future. While the lease liabilities are remeasured in line with financial circumstances over the term of  
the lease as under the regulations of IAS 17, the right-of-use asset is amortized. For lessors there will be only 
minor changes compared to accounting in accordance with IAS 17. The Rosenbauer Group expects a moderate 
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increase in total assets as of the first-time adoption date due to the increase in lease liabilities and a similarly 
high increase in non-current assets due to the rights of use to be capitalized. Depreciation of right-of-use  
assets and the interest expense for the remeasurement of the lease liabilities will be recognized in the income 
statement in the future instead of the current lease expense. This will result in an improvement in EBIT and an 
increase in operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.IFRS 16 also requires the lessee and the lessor  
to publish extensive disclosures in the notes. The standard is effective for financial years beginning on or  
after January 1, 2019. Earlier adoption is permitted, but only if the company also adopts IFRS 15. Rosenbauer 
will begin analyzing the effects of IFRS 16 more closely in the 2017 financial year. Please see note D1. for  
further information on the quantification of the effects of the first-time adoption of IFRS 16. Further evaluation  
is still pending.

No significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of Rosenbauer International AG is expected  
from the following standards/interpretations.
	 Effective date
	 according	 according to
Standards/Interpretations	 to IASB	 EU-endorsement
Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure Initiative  

(published January 2016)	 Jan 1, 2017	 Not yet applied

IAS 12 “Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets  

for Unrealised Losses” (published January 2016)	 Jan 1, 2017	 Not yet applied

Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and  

Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions  

(published June 2016)	 Jan 1, 2018	 Not yet applied

Amendments to IFRS 4: Applying IFRS 9 “Financial  

Instruments ”with IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”  

(published September 2016)	 Jan 1, 2018	 Not yet applied

Improvements to IFRS (2014–2016)	 Jan 1, 2017/ 

(published December 2016)	 Jan 1, 2018	 Not yet applied

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution  

of Assets between an Investor and its Associate  

(published September 2014)	 Not yet applied	 Not yet applied

IFRIC Interpretation 22: Foreign Currency Transaction  

and Advance Consideration (pbulished December 2016)	 Jan 1, 2018	 Not yet applied

Amendments to IAS 40: Transfer of Investmenty Property  

(published December 2016)	 Jan 1, 2018	 Not yet applied
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B1. Basis of consolidation
The companies included in the consolidated financial statements are shown in the list of investees (see  
note E3. “Related party disclosures”).

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are investees controlled by the parent company. The parent company controls an investee when  
it has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and the ability to utilize its 
control over the material activities of the investee so as to influence the amount of returns from the investee.

The parent company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate  
that there are changes to one or more of the above criteria for control.

If the parent company does not have a majority of voting rights, the investee is still controlled if it has the 
practical ability to direct the relevant activities unilaterally. At the subsidiaries where Rosenbauer International 
AG does not directly or indirectly hold more than half of the voting rights, control is contractually assured.

Thus, in accordance with IFRS 10, in addition to the parent company there are two Austrian and 24 foreign 
subsidiaries legally or constructively controlled by Rosenbauer International AG.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins from the date the parent company obtains control of the subsidiary  
and ceases when the parent company loses control of the subsidiary. All the subsidiaries included are included 
in consolidation.

Associates and joint ventures (Companies accounted for using the equity method)
An associate is an investee over which the parent company has significant influence. Significant influence is  
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an investee, though it is not controlled 
and its decision-making processes are not jointly controlled.

A joint venture is a subcategory of joint arrangement as defined by IFRS 11, which is jointly controlled by the 
parties involved and in which the parties involved have a right to the net assets. Joint control requires the 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement and exists only when decisions about the relevant 
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties involved.

Shares in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method and recognized at cost on 
addition. The carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the investor’s share of the profit or loss  
of the companies accounted for using the equity method after the date of acquisition. The Group’s share  
of the profit or loss of the companies accounted for using the equity method is recognized in profit or loss from 
the acquisition date.

The shares in the associate in Russia (PA “Fire-fighting special technics” LLC.; Rosenbauer’s share: 49%),  
which was founded with Russian partners, and the shares in the joint venture in Spain founded with  

B. CONSOLI­
DATION 
PRINCIPLES
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the joint owner and manager of Rosenbauer Española (Rosenbauer Ciansa S.L.; Rosenbauer’s share: 50%)  
are accounted for using the equity method.
		  Companies
		  accounted
	 Companies	 for using the
	 consolidated	 equity method
	 2015	 2016	 2015	 2016
As of Jan 1	 22	 22	 2	 2

Acquisitions	 0	 5	 0	 0

As of Dec 31	 22	 27	 2	 2

Acquisitions and purchases of non-controlling interests in 2016
G&S Brandschutztechnik AG
At the start of 2016, 100% of shares in G&S Brandschutztechnik AG, Mogendorf, Germany, were acquired  
via a wholly owned subsidiary of Rosenbauer International AG. The company was included in consolidation for 
the first time as of January 1, 2016, on the basis of a provisional purchase price allocation. The final measure-
ment of the purchase price allocation was completed in December 2016 and thus within twelve months of  
the acquisition date.

The G&S Group operates in the field of preventive firefighting. It designs, manufactures, installs and services 
both stationary standard and special extinguishing systems and fire alarm systems. The Group has VdS  
approval as an installer for all major trades and builds plants worldwide in line with all known international 
standards. 2016 the company generated revenues of € 16.2 million with 128 employees and an operating  
result of € 0.6 million.

With its acquisition of the G&S Group, Rosenbauer is expanding its portfolio in preventive firefighting and  
paving the way for its planned growth in this segment.

The measurement of the purchase price allocation is final. The net assets acquired declined from € 6,589.3 thou- 
sand to € 5,854.4 thousand as a result of a re-evaluation of the intangible assets.

in € thousand	 2016
Purchase price paid in cash	 10,000.0

Total purchase price	 10,000.0

Total acquired net assets (100%)	 5,854.4

Goodwill	 4,145.6

The goodwill arising from the acquisition essentially reflects the anticipated benefits from expanding the  
market and from synergies. The goodwill cannot be used for tax purposes.
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The acquired net assets break down as follows:

in € thousand	 Jan 1, 2016
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment	 2,622.5

Intangible assets	 5,989.0

	 8,611.5
Current assets
Inventories	 642.2

Receivables and other assets	 3,398.0

Cash and cash equivalents	 758.8

	 4,799.0
Non-current liabilities
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities	 1,334.3

Other non-current liabilities	 100.0

Deferred tax liabilities	 1,758.2

	 3,192.5
Current liabilities
Current interest-bearing liabilities	 382.6

Trade payables	 907.8

Other current liabilities	 1,985.2

Other provisions	 1,088.0

	 4,363.6
Acquired net assets	 5,854.4

The fair value of the receivables is € 3,398.0 thousand. The gross amount of the receivables is also  
€ 3,398.0 thousand. No trade receivables were impaired, and all contractually defined receivables are expected  
to be collectible.

The net cash flow from the acquisition is as follows:

Net cash flow from investing activities in € thousand	 2016
Purchase price paid in cash	 (10,000.0)

less cash and cash equivalents	 758.8

Net cash flow from acquisition	 (9,241.2)

Mi Star d.o.o.
By way of an asset deal, the Slovenian production company Rosenbauer d.o.o. acquired the Slovenian com- 
pany Mi Star d.o.o. in January 2016. The company was included in consolidation for the first time as of January 1, 
2016, on the basis of a provisional purchase price allocation. The final measurement of the purchase price 
allocation was completed in December 2016 and thus within twelve months of the acquisition date.
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Mi Star has worked for Rosenbauer as a sales partner for two decades and exclusively sells firefighting vehicles, 
extinguishing technology and equipment. 2015 the company generated revenues of € 5.5 million with eleven 
employees.

The measurement of the purchase price allocation is final. There was no essential change in the acquired net 
assets in comparison to the provisional purchase price allocation.

in € thousand	 2016
Purchase price paid in cash	 423.2

Consideration not yet due	 211.2

Liabilities assumed by the seller	 165.6

Total purchase price	 800.0

Total acquired net assets (100%)	 770.2

Goodwill	 29.8

The goodwill arising from the acquisition essentially reflects the anticipated benefits from expanding the  
market and from synergies. The goodwill cannot be used for tax purposes.

The acquired net assets of € 770.2 thousand break down as follows:

in € thousand	 Jan 1, 2016
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment	 133.7

Intangible assets	 218.1

	 351.8
Current assets
Inventories	 239.2

Receivables and other assets	 988.2

Cash and cash equivalents	 513.7

	 1,741.1
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities	 37.1

	 37.1
Current liabilities
Current interest-bearing liabilities	 76.9

Trade payables	 1,033.5

Other current liabilities	 175.2

	 1,285.6
Acquired net assets	 770.2
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The fair value of the receivables is € 988.2 thousand. The gross amount of the receivables is also  
€ 988.2 thousand. No trade receivables were impaired, and all contractually defined receivables are expected  
to be collectible.

The net cash flow from the acquisition is as follows:

Net cash flow from investing activities in € thousand	 2016
Purchase price paid in cash	 (423.2)

less cash and cash equivalents	 513.7

Net cash flow from acquisition	 90.5

Rosenbauer Rovereto Srl
In July 2016, Rosenbauer International AG acquired shares in a company founded by the Italian manufacturer 
CTE SpA in 2016. The company operates under the name Rosenbauer Rovereto Srl and is based in Rovereto. 
Rosenbauer’s share in this company amounts to 70%.

As part of the acquisition of Rosenbauer Rovereto in 2016, the Group granted the non-controlling shareholders  
a right that can be exercised at any time from the beginning of August 2017 to tender their shares to the  
Group, and also committed to the Group purchasing the shares tendered in such cases. In addition, the Group 
acquired the right to purchase the shares held by non-controlling shareholders at any time from the start  
of August 2017 (put and call option). The same conditions apply to both options. The purchase price for the  
first 36 months is calculated from the pro rata enterprise value of the company as of the acquisition date accord- 
ing to the purchase price agreement, plus the amount of any capital increases by the exercise date. After  
36 months, this fixed purchase price will convert into a variable purchase price dependent on the average 
EBITDA over a period of three years and Rosenbauer Rovereto’s net debt.

The non-controlling shareholder remains fully entitled to dividend payments until one of the two options is 
exercised. The distribution policy is entirely controlled by the Rosenbauer Group. Taking all these circum- 
stances into account, management therefore assumes that Rosenbauer is the beneficial owner of the shares 
covered by this option until one of the options is exercised. Details on this option can be found under note 
B2. “Methods of consolidation”.

The company was included in consolidation for the first time as of July 7, 2016, on the basis of a provisional 
purchase price allocation and was included in the consolidated financial statements as a fully consolidated 
subsidiary. The final measurement of the purchase price allocation was completed in December 2016 and thus 
within twelve months of the acquisition date.

The measurement of the purchase price allocation is final. The acquired net assets increased from € 1,184.5 thou- 
sand to € 3,214.2 thousand because of a further evaluation of intangible assets.
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in € thousand	 2016
Purchase price paid in cash	 3,150.0

Liabilities from callable non-controlling interests	 1,350.0

Total purchase price	 4,500.0

Total acquired net assets (100%)	 3,214.2

Goodwill	 1,285.8

The goodwill arising from the foundation of the company essentially reflects the anticipated benefits from 
expanding the market and from synergies. The goodwill cannot be used for tax purposes.

The acquired net assets break down as follows:

in € thousand	 Jul 7, 2016
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment	 247.9

Intangible assets	 3,222.2

	 3,470.1
Current assets
Inventories	 789.2

Cash and cash equivalents	 138.2

	 927.4
Non-current liabities
Deferred tax liabilities	 869.9

	 869.9
Current liabilities
Other current liabilities	 313.4

	 313.4
Acquired net assets	 3,214.2

The fair value of the receivables is € 0.0 thousand. The gross amount of the receivables is also € 0.0 thousand.

The net cash flow from the acquisition is as follows:

Net cash flow from investing activities in € thousand	 2016
Purchase price paid in cash	 (3,150.0)

less cash and cash equivalents	 138.2

Net cash flow from acquisition	 (3,011.8)

Since the foundation the company has, generated revenues of € 1,184.3 thousand and earnings after taxes  
of € –902.8 thousand in the months July to December 2016.
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Service18 S.A.R.L.
On June 1, 2016, the Group acquired another 16% of the shares in Service18 S.A.R.L. (France) from the  
former co-partner, causing its stake to increase to 100%. Consideration of € 1 was paid to the owner in cash. 
The carrying amount of the non-controlling interests was negative as of the acquisition date and amounted to  
€ –118.6 thousand. The difference between the purchase price and the carrying amount of the non-controlling 
interests was recognized within equity in other comprehensive income.

Acquisitions in 2015
There were no acquisitions or business combinations as defined in IFRS 3 in the 2015 financial year.

B2. Methods of consolidation
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of a business acquisition  
is calculated as the total of the consideration transferred, measured at fair value as of the acquisition date, and 
the non-controlling interests in the company acquired. For each business combination, the acquirer measures 
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s propor- 
tionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Costs incurred in the business combination are recog-
nized under other expenses.

The goodwill from purchase price allocation is not amortized annually, rather it is tested for impairment annually. 
The annual financial statements of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements are based  
on uniform accounting policies. The separate financial statements of the companies included were prepared as 
of the same date as the consolidated financial statements. All receivables and liabilities, expenses and income 
between companies included in the consolidated financial statements are eliminated, as are intercompany 
profits and losses.

Non-controlling interests represent the share of earnings and net assets not attributable to the Group as all 
non-controlling interests in the Group are measured at the value of the pro rata, remeasured net assets  
(partial goodwill method). Non-controlling interests are reported separately in the consolidated income state-
ment and the consolidated statement of financial position. They are reported in the consolidated statement  
of financial position under equity but separately from the equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent 
company. Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as equity transactions. The difference 
between the purchase price and the carrying amount of the pro rata acquired net assets is off set against 
accumulated net profits.

Callable or temporary interests in the equity of subsidiaries with options to sell on the part of non-controlling 
shareholders represent financial liabilities for the Rosenbauer Group. In accordance with IAS 39, these are 
initially recognized at the fair value of the repurchase amount and subsequently remeasured at amortized cost 
in profit or loss as of the end of each reporting period. If the Rosenbauer Group is the beneficial owner of  
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these shares, initial consolidation is carried out as a completed acquisition, i.e. the shares affected by the option 
to sell are attributed to the Rosenbauer Group from the outset. The difference between the net assets attribut-
able to these shares and the fair value of the corresponding liability as of the date of initial consolidation is 
recognized as goodwill. As a consequence of the acquisition of the shares being brought forward, the entire 
results of the subsidiaries in question are attributed to the Rosenbauer Group. Dividend payments to non-con-
trolling shareholders are recognized as an expense in net finance costs.

B3. Currency translation
The annual financial statements of the entities included in the consolidated financial statements that prepare 
their accounts in foreign currency are translated into euro in line with the functional currency concept in accor- 
dance with IAS 21. As the companies conduct their business as financially, economically, and organizationally 
independent entities, this is the respective national currency for all companies. All assets and liabilities are 
therefore translated at the respective mean rate of exchange at the end of the reporting period while expenses 
and income are translated at average rates for the year.

Differences from foreign currency translation in asset and liability items as against the previous year’s trans- 
lation and translation differences between the consolidated statement of financial position and the consolidated 
income statement are recognized in other comprehensive income.

The translation difference arising from remeasurement of equity as against first-time consolidation is off set 
against consolidated reserves in other comprehensive income. Translation differences as of the end of the 
reporting period of € 2,798.5 thousand (2015: € 5,553.5 thousand) were transferred to other comprehensive 
income in the year under review.

The exchange rates on which currency translation is based developed as follows:

	 Closing rate	 Annual average rate
in €	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
100 US dollars	 91.7263	 94.6253	 90.1046	 90.5121

100 Swiss francs	 92.3446	 92.9973	 93.5614	 91.5940

100 Singapore dollars	 64.8635	 65.6383	 65.6075	 65.5662

100 Brunei dollars	 64.8635	 65.6383	 65.6075	 65.5662

100 South African rands	 5.8841	 6.9204	 7.0627	 6.1529

100 Saudi riyals	 24.4081	 25.2493	 24.0168	 24.1235

100 Russian rubles	 1.2435	 1.5461	 1.4644	 1.3545

100 British pounds	 136.0915	 116.4822	 137.7727	 122.2737
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B4. Fair value measurement
Financial instruments, such as derivatives are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value is defined 
as the price that would have to be received from the sale of an asset or that would have to be paid for the 
transfer of a liability between market participants as part of an orderly transaction on the measurement date.  
In measuring fair value it is assumed that the transaction in which the asset is sold or the liability is transferred 
takes place on the principal market for the asset or liability, of the most advantageous market if there is  
no principal market. Rosenbauer measures fair value using assumptions that market participants would use  
in pricing. It is assumed that the market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value measure-
ment of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits  
by using the asset in its highest and best use.

In calculating fair value Rosenbauer uses measurement methods that are appropriate under the respective 
circumstances and for which there is sufficient data available to measure fair value, using observable inputs 
where possible.

The following hierarchy is used in the consolidated financial statements to determine and report the fair values 
of financial instruments by measurement method:

p	 Level 1: Quoted (non-adjusted) prices on active markets for similar assets or liabilities
p	 Level 2: Methods in which all the input parameters that significantly affect the calculation of fair value  

are either directly or indirectly observable
p	 Level 3: Method in which the input parameters that significantly affect the calculation of fair value  

are not based on observable market data

For all classes of financial instruments other than non-current interest-bearing loan liabilities, the carrying 
amount is equal to the fair value.

The principle of uniform accounting is implemented by applying the same policies throughout the Group.

C1. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are measured at the lower of cost less depreciation and cumulative impairment 
or recoverable amount. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method from the time it is in the 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the 
fair value of the other consideration given to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition or construction.

C. ACCOUNT- 
ING POLICIES
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The following depreciation rates are used:

Plant buildings and other constructions	 3.00% – 10.00%

Office buildings	 2.00% – 4.00%

Technical equipment and machinery	 10.00% – 25.00%

Other equipment, furniture and fixture	 10.00% – 33.33%

The residual carrying amounts, depreciation method and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and adjusted as necessary.

As of December 31, 2016, and in the previous year, there was no investment property held to earn rentals  
or for capital appreciation. The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use  
or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset in question. All other borrowing costs are recognized as  
an expense in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs are interest and other costs that an entity 
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs for all qualifying assets on which work 
commenced on or after January 1, 2009 are capitalized in the consolidated financial statements. No significant 
construction projects have been begun since January 1, 2009.

If there is evidence of impairment for financial assets and the recoverable amount – the higher of the value in 
use or fair value less costs of disposal – is less than the respective carrying amount, the assets are written  
down to recoverable amount in accordance with IAS 36 (“Impairment of Assets”). If the reasons for an impair-
ment loss recognized in the previous year no longer apply, the impairment loss is reversed. Property, plant  
and equipment and intangible assets are derecognized either on disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset cannot be calculated, the asset is included in a cash-generating unit  
(CGU) and tested for impairment, using the value in use as the recoverable amount. In the Rosenbauer Group 
usually the legally separate business units each form a CGU. The legally separate business units of the  
G&S Group are an exception to this principle, as the cash inflows of these units are dependent on one another. 
In this case, the legally separate business units of the G&S Group form one CGU.

An impairment loss recognized previously is only reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If this is the case, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. However, this amount must not increase 
the carrying amount of an asset above the carrying amount that would have been determined for the asset had 
no impairment loss been recognized in prior years. Such a reversal of an impairment loss is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss.
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A government grant is recognized if there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and that the 
entity will comply with the conditions attached to it. Grants relating to expenses are recognized as income  
on a systematic basis over the period necessary to match them with the costs they are intended to compen- 
sate. Grants for assets are shown in the consolidated statement of financial position as deferred income.  
The deferred income included in other liabilities is reversed to profit or loss over the expected useful life of  
the asset in question in equal annual installments.

Determining whether an arrangement is a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the time  
it is concluded and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the 
use of a specific asset or assets and whether the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

C2. Intangible assets
Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method.

The following amortization rates are used:

Rights	 25.00% – 33.33%

Customer base	 10.00%

Technology	 7.00% – 10.00%

Development costs	 10.00% – 25.00%

Other intangible assets	 25.00% – 33.33%

The amortization period and the amortization method for intangible assets with a finite useful life are reviewed  
at least at the end of each financial year. Amortization of intangible assets is reported in “Depreciation and 
amortization expense on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets”.

Goodwill
Goodwill in accordance with IFRS 3 is not amortized but rather tested for impairment annually and whenever 
there are indications it has become impaired. Goodwill is assigned to the cash-generating units that are 
expected to profit from the business acquisition in order to perform impairment testing. A key criterion for 
qualifying as a cash-generating unit is its technical and economic independence for generating income. Impair-
ment on a cash-generating unit is calculated by comparing its current amortized carrying amount (including  
the goodwill assigned) with the value in use. The value in use is calculated as the present value of the associated 
future receipts and payments based on data from medium-term corporate planning. Cash flows incurred after  
a period of three years are extrapolated using the forecast average industry growth of 1% (2015: 1%).
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The table below summarizes key assumptions for each cash-generating unit:

		  Average	 Annual	 Discount
	 Period of	 annual	 margin	 rate
	 cash flow	 increase in	 develop-	 before
	 forecasts	 revenues	 ment	 taxes
2016
Rosenbauer d.o.o.	 3 years	 11%	 Constantly	 12.0%

			   rising

Rosenbauer UK plc	 3 years	 18%	 Constantly	 9.6%

			   rising

G&S Group	 3 years	 6%	 Constantly	 6.7%

			   rising

Rosenbauer Rovereto Srl	 3 years	 16%	 Constantly	 11.8%

			   rising

2015
Rosenbauer d.o.o.	 3 years	 9%	 Constantly	 13.3%

			   rising

Rosenbauer UK plc	 3 years	 32%	 Constantly	 11.1%

			   rising

The assumptions regarding revenue development are based on past results, industry forecasts and external 
market data such as the development of gross domestic product (GDP), inflation rates, exchange rates,  
population and other parameters. The cost drivers and additions to assets are based on empirical values and 
internal expectations. The discount rate is calculated based on current market data for similar enterprises in  
the same branch of industry.

In the assumptions used there is estimation uncertainty regarding earnings, the change in working capital, 
investment and the discount rate.

A sensitivity analysis in which discount rates were raised by 50 basis points did not identify any impairment. In 
addition, the sensitivity analysis showed that given a reduction in EBIT of 10% for 2017 to 2019, with all other 
parameters remaining constant, the carrying amounts would still be covered and there would no impairment 
requirement.

For the purposes of the goodwill impairment test, the legally independent business units were generally defined 
as goodwill-carrying CGUs based on internal monitoring of goodwill. The legally separate business units of the 
G&S Group are an exception to this principle, as the cash inflows of these units are dependent on one another. 
In this case, the legally separate business units of the G&S Group form one CGU for the purposes of the goodwill 
impairment test. The table below shows the carrying amounts of the existing goodwill for each CGU:
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in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Rosenbauer d.o.o.	 813.6	 843.4

Rosenbauer UK plc	 349.9	 336.8

G&S Group	 0.0	 4,145.6

Rosenbauer Rovereto Srl	 0.0	 1,285.8

	 1,163.5	 6,611.6

All capitalized goodwill is tested for impairment. If the carrying amount of the CGU to which the goodwill  
was allocated exceeds its recoverable amount, then impairment is recognized on the goodwill allocated to this 
CGU in the amount of the difference. If the impairment loss exceeds the carrying amount of the goodwill,  
the remaining impairment is divided up based on the carrying amounts of each individual asset of the CGU.  
The carrying amount of an asset must not be written down below a determinable net realizable value or value  
in use or below zero. Impairment losses on goodwill cannot be reversed in accordance with IAS 36.

Research and development
Research costs are not capitalized under IAS 38 (“Intangible Assets”) and are therefore shown directly and  
in full in the income statement.

Development costs intended to significantly advance a product or process are only capitalized in accordance 
with IAS 38 if the product or process is technically and economically feasible, it can be marketed and will 
generate future economic benefit, the expenses can be reliably measured and Rosenbauer has sufficient 
resources to complete the development project. All other development expenses are recognized immediately  
in profit or loss. Capitalized development expenses for completed projects are reported at cost less cumulative 
write-downs. As long as a development project has not been completed, the cumulative amounts recognized  
are tested for impairment annually or whenever there are indications that they may have become impaired.

Development costs of € 3,631.6 thousand were capitalized in the 2016 financial year (2015: € 4,408.9 thousand).

C3. Securities
Securities are assigned to the available for sale category. Financial assets held for sale are measured at fair 
value after first-time recognition. Unrealized gains or losses are recognized in other comprehensive income, in 
the reserve for unrealized gains. On disposal of financial investments the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income in the revaluation surplus is reclassified to the income statement. If 
a financial asset held for sale is impaired, the cumulative loss previously recognized in other comprehensive 
income in the revaluation surplus is recognized in the income statement. Interest received or paid for financial 
investments are reported as interest income or interest expenses.
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C4. Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are recognized on all taxable temporary differences between the value in the IFRS consoli- 
dated statement of financial position and the tax accounts. They are calculated in accordance with IAS 12  
using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences, except for the deferred tax liabilities arising from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

Furthermore, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized for taxable temporary differences in connection  
with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint ventures if the timing of the reversal of the  
temporary difference can be controlled and it is likely that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Current tax assets and tax liabilities for the current and earlier period are measured  
at the amount expected to be refunded by the tax authority/paid to the tax authority. Current taxes on items 
recognized in other comprehensive income are not recognized in the income statement but rather in other 
comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets on loss carryforwards are recognized if their utilization is expected in the foreseeable  
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is assessed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to  
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which the deferred 
tax asset can be at least partially utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are assessed at the end of each 
reporting period and recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow 
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period  
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled.

Current taxes are calculated using the tax rates and laws that apply as of the end of the reporting period.

C5. Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value (market price) at the end of the reporting 
period. The cost is calculated for assets of the same type using moving average prices or a similar method.  
The cost includes only the directly attributable costs and pro rata overheads assuming the normal utilization  
rate of the production facilities. Interest is not recognized for borrowed capital.
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C6. Construction contracts
Construction contracts that satisfy the requirement of a reliable earnings estimate are measured using the 
percentage of completion method. The percentage of completion is mainly estimated by the ratio of costs 
incurred to the estimated total costs (cost to cost). Only vehicle bodies are included in the estimate to calculate 
the percentage of completion. If the result of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract 
income is recognized only to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.  
If it is likely that the total cost of the production will exceed its total proceeds the expected loss is expensed 
immediately.

C7. Receivables
Trade receivables are measured at amortized cost. Impairment losses are recognized if there are objective 
indications of impairment in accordance with IAS 39. Impairment losses are derecognized when the underlying 
receivables are classified as uncollectible. Other receivables and assets are measured at amortized cost. 
However, in addition to other receivables these include derivative financial instruments in hedges and derivative 
financial instruments to which hedge accounting does not apply.

The fair value of financial assets which are traded on organized markets is determined on the basis of the  
quoted market price (bid price) at the end of the reporting period.

At the end of each reporting period the Group determines if a financial asset or a group of assets has become 
impaired.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables measured at amortized cost  
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i. e. the effective interest rate computed  
at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account. The 
impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.

It is first assessed whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial 
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impair- 
ment and for which an impairment loss is recognized are not included in an assessment of impairment on a  
portfolio basis.
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A financial asset (or part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized when it  
meets one of the following three conditions:

a)	The contractual rights to receive the cash flows of that financial asset have expired.

b)	The Group retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of a financial asset, but assumes  
a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows immediately to a third party in an arrangement that meets 
the conditions of IAS 39.19 (“Pass-through Arrangement”).

c)	The Group has transferred the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset and either 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset or neither transferred  
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

Financial assets are measured at fair value on first-time recognition.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized as of the settlement date, i. e. the date  
on which the company commits to purchasing the asset. Regular way purchases and sales are purchases and 
sales of financial assets with delivery within the time frame established by market regulation or convention.

Loans and receivables are measured at amortized costs using the effective interest method less any impair- 
ment losses. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the receivable is derecognized or becomes 
impaired. Receivables in foreign currency are measured at the mean rate of exchange as of the end of the 
reporting period.

C8. Cash in hand
The cash and cash equivalents reported under “Cash and cash equivalents” such as cash in hand and bank 
balances are measured at current cost at the end of the reporting period.

C9. Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are usually recognized at the effective portion of fair value in other comprehen-
sive income in line with the hedge accounting regulations of IAS 39 (“Financial Instruments”) if the financial 
instruments are for hedge accounting. Gains and losses from changes in the fair value of derivative financial 
instruments during the financial year that do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting, and the ineffective 
portion of an effective hedging instrument is recognized in profit or loss. As of the date of the hedged item being 
recognized, the result of the hedge will be reclassified from other comprehensive income to the income state- 
ment. When the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the hedge no longer exists but 
the proposed transaction is still expected to occur, the unrealized gains/losses accrued from this hedging 
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instrument to date remain in equity and, in accordance with the above, are recognized in profit or loss when  
the hedged item is recognized in the income statement. If the originally hedged transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative unrealized gains and losses in equity until then are also recognized in  
profit or loss. They are derecognized on loss of control. Derivatives that are assets at the end of the reporting 
period are reported under current receivables; those that are liabilities are reported under other current 
liabilities. The hedging policy and the financial instruments in place as of the end of the reporting period are 
described in more detail under D30. “Risk management”.

C10. Non-current staff obligations
Defined benefit plans
On the basis of statutory obligations, employees of Austrian Group companies who joined before December 31, 
2002 receive a one-time settlement in the event of termination or as of the retirement date. This is dependent 
on the number of years of service and the relevant remuneration at the time of settlement. The benefit  
obligations are offset by provisions calculated in line with actuarial principles. The provision for defined benefit 
plans recognized in the statement of financial position is equal to the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation (DBO) at the end of the reporting period. Provisions for settlement are calculated uniformly as of  
the end of the reporting period in line with the projected unit credit method using an interest rate of 1.5% p.a. 
(2015: 2.25% p.a.) and including a growth rate for future pay increases of 4.0% p.a. (2015: 4.0% p.a.). Interest 
expenses on staff provisions are recognized as finance cost. The discount rate is determined on the basis  
of yields on prime, fixed rate corporate bonds with a rating of AA or better. The term of the bonds matches the 
expected maturities of the defined benefit obligations.

In addition to disability and mortality rates (basis: Pagler & Pagler data) and retirement on reaching pension  
age, the turnover rate was set at between 0% and 1.66% (2015: 1.5%) depending on the number of years  
of service completed. The calculation is based on individual retirement age in accordance with the Austrian 
Pension Reform, taking into account the gradual achievement of retirement age.

The provision amounts are calculated by an actuary as of the end of the respective reporting period in the form 
of an actuarial report.

In accordance with IAS 19, the remeasurement of provisions for pensions and similar obligations, and of 
settlement obligations, is recognized in other comprehensive income.

For the pension commitments in place that were determined under works agreements, the scope of benefits is 
based on eligible years of service in the form of a fixed amount per year. This fixed amount is based on the 
eligible individual income on retirement. Current pensions are regularly reviewed to ensure that they maintain 
their value. Current pensions are paid out 14 times per year.
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The calculation of pension obligations is based on the following parameters:

	 Interest rate	 Salary increase	 Pension increase
	 2015	 2016	 2015	 2016	 2015	 2016
Austria	 2.25%	 1.5%	 4.0%	 4.0%	 3.5%	 3.5%

Germany	 2.25%	 1.5%	 1.0%	 1.0%	 1.0%	 1.0%

Defined contribution plans
In addition to the defined benefit system, there is a defined contribution plan for employees in Austria who 
joined after January 1, 2003. An amount prescribed by law of 1.53% of gross total salary must be paid into an 
employee pension fund (2016: € 740.0 thousand; 2015: € 707.1 thousand), which is recognized in staff  
costs. Furthermore, amounts of € 450.8 thousand (2015: € 405.8 thousand) in Austria and € 1,020.2 thousand 
(2015: € 1,039.9 thousand) in the United States were paid into a pension system that constitutes a defined 
contribution plan. In Germany contributions of € 2,742.8 thousand (2015: € 2,553.1 thousand) were paid into 
the German pension plan that also constitutes a defined contribution plan. As there are no further commitments 
other than these contributions, as in Austria, no provisions were required.

Other non-current staff obligations
Provisions for anniversary bonuses are calculated uniformly as of the end of the reporting period in line with  
the projected unit credit method using an interest rate of 1.75% p.a. (2015: 2.25% p.a.) and including a growth 
rate for future pay increases of 4.0% p.a. (2015: 4.0% p.a.). In addition, further to disability and mortality  
rates (basis: Pagler & Pagler data) and retirement on reaching pension age, turnover rates of between 0% and 
6.35% (2015: 1.5%) depending on the number of years of service completed were taken into account.

C11. Other provisions
Other current and non-current provisions include all risks from uncertain obligations from past events by the 
time of the preparation of the statement of financial position. If such obligations will probably lead to an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits, they are carried at the amount considered the most likely given a 
careful review of the matter.

If the Group expects at least a partial reimbursement for a recognized provision, (for example, from an insurance 
policy), the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset if it is as good as certain. The expense relating to 
the provision is reported in the income statement net of the amount recognized for reimbursement. Where the 
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects the 
risks specific to the liability, if necessary in the individual case. The increase in provisions over time in the event 
of discounting is recognized in net finance costs.
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C12. Liabilities
Liabilities are measured at cost (equal to fair value) on first-time recognition. They are subsequently measured  
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Liabilities in foreign currency are measured at the mean 
rate of exchange as of the end of the reporting period.

Financial liabilities from callable non-controlling interests are measured at amortized cost as of the end of the 
reporting period. Gains and losses from this remeasurement are recognized under net finance costs.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or 
expires. If a financial liability is exchanged for a different financial liability to the same lender with substantially 
different terms or if the terms of an existing financial liability are substantially changed, such an exchange  
or change of terms is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.

C13. Revenue recognition
Proceeds from the sale of goods are recognized when the risks and rewards have been transferred to the buyer. 
Interest income is recognized pro rata temporis taking into account the effective yield on the asset. Dividend 
income is reported when the legal right to payment arises. Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the leases. For long-term contracts extending beyond the end of the reporting period, revenue 
is recognized in line with the percentage of completion method (for details see note C6.).

C14. Currency translation
Monetary items in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the end of each reporting 
period using the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items recognized in line  
with the historical cost principle are still reported using the exchange rate at the time of first-time recognition. 
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign exchange differences from the translation  
of monetary items are recognized in profit or loss. This does not include foreign exchange differences from 
foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation.

C15. Estimates and judgments
In the consolidated financial statements, to a certain degree, estimates and assumptions must be made that 
affect the recognized assets and liabilities, the disclosure of other obligations at the end of the reporting period 
and the reporting of income and expenses during the reporting period. The actual amounts that arise in the 
future can differ from estimates.
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The most important assumptions about the future that entail a significant risk in the form of a material adjust-
ment of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are explained below:

Purchase price allocation
In purchase price allocation in the context of business acquisitions, assumptions are made regarding the 
existence and measures of the assets acquired (especially intangible assets), liabilities and contingent liabilities. 
Assumptions are made in calculating fair values for purchase price allocation, in particular concerning forecast 
cash flows and the discount rate (details of business acquisitions can be found in note B1.).

Assessment of control of subsidiaries and joint management of joint ventures
Please see notes D12. and D4. for information on the judgments and assumptions made in classifying Rosen- 
bauer Motors and Rosenbauer Aerials as subsidiaries and classifying Rosenbauer Ciansa as a joint venture.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Impairment testing at the Rosenbauer Group is based on calculations of value in use using a discounted  
cash flow method. The recoverable amount is highly dependent on the discount rate used in the discounted  
cash flow method and on forecast future cash flows (details of the impairment of non-financial assets can  
be found in note C2.).

Measurement of receivables
Receivables require assumptions regarding the probability of default (details on receivables can be found in  
notes D5. “Non-current receivables” and D9. “Current receivables”).

Inventory measurement
A standardized marketability and visibility write-down was implemented to take into account the risk of  
obsoleteness. Finished goods are also systematically reviewed in terms of measurement at the lower of cost  
or market value, which is essentially defined by sales price expectations, currency developments, the time of 
sale and the costs still anticipated (for details see note D7.).

Deferred tax assets
Tax planning is used as the basis for the capitalization of deferred tax assets, taking into account the business 
planning by subsidiaries. If, on the basis of these future forecasts, a loss carryforward is not expected to be 
used within an appropriate period of three to five years, the loss carryforward is not recognized. Deferred tax 
assets of € 6,795.2 thousand as of December 31, 2016 were recognized on tax loss carryforwards (2015:  
€ 7,483.2 thousand).There were loss carryforwards of € 0.0 thousand in 2016 (2015: € 0.0 thousand) for  
which deferred tax assets were not recognized as their effectiveness as ultimate tax relief was not sufficiently 
assured.
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Staff provisions
The Rosenbauer Group uses actuarial calculations from actuaries for staff provisions. The calculations are  
based on assumptions regarding the discount rate and increases in remuneration and pensions (details of the 
assumptions and the amounts recognized for staff provisions can be found in notes C10. and D15.).

Other provisions
The amount recognized as a provision for warranties is the present value of the best estimate of these costs 
based on past experience (2016: € 12,174.5 thousand; 2015: € 10,652.5 thousand).

Legal proceedings are pending against Rosenbauer International AG in Austria for an alleged infringement  
of provisions of the Foreign Trade Act with commercial products. As a realistic assessment of the matter is not 
possible at the present time, the Group has not taken any accounting measures.

Legal proceedings are pending against Rosenbauer International AG and a number of Rosenbauer Group 
companies in Toronto, Canada, due to an alleged product defect. As a realistic assessment of the matter is not 
possible at the present time, the Group has not taken any accounting measures.

A civil antitrust lawsuit has been filed against a company of the Rosenbauer Group. An appropriate provision  
has been recognized.

Development costs
Development costs were capitalized in line with the accounting policies presented. First-time recognition of 
costs is based on the management assessment that technical feasibility and commercial viability have been 
demonstrated. For the purposes of calculating the amounts to be capitalized, the management makes assump-
tions regarding the forecast future cash flows from the project, the applicable discount rates and the period 
when the forecast future benefit will be received. The carrying amount of capitalized development costs  
was € 13,236.8 thousand (2015: € 9,903.7 thousand) as of December 31, 2016 and essentially relates to 
development services for vehicles, high-rise aerial appliances and firefighting systems. The impairment test of 
capitalized development costs was performed at CGU level. To do this, the capitalized development projects 
were assigned to the relevant CGUs and tested for impairment with their carrying amounts.

Cash flow hedges
In accounting for cash flow hedges for future cash flows it is assumed that these cash flows are highly likely.

Changes in estimates
There were no significant changes in estimates in the 2016 financial year.
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D1. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
The breakdown of the items compiled in the consolidated statement of financial position and their develop- 
ment can be found in the consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets. As in the previous year, 
property, plant and equipment do not include any investment property.

The future expenses from operating leases that relate solely to property, plant and equipment are as follows:

in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Up to 1 year	 3,244.3	 3,733.7

Between 1 and 5 years	 9,856.6	 10,271.7

More than 5 years	 3,800.0	 3,307.0

Payments from operating leases included in profit or loss for the period amounted to € 4,368.7 thousand (2015:  
€ 3,421.6 thousand). The operating leases are essentially rental agreements for properties and machinery.

The property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are as follows:

in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Base value of land	 1,220.7	 1,220.7

Office and plant buildings	 884.9	 849.2

Technical equipment and machinery	 114.8	 188.6

Other equipment, furniture and fixtures	 0.0	 92.8

	 2,220.4	 2,351.3

The associated lease liabilities are reported under interest-bearing liabilities in line with the maturities.  
Future minimum lease payments from non-cancellable finance leases amount to:

in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Up to 1 year	 325.3	 417.5

Between 1 and 5 years	 705.8	 480.8

More than 5 years	 0.0	 0.0

Minimum lease payments	 1,031.1	 898.3
less interest portion	 (46.3)	 (18.7)

Present value of lease payments	 984.8	 879.6

The Group had contractual obligations to buy property, plant and equipment of € 3,379.1 thousand as of 
December 31, 2016 (2015: € 1,077.6 thousand). No impairment losses were recognized on property, plant and 
equipment or intangible assets in the 2016 financial year (2015: € 0.0 thousand). No impairment losses were 
reversed in 2016 (2015: € 0.0 thousand).
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Property, plant and equipment of € 6,974.8 thousand was pledged as collateral for liabilities in 2016 (2015:  
€ 6,925.8 thousand). There are no restrictions on title.

Development costs of € 3,631.6 thousand (2015: € 4,408.9 thousand) were capitalized as internally developed 
intangible assets in the 2016 financial year.

D2. Securities
The securities reported in the consolidated financial statements in the amount of € 647.3 thousand (2015:  
€ 412.2 thousand) are assigned to the available for sale category. The securities are listed equities and units  
in funds.

D3. Investments in associates
The Group holds a 49% equity investment in a Russian company (PA “Fire-fighting special technics” LLC.,  
Russia, Moscow). It was founded with Russian partners. The goal of the associate is to equip the Russian market 
with high-quality firefighting vehicles. This interest is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method.

The summarized financial information for the associate is shown in the table below.

in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Non-current assets	 1,526.8	 3,052.0

Current assets	 15,242.9	 17,587.1

Current liabilities	 9,913.3	 9,375.4

Net assets (100%)	 6,856.4	 11,263.7
— thereof Group’s share in net assets	 3,359.6	 5,519.2

Revenues	 17,391.8	 27,410.6

Net profit for the period (100%)	 466.7	 2,399.4
— thereof Group’s share in net profit for the period	 228.7	 1,175.7

Other comprehensive income (100%)	 (637.6)	 2,007.9

Total comprehensive income (100%)	 (170.9)	 4,407.3
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The reconciliation of the summarized financial information shown to the carrying amount is as follows:

in € thousand	 2015	 2016
As of Jan 1	 4,551.4	 3,359.6

Share of net profit for the period	 228.7	 1,175.7

Dividend	 (1,108.1)	 0.0

Foreign exchange differences	 (312.4)	 983.9

As of Dec 31	 3,359.6	 5,519.2

D4. Interests in joint ventures
The Group has a 50% interest in a Spanish company (Rosenbauer Ciansa S.L.). This was founded with the joint 
owner and manager of Rosenbauer Española.

The Board consists of four members in total, two of whom appointed by Rosenbauer International AG and two  
by the joint venture partner. Rosenbauer International AG is therefore not able to control the relevant activities 
of Rosenbauer Ciansa S.L. under this arrangement. In the event of a tied vote on the Board, decisions are  
made by an independent business consultant. In the company agreement, Rosenbauer has the option to acquire 
a further 12.11% of shares. Exercising this option would not grant Rosenbauer a voting majority on the Board  
as voting is per capita and not by voting rights. The company is therefore a joint venture as defined by IFRS 11.

This interest is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. The joint venture  
is not material to the Group.

Development of the carrying amount of the equity investment in the joint venture in Spain:

in € thousand	 2015	 2016
As of Jan 1	 1,452.1	 1,594.2

Share in total comprehensive income	 392.1	 83.1

Dividend	 (250.0)	 (250.0)

As of Dec 31	 1,594.2	 1,427.3

The total comprehensive income of the joint venture does not include any items in other comprehensive income.
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D5. Non-current receivables
in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Receivables and other assets	 76.4	 51.9

The receivables and other assets with a term of between one and five years were € 51.9 thousand in 2016 
(2015: € 76.4 thousand). There were no non-current receivables with a remaining term of more than five years 
in 2016 (2015: € 0.0 thousand).

D6. Deferred taxes
The differences between the carrying amounts in the tax accounts and the IFRS consolidated statement of 
financial position result from the following differences and give rise to the following deferred taxes:

	 Deferred tax	 Deferred tax
	 2015	 2016
in € thousand	 Assets	 Liabilities	 Assets	 Liabilities
Outstanding 1/7th write-downs  

as per section 12 (3) KStG (Corporation Tax Law)	 9.6	 0.0	 3.2	 0.0

Currency forwards, securities  

(outside profit or loss)	 2,206.8	 151.9	 1,996.1	 0.0

Currency forwards, securities  

(in profit or loss)	 519.5	 256.5	 931.8	 53.3

IAS 19 measurement in  

other comprehensive income	 1,979.8	 0.0	 2,300.5	 0.0

Capitalized development costs	 0.0	 2,588.6	 0.0	 3,453.4

Measurement differences on receivables	 0.0	 72.3	 0.0	 83.0

Profit from construction contracts	 0.0	 3,453.7	 0.0	 3,288.4

Extraordinary tax write-down	 383.3	 551.2	 429.2	 0.0

Measurement differences  

on provisions and liabilities	 2,434.4	 560.1	 3,697.0	 1,429.3

Capitalized loss carryforwards	 1,125.4	 0.0	 1,189.7	 0.0

Measurement differences on intangible assets	 0.0	 200.5	 0.0	 2,848.5

Others	 319.8	 20.2	 507.6	 14.7

Deferred tax asset/liability	 8,978.6	 7,855.0	 11,055.1	 11,170.6

Netting of deferred tax assets and liabilities	 (3,599.0)	 (3,599.0)	 (7,667.3)	 (7,667.3)

	 5,379.6	 4,256.0	 3,387.8	 3,503.3
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Deferred tax assets of € 6,795.2 thousand as of December 31, 2016 were recognized on tax loss carryforwards 
(2015: € 7,483.2 thousand). There were loss carryforwards of € 0.0 thousand in 2016 (2015: € 0.0 thousand) 
for which deferred tax assets were not recognized as their effectiveness as ultimate tax relief was not  
sufficiently assured. There were deferred tax liabilities of € 10,110.0 thousand (2015: € 10,617.2 thousand) 
from the difference between the tax carrying amounts and the net assets in the IFRS financial statements  
as the parent company can control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Furthermore, deferred tax liabilities of  
€ 1,004.8 thousand from the difference between the tax carrying amount of investments in associates were  
not recognized as their reversal is not likely in the foreseeable future.

D7. Inventories
in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Raw materials and supplies	 59,914.9	 59,637.8

Chassis	 72,564.0	 75,838.2

Work in progress	 46,862.3	 63,500.7

Finished goods and goods for resale	 29,485.4	 28,359.3

Goods in transit	 4,649.4	 6,824.7

Advance payments	 12,480.4	 3,632.8

Advance payments received	 (35,725.0)	 (38,662.0)

	 190,231.4	 199,131.5

The write-downs for the current year are reported in the income statement in the amount of € 2,846.5 thousand 
(2015: € 3,087.7 thousand) under cost of materials. No impairment losses were reversed in the current financial 
year (2015: € 0.0 thousand). Also, no inventories were pledged as collateral for liabilities.

D8. Construction contracts
in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Costs incurred to date	 84,129.5	 77,385.5

Profits incurred to date	 15,346.4	 15,244.9

Advanced payments on the above	 (12,185.1)	 (24,889.2)

Construction contract assets amounted to € 67,741.2 thousand as of the end of the reporting period (2015:  
€ 87,290.8 thousand). There were no construction contract liabilities as of the end of the 2016 and 2015 
reporting periods. Construction contracts include vehicle bodies and equipment in line with their percentage  
of completion. Most construction contracts have a remaining term of less than one year. Revenues include 
revenues from construction contracts of € 85,493.8 thousand (2015: € 99,475.9 thousand).
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D9. Current receivables
in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Trade receivables	 130,216.6	 148,689.1

Receivables from derivatives	 1,378.5	 159.8

Income tax receivables	 8,099.5	 1,692.8

Receivables from other taxes	 7,538.4	 3,819.5

Other receivables and assets	 10,628.3	 9,838.8

	 157,861.3	 164,200.0

With the exception of receivables from derivatives of € 8.5 thousand (2015: € 112.9 thousand), the current 
receivables shown in the table above are due within one year.

Write-downs on receivables relate exclusively to trade receivables recognized under current receivables.  
The write-downs for the current year of € 457.1 thousand (2015: € 414.8 thousand) are recognized in other 
expenses. These are exclusively specific valuation allowances. There were no impairment losses on other 
financial instruments.

Valuation allowances in € thousand	 2015	 2016
As of Jan 1	 1,475.0	 1,392.0

Allocation	 414.8	 457.1

Utilization	 (421.3)	 (220.6)

Reversal	 (76.5)	 (1,079.2)

As of Dec 31	 1,392.0	 549.3

Rosenbauer sold trade receivables to banks under factoring agreements in the 2016 financial year. The sale  
of receivables is distributed evenly over the financial year. The receivables sold are derecognized in full  
in accordance with the provisions of IAS 39 due to the transfer of control. The risks from the receivables sold 
relevant to the risk assessment are the risk of default and the risk of payment in arrears. Rosenbauer transfers 
the risk of default from the receivables sold to the banks in full, thus Rosenbauer is not exposed to any risk  
of default. There is a risk of payment in arrears in the form of interest expenses if customer receivables are 
received late. The risk of payment in arrears is borne by Rosenbauer in full and is immaterial.
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D10. Cash and cash equivalents
in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Bank balances	 17,722.6	 30,089.0

Cash and cash equivalents	 155.2	 120.7

	 17,877.8	 30,209.7

There were no restrictions on disposal on the amounts included in this item in 2016 or 2015.

D11. Equity
The 24th Annual General Meeting of Rosenbauer International AG approved the proposed dividend of € 1.5  
per share on May 20, 2016.

The capital reserves originate from the new shares issued on the Vienna Stock Exchange in 1994 and constitute 
restricted capital reserves that cannot be distributed. The proposal for the appropriation of profits is based  
on the separate financial statements of the company prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Austrian 
Commercal Code (UGB – Unternehmensgesetzbuch).

The item “Other reserves” contains the foreign currency translation adjustment, the revaluation reserve, 
remeasurements in accordance with IAS 19 and the hedge reserve. The foreign currency translation adjustment 
contains the translation difference arising from remeasurement of equity as against first-time consolidation.  
This item also includes differences from foreign currency translation in asset and liability items as against the
Previous year’s translation and translation differences between the consolidated statement of financial position 
and the consolidated income statement.

The change in the hedge reserve results from the remeasurement of currency forwards under IAS 39.

Details of reserves can be found in the “Changes in consolidated equity”.

D12. Non-controlling interests
The following table shows the summarized financial information for each subsidiary of the Group with significant 
non-controlling interests before inter-company eliminations.
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		  Rosenbauer	 Rosenbauer	 Rosenbauer	 Rosenbauer	 Rosenbauer
		  Española S.A.	 Saudi Arabia Ltd.	 America, LCC.1	 Aerials, LCC.	 Motors, LCC.
		  Spain,	 Saudi Arabia,	 USA,	 USA,	 USA,

in € thousand	 Madrid	 Riyadh	 South Dakota	 Nebraska	 Minnesota

Shareholding  

(= share of voting rights)  

of non-controlling interests	 37.89%	 25.00%	 50.00%	 75.00%	 57.50%

Dec 31, 2016
Current assets	 16,184.6	 11,833.6	 103,297.0	 7,413.3	 20,681.3

Non-current assets	 1,782.9	 8,381.1	 11,824.6	 624.2	 2,326.4

Current liabilities	 12,892.4	 16,302.1	 61,589.1	 1,391.8	 20,341.6

Non-current liabilities	 1,610.5	 3,012.3	 1,187.8	 0.0	 0.0

Net assets (100%)	 3,464.6	 900.3	 52,344.7	 6,645.7	 2,666.1
— thereof non-controlling interests	 1,312.7	 225.1	 28,033.8	 4,984.3	 1,533.0

Revenues	 18,230.7	 8,298.4	 300,947.8	 17,676.4	 71,588.1

Net profit for the period (100%)	 527.7	 (652.3)	 20,816.5	 3,375.0	 5,963.2
— thereof non-controlling interests	 200.0	 (163.1)	 11,699.3	 2,531.2	 3,428.8

Other comprehensive  
income (100%)	 0.0	 22.6	 1,486.3	 188.7	 75.7
— thereof non-controlling interests	 0.0	 5.7	 796.0	 141.5	 43.5

Total comprehensive  
income (100%)	 527.7	 (629.7)	 22,302.8	 3,563.7	 6,038.9
— thereof non-controlling interests	 200.0	 (157.4)	 12,495.3	 2,672.7	 3,472.3

Dividends paid to  

non-controlling interests	 (492.6)	 0.0	 (8,516.4)	 (1,454.9)	 (733.0)

Net cash flow  

from operating activities	 5,574.9	 2,898.5	 18,258.9	 3,045.2	 4,131.4

Net cash flow  

from investing activities	 (833.2)	 (2,688.4)	 (1,743.5)	 (155.0)	 (170.7)

Net cash flow  

from financing activities	 (1,400.1)	 927.4	 (7,350.6)	 (1,422.2)	 3,661.8

Total net cash flows (100%)	 3,341.6	 1,137.5	 9,164.8	 1,468.0	 7,622.5

1	US subgroup (summary of US companies)
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		  Rosenbauer	 Rosenbauer	 Rosenbauer	 Rosenbauer	 Rosenbauer
		  Española S.A.	 Saudi Arabia Ltd.	 America, LCC.1	 Aerials, LCC.	 Motors, LCC.
		  Spain,	 Saudi Arabia,	 USA,	 USA,	 USA,

in € thousand	 Madrid	 Riyadh	 South Dakota	 Nebraska	 Minnesota

Shareholding  

(= share of voting rights)  

of non-controlling interests	 37.89%	 25.00%	 50.00%	 75.00%	 57.50%

Dec 31, 2015
Current assets	 17,992.4	 8,397.2	 96,499.9	 6,538.6	 16,997.7

Non-current assets	 937.7	 5,687.1	 10,848.0	 575.2	 1,999.5

Current liabilities	 14,693.2	 7,472.1	 56,251.0	 1,143.1	 19,292.3

Non-current liabilities	 0.0	 5,108.9	 481.3	 0.0	 0.0

Net assets (100%)	 4,236.9	 1,503.3	 50,615.6	 5,970.7	 (295.1)
— thereof non-controlling interests	 1,605.4	 375.8	 26,778.4	 4,478.0	 (169.7)

Revenues	 33,899.7	 10,439.2	 314,788.2	 15,347.3	 83,948.8

Net profit for the period (100%)	 1,731.6	 211.6	 25,757.4	 2,943.3	 5,447.4
— thereof non-controlling interests	 656.1	 52.9	 14,023.1	 2,207.5	 3,132.2

Other comprehensive  
income (100%)	 0.0	 134.8	 4,356.9	 514.0	 (25.4)
— thereof non-controlling interests	 0.0	 33.7	 2,305.0	 385.5	 (14.6)

Total comprehensive  
income (100%)	 1,731.6	 346.4	 30,114.3	 3,457.3	 5,422.0
— thereof non-controlling interests	 656.1	 86.6	 16,328.1	 2,593.0	 3,117.6

Dividends paid to  

non-controlling interests	 (492.6)	 0.0	 (8,428.7)	 (1,282.5)	 0.0

Net cash flow  

from operating activities	 (777.7)	 2,004.6	 23,101.3	 2,621.5	 3,574.4

Net cash flow  

from investing activities	 (45.5)	 (4,040.3)	 (1,336.1)	 (232.7)	 (516.3)

Net cash flow  

from financing activities	 178.2	 2,775.5	 (7,317.5)	 (1,415.8)	 3,645.3

Total net cash flows (100%)	 (645.0)	 739.8	 14,447.7	 973.0	 6,703.4

1	US subgroup (summary of US companies)
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Although the Group holds less than half the voting rights in Rosenbauer Motors and Rosenbauer Aerials,  
it controls both these companies on account of Rosenbauer International AG’s right to cast the deciding vote.  
In accordance with the company agreements of these companies, Rosenbauer International AG is authorized  
to elect half of their Board members. The Board makes all relevant decisions and determines operational 
management. A simple majority is sufficient for this. In the event of a tied vote in the Board, the Chairman of  
the Supervisory Board of Rosenbauer International AG, or the Deputy Chairman, has a contractual right to  
cast the deciding vote.

€ 11,189.8 thousand was distributed to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries in 2016 (2015: € 10,221.6 thou- 
sand).

D13. Non-current interest-bearing liabilities
This item includes all interest-bearing liabilities to banks and finance lease liabilities with a remaining term of 
more than one year. Details can be found in the list of financial liabilities under note D30. “Risk management”.

D14. Other non-current liabilities
The non-current liabilities are export financing liabilities (2016: € 966.7 thousand; 2015: € 1,347.7 thousand) 
and other non-current liabilities (2016: € 106.6 thousand; 2015: € 0.0 thousand).

D15. Non-current provisions
a) Settlement provisions
Settlement refers to one-time severance payments that, owing to the provisions of labor law, must be paid  
on termination of employees and usually when employees retire. The amount is based on the number  
of years in service and the amount of remuneration. Provisions for settlement are recognized in the amount  
determined in line with actuarial principles (for details of the assumptions used in calculation please see  
note C10.).

Net present value of obligation in € thousand	 2015	 2016
As of Jan 1	 20,802.2	 20,728.6

Current service cost	 896.4	 889.3

Interest cost	 446.5	 455.4

Remeasurement	 (946.4)	 766.1

Current payments	 (470.1)	 (424.8)

As of Dec 31	 20,728.6	 22,414.6
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Remeasurement includes € –924.0 thousand (2015: € –836.8 thousand) due to experience adjustments,  
€ 1,744.2 thousand (2015: € –109.6 thousand) due to changes in financial assumptions and € –54.1 thousand 
(2015: € 0.0 thousand) for changes in demographic assumptions.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation for the current financial year is € 22,414.6 thousand  
(2015: € 20,728.6 thousand). Experience adjustments of –4.1% (2015: –4.0%) were taken into account in the 
calculation.

The net expenses for settlement payments arising from commitments broke down as follows:

Net settlement expenses in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Staff costs

 Current service cost	 896.4	 889.3

Interest expenses

 Interest cost	 446.5	 455.4

	 1,342.9	 1,344.7

The change in the interest rate is due to a reassessment on account of the changing economic situation.

The average term of the defined benefit obligation for settlement as of December 31, 2016 was 10.9 years 
(2015: 10.4 years).

The sensitivity analysis for settlement obligations below shows the effects on obligations resulting from  
changes in key actuarial assumptions. In each case one key factor has been changed while the others were kept 
constant. However, in reality it is somewhat unlikely that there would be no correlation between these factors.

Change in net present value of obligation in € thousand	 +1%/1 year	 –1%/1 year

Dec 31, 2016
Interest rate	 (2,277.7)	 2,714.1

Pay increase	 2,609.5	 (2,242.2)

Turnover	 (1,204.9)	 29.4

Dec 31, 2015
Interest rate	 (2,010.7)	 2,379.4

Pay increase	 2,306.0	 (1,992.3)

Turnover	 (1,037.6)	 (34.3)
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b) Provisions for pensions
Within the Rosenbauer Group there are pension schemes that arose on the basis of national legislation  
or voluntary agreements. These include both defined benefit and defined contribution plans (for details of  
the assumptions used in calculation please see note C10.).

Net present value of obligation in € thousand	 2015	 2016
As of Jan 1	 5,834.4	 5,644.0

Current service cost	 35.2	 31.3

Interest cost	 124.7	 123.4

Remeasurement	 (47.9)	 388.1

Current payments	 (302.4)	 (303.9)

As of Dec 31	 5,644.0	 5,882.9

Remeasurement includes € –116.1 thousand (2015: € –13.1 thousand) due to experience adjustments and  
€ 504.2 thousand (2015: € –34.8 thousand) due to changes in financial assumptions.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation for the current financial year is € 5,882.9 thousand  
(2015: € 5,644.0 thousand). Experience adjustments of –0.2% (2015: –0.2%) were taken into account in the 
calculation.

The net expenses for pensions arising from commitments broke down as follows:

Net pension expenses in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Staff cost

 Current service cost	 35.2	 31.3

Interest expenses

 Interest cost	 124.7	 123.4

	 159.9	 154.7

The change in the interest rate is due to a reassessment on account of the changing economic situation.

The average term of the defined benefit obligation for settlement as of December 31, 2016 was 11.1 years 
(2015: 11.1 years).

The sensitivity analysis for pension obligations below shows the effects on obligations resulting from changes  
in key actuarial assumptions. In each case one key factor has been changed while the others were kept  
constant. However, in reality it is somewhat unlikely that there would be no correlation between these factors.
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Change in net present value of obligation in € thousand	 +1%/1 year	 –1%/1 year

Dec 31, 2016
Interest rate	 (658.4)	 810.5

Pay increase	 690.2	 (583.6)

Longevity	 309.2	 (313.2)

Dec 31, 2015
Interest rate	 (604.1)	 738.6

Pay increase	 824.4	 (392.0)

Longevity	 453.8	 (136.6)

Further information on staff provisions can be found in the description of accounting policies.

c) Miscellaneous non-current provisions
in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Provisions for long-service bonuses	 3,783.6	 4,298.5

	 3,783.6	 4,298.5

Details of the changes in the non-current provisions listed under c) for 2016 and 2015 can be found in the 
“Schedule of provisions”.

D16. Current interest-bearing liabilities
In addition to production and investment loans, these also include overdrafts as of December 31 of the respec- 
tive year. Details can be found in the list of financial liabilities under note D30. “Risk management”.

D17. Trade payables
The trade payables of € 52,193.6 thousand (2015: € 43,168.8 thousand) are due within one year.

D18. Other current liabilities
in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Liabilities from taxes	 6,940.1	 5,203.5

Social security liabilities	 2,280.8	 2,123.9

Liabilities from derivatives	 10,887.3	 11,716.7

Liabilities from staff obligations	 17,419.2	 17,843.4

Liabilities from commission obligations	 6,461.3	 8,751.6

Liabilities from callable non-controlling interests	 0.0	 1,650.0

Other liabilities	 15,525.9	 20,331.3

	 59,514.6	 67,620.4
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The other liabilities essentially include credit notes and liabilities from outstanding invoices.

The liabilities from callable non-controlling interests relate to a right granted to non-controlling shareholders  
as part of a business combination in 2016 that entitles them to tender their shares in Rosenbauer Rovereto to 
the Group, and that requires the Group to purchase the shares tendered (put and call option). A description  
of the two options can be found under note B1.

D19. Other provisions
The other provisions include provisions for warranties and ales risks in addition to staff provisions. Miscella- 
neous current provisions for 2016 are shown in the “Schedule of provisions". Details of the assumptions used  
in calculation can be found under notes C11. and C15.

D20. Revenues
Revenues essentially relate to income from construction contracts. Please see the disclosures on the product 
segments and the segment reporting under note D28. “Segment reporting” for information on the composition  
of revenues.

D21. Other income
in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Income from the disposal of property, plant  

and equipment and intangible assets	 153.2	 82.2

Work performed by the enterprise and capitalized	 191.4	 159.4

Recharging of costs to third parties	 1,449.3	 556.1

Government grants	 658.1	 947.8

Income from rent and insurance	 271.7	 341.2

Reversal of write-downs	 76.5	 1,079.2

Exchange rate gains	 2,312.7	 7,324.3

Sundry	 4,128.1	 3,641.8

	 9,241.0	 14,132.0

In particular, other income includes license proceeds, income from the reversal of provisions and compensation.
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D22. Staff costs and employee disclosures
in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Wages	 74,675.3	 81,757.9

Salaries	 72,213.3	 77,713.3

Pension costs	 931.6	 920.6

Expenses for defined contribution plans	 4,705.9	 4,953.8

Expenses for statutory social security contributions  

and levies and mandatory contributions dependent on pay	 26,763.3	 27,949.6

Other social security expenses	 3,610.2	 5,388.8

	 182,899.6	 198,684.0

Average number of employees	 2015	 2016
Workers	 1,792	 1,937

Salaried employees	 1,052	 1,244

Apprentices	 125	 131

	 2,969	 3,312

D23. Other expenses
in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Taxes not included in income taxes	 584.0	 687.8

Administration costs	 43,741.6	 48,726.2

Distribution expenses	 48,840.1	 47,396.3

	 93,165.7	 96,810.3

This item includes maintenance costs, legal, auditing and consulting costs, costs of third-party services,  
event costs, rent and leases and the costs of the marketing and sales department.

Foreign exchange differences recognized in profit or loss in 2016 amounted to € 697.8 thousand (2015:  
€ 1,075.8 thousand).

D24. Finance costs
in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Interest and similar expenses	 5,660.2	 4,831.4

Interest on non-current staff provisions	 571.2	 578.8

	 6,231.4	 5,410.2

The item “Interest and similar expenses” includes the change in the fair value of derivative financial instru- 
ments recognized in profit or loss of € 1,172.8 thousand (2015: € 2,259.3 thousand). The interest expense for 
long-service bonuses provisions is reported in staff costs.
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D25. Financial income
in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Income from securities	 9.3	 11.9

Other interest and similar income	 3,207.0	 1,143.5

	 3,216.3	 1,155.4

The item “Other interest and similar income” includes the change in the fair value of derivative financial 
instruments recognized in profit or loss of € 248.7 thousand (2015: € 1,630.0 thousand).

D26. Income taxes
in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Cost of current income taxes	 10,537.3	 10,583.0

— thereof from previous years	 1,101.8	 430.4

— �thereof from utilization of loss carryforwards  

not previously taken into account	 0.0	 0.0

Change in deferred income taxes	 839.2	 (1,147.5)

— �thereof from the recognition of tax  

loss carryforwards from previous years	 1,100.4	 0.0

— thereof due to changes in tax rates	 0.0	 11.6

	 11,376.5	 9,435.5

Income taxes of € 0.0 thousand (2015: € 0.0 thousand) and changes in deferred taxes of € –2,386.1 thousand 
(2015: € –1,434.9 thousand) were recognized directly in equity in the 2016 financial year.

The table below shows the causes of the difference between the national income tax expense and the  
effective tax expense in the Group.

in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Profit before income taxes	 48,195.1	 44,198.0

— thereof 25% (2015: 25%) national income tax expense	 12,048.8	 11,049.5

Tax relief from partnerships1	 (4,564.2)	 (3,226.7)

Effect of different tax rates	 2,711.0	 2,147.5

Permanent differences	 (896.0)	 (970.0)

Utilization of loss carryforwards not taken into account	 (656.5)	 (65.9)

First-time capitalization of loss carryforwards	 (1,100.4)	 0.0

Taxes from previous years	 1,101.8	 430.4

Recapture of foreign losses	 2,371.7	 0.0

Withholding taxes, minimum taxes	 360.3	 70.7

Effective tax income (–)/expense (+)	 11,376.5	 9,435.5
1 Taxes relating to non-controlling interests
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Shareholders’ claims to dividends did not give rise to any tax consequences for the Group in 2016 or 2015.

D27. Consolidated statement of cash flows
The consolidated statement of cash flows is presented using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents 
consist exclusively of cash in hand and bank balances. Interest received and paid are assigned to operating 
activities. Dividend payments are reported under financing activities. There were non-cash additions to  
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment of € 1,257.1 thousand (2015: € 980.9 thousand) in this 
financial year.

D28. Segment reporting
In accordance with IFRS 8 (“Operating Segments”), segments must be defined and segment information 
disclosed on the basis of internal controlling and reporting. This results in segment reporting presented in line 
with the management approach of internal reporting.

The Group is managed by the chief operating decision makers on the basis of sales markets. The development  
of the market segments is particularly significant in internal reporting. Segmentation is based on the division  
of the sales regions (areas) defined by the chief operating decision makers. In addition to the segments managed  
by sales markets (areas), the SFP (Stationary Fire Production) segment is shown as a further segment in  
internal reporting.

The following reportable segments have been defined in line with the internal management information system:

The CEEU area (Central and Eastern Europe), the NISA area (Northern Europe, Iberia, South America, Africa),  
the MENA area (Middle East, North Africa), the APAC area (Asia-Pacific), the NOMA area (North & Middle America) 
and the SFP (Stationary Fire Protection).

Following the acquisition of the G&S Group at the beginning of 2016, segment reporting was reorganized  
slightly. The acquisition of the G&S Group required separate management of this business area. The revenues 
and earnings from Stationary Fire Protection previously presented in the CEEU area and in the “Other”  
segment are now allocated to the SFP segment. The figures for the previous year were adjusted accordingly.

The chief operating decision makers monitor the EBIT of the areas separately in order to make decisions on  
the allocation of resources and to determine the units’ earnings power. Segment performance is assessed on 
the basis of EBIT using the same definition as in the consolidated financial statements. However, income  
taxes are managed on a uniform Group basis and are not allocated to the individual segments. Transfer prices 
between the segments are at arm’s length.
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Segment reporting refers to the revenues and earnings generated by the individual areas both on their  
respective local markets and from export sales. Proceeds from transactions with other segments are eliminated 
for consolidation purposes.

Segment figures have been presented in the tables “Business segment”, “Information on business units”  
and “Information on geographical areas” for 2015 and 2016.

D29. Capital management
The capital provided by equity and borrowed capital is taken as the basis for capital management in the 
Rosenbauer Group.

The primary goal of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that a high credit rating and a good equity  
ratio are maintained to support business activities. The aim is to guarantee a minimum equity ratio of 35% using 
rolling, long-term capital planning. This planning is coordinated with distribution and investment policy and is  
a key instrument for the annual rating talks conducted with the financing banks.

Furthermore, the equity ratio is optimized with total assets management, which ensures the optimization of 
restricted current assets with the continuous monitoring of production levels and trade receivables. The equity 
ratio is calculated as the percentage of equity to total assets and was 37.2% in 2016 (2015: 37.0%).

In addition, capital is monitored with the help of the gearing ratio, which describes net debt to equity. A gearing 
ratio below 50% has been set as the long-term target. The gearing ratio fell to 70.8% in 2016 as a result of the 
decline in interest-bearing liabilities (2015: 84.4%).

D30. Risk management
The Rosenbauer Group operates globally and is therefore necessarily exposed to changes and fluctuations  
in inflation, interest rates and exchange rates. It is company policy, by closely observing the risk positions that 
exist and market developments, to balance risks internally as far as possible, to manage net positions with a 
view to optimizing earnings and, where reasonable, to hedge such positions. The goal of currency risk hedging  
is to create a secure basis of calculation for construction contracts.

Overall assessment
The annual evaluation of the Group companies did not reveal significant new or previously unrecognized risks. 
Furthermore, on the basis of the information currently known, there are no specific risks to the future of the 
company as a going concern that could crucially impair the net assets, financial position or results of operations.
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A key area in hedging risks is financial instruments. Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to both  
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. In accordance  
with IFRS 7, they include on the one hand primary financial instruments such as trade receivables and payables 
and financial receivables and liabilities. On the other, they also included derivative financial instruments used  
to hedge the risks of changes in exchange and interest rates. Both primary and derivative financial instruments 
are reported on below.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized as of the settlement date, i. e. the date  
on which the company commits to purchasing the asset. Regular way purchases and sales are purchases and 
sales of financial assets with delivery within the time frame established by market regulation or convention.

Given the daily or short-term maturities, the fair value of cash and cash equivalents and short-term invest- 
ments, current receivables and liabilities is essentially the carrying amount. At the end of the reporting period 
securities were measured with a fair value of € 647.3 thousand (2015: € 412.2 thousand). The fair value is 
calculated from the market price at the end of the reporting period.

a) Credit risk
The risk on receivables can be rated as consistently low on account of the customer structure and the hedging 
policy for credit risks. In addition, all customers that wish to do business with the Group on a credit basis are 
subject to a credit check. Receivables are also monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group is 
not exposed to a significant risk of default. The maximum credit risk and therefore risk of default is equal to  
the carrying amounts or the deductibles on insured receivables. The maximum risk of default on trade receivables  
is € 136,196.1 thousand (2015: € 101.345.0 thousand). The reported carrying amounts are essentially the  
fair values.

Within the EU receivables are mostly from municipal legal entities. If receivables relate to private customers  
of low or unknown credit standing, these receivables – as in Austria – are insured through Coface Kredit- 
versicherung AG.

Receivables from customers outside the EU of low credit standing – including government customers – are 
secured with documentary credits or bank guarantees. Alternatively, but also cumulatively, insurance policies 
can be concluded with one of the government insurance companies. In Austria this is done with Österreichische 
Kontrollbank AG (for risks outside the OECD) and the Austrian Coface Kreditversicherung AG (for risks within  
the OECD).
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The analysis of trade receivables, other receivables and other assets overdue but not impaired as of  
December 31 is as follows:
			   Past due but not impaired
		  Up to	 91 to	 181 to	 More than
in € thousand	 Total	 90 days	 180 days	 360 days	 360 days
Receivables 2016
Trade receivables	 46,616.7	 24,111.5	 7,689.2	 5,130.5	 9,685.5

Other receivables  

(current and non-current)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

	 46,616.7	 24,111.5	 7,689.2	 5,130.5	 9,685.5

Receivables 2015
Trade receivables	 48,759.3	 27,352.5	 9,745.9	 3,312.2	 8,348.7

Other receivables  

(current and non-current)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

	 48,759.3	 27,352.5	 9,745.9	 3,312.2	 8,348.7

With regard to trade receivables, other receivables and assets that are neither impaired nor past due in  
the amount of € 101,765.6 thousand (2015: € 74,094.2 thousand), there were no indications as of the end  
of the reporting period that debtors will fail to make payment.

The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of trade receivables impaired is as follows:

in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Trade receivables, gross	 19,459.8	 10,746.8

Impairment	 (1,392.0)	 (549.3)

Trade receivables, net	 18,067.8	 10,197.5

b) Market risk
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risks mainly apply to liabilities with terms of more than one year.

For assets, interest rate risks apply only to investment securities. Securities were measured at market value  
at the end of the reporting period. It is possible to reduce interest rate risks and optimize income with the 
regular monitoring of interest rate developments and the reorganization of securities holdings derived from this.
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There are non-current liabilities to banks from loans for various investments in operating activities. Interest  
rates have been hedged partially in the medium term with interest rate caps. However, more prolonged  
negative changes in market values can cause the result of operations to deteriorate. A change in interest rates 
of ±1% on the credit portfolio as of the end of the reporting period would have respectively reduced/increased 
earnings and equity by € 945.7 thousand (2015: € 502.5 thousand).

Currency risk
Group companies invest in non-current securities almost exclusively in their own currency area, hence there  
is no currency risk here.

In assets, currency risks relate mainly to the US dollar and VAE dirham, resulting from trade receivables  
from international customers. Most other markets invoice in euro. In liabilities, with the exception of trade pay- 
ables, there are no significant currency risks as current financing of operating activities is implemented by  
the Group companies in their own local currency. Any currency risks from short-term peaks are borne by the 
company themselves. In addition to hedging with derivative financial instruments, there is also natural hedging 
by the positions closed, for example US dollar trade payables are offset by US dollar receivables.

The table below shows the sensitivity of consolidated earnings before taxes (due to changes in the fair values  
of monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity (due to changes in the fair values of currency forwards) 
to a change in exchange rates, considered possible in line with prudent business judgment, affecting the main 
currencies relevant to the Group. All other variables remain constant.

	 Exchange	 Effect on earnings
	 rate	 before taxes	 Effect on equity
in € thousand	 development	 2015	 2016	 2015	 2016
US dollar	 +10%	 1,252.2	 2,098.8	 (22,850.1)	 (15,871.5)
	 –10%	 (1,252.2)	 (2,098.8)	 1,893.1	 (1,860.8)
Singapore dollar	 +10%	 (19.4)	 (492.9)	 (1,067.4)	 (1,003.9)
	 –10%	 19.4	 492.9	 1,037.2	 1,003.9
Swiss franc	 +10%	 23.0	 12.1	 135.7	 (4.1)
	 –10%	 (23.0)	 (12.1)	 (135.7)	 4.1
Saudi riyal	 +10%	 1,219.8	 (68.5)	 (227.3)	 (344.7)
	 –10%	 (1,219.8)	 68.5	 227.3	 344.7
VAE dirham	 +10%	 443.2	 1,311.8	 443.2	 820.0
	 –10%	 (443.2)	 (1,311.8)	 (443.2)	 (1,053.6)
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Derivative financial instruments
Interest rate and currency risks are hedged using derivative financial instruments such as currency forwards  
and interest rate caps. These are initially recognized at fair value when the agreement is concluded and 
subsequently remeasured at fair value.

In accordance with IAS 32, derivative financial instruments are only offset and reported in the statement of 
financial position as a net amount when there is a legal right to do so and it is intended to settle on a net basis. 
The following table shows the recognized financial instruments that are offset in accordance with IAS 32 and 
their reconciliation to the carrying amount reported in the statement of financial position:

Derivative receivables in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Receivables, gross	 3,643.4	 451.0

Liabilities, gross balanced	 (2,264.9)	 (291.2)

Net amount stated	 1,378.5	 159.8

Derivative liabilities in € thousand	 2015	 2016
Liabilites, gross	 13,152.2	 12,007.9

Receivables, gross balanced	 (2,264.9)	 (291.2)

Net amount stated	 10,887.3	 11,716.7

Derivative financial instruments in profit or loss
While some of these transactions are hedges from a business perspective, they do not meet the hedge  
accounting requirements of IAS 39. The changes in the fair value of these financial instruments are recognized 
immediately in profit or loss.

	 Nominal value	 Fair value
in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Currency forwards	 65,538.9	 81,027.8	 (1,295.7)	 (3,573.7)

Interest rates hedges	 10,000.0	 10,000.0	 6.6	 1.0

The fair value of the currency forwards of € 3,573.7 thousand (2015: € –1,295.7 thousand) as of the end  
of the reporting period consists of derivatives that are assets of € 158.8 thousand (2015: € 764.4 thousand) 
and derivatives that are liabilities of € 3,732.5 thousand (2015: € 2,060.1 thousand). The fair value of the 
interest rate hedges of € 1.0 thousand (2015: € 6.6 thousand) as of the end of the reporting period consists  
of derivatives that are assets of € 1.0 thousand (2015: € 6.6 thousand) and derivatives that are liabilities of  
€ 0.0 thousand (2015: € 0.0 thousand).
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Hedging instruments
The changing of the effective portion of fair value of derivatives that satisfy the hedge accounting requirements 
of IAS 39 is shown in the statement of other comprehensive income. As of the date of the hedged item being 
recognized, the profit or loss of the hedge will be reclassified from other comprehensive income to the income 
statement. The cumulative amounts recognized in equity as of December 31, 2016 are expected to be reclassi-
fied to the income statement in 2017 and 2018. The ineffective portion of an effective hedging instrument  
is recognized in profit or loss. In 2016, this amounted to € 171.0 thousand (2015: € 261.8 thousand) and was 
reported under finance costs.

	 Nominal value	 Fair value
in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Currency forwards	 129,967.7	 91,643.4	 (8,219.7)	 (7,984.2)

The fair value of the currency forwards of € –7,984.2 thousand (2015: € –8,219.7 thousand) as of the end  
of the reporting period consists of derivatives that are assets of € 0.0 thousand (2015: € 607.5 thousand) and 
derivatives that are liabilities of € 7,984.2 thousand (2015: € 8,827.2 thousand).

	 Level 1	 Level 2
in € thousand	 2015	 2016	 2015	 2016
Derivative financial instruments  

without hedge

 Positive fair value	 0.0	 0.0	 764.4	 158.8

 Negative fair value	 0.0	 0.0	 2,060.1	 3,732.5

Derivative financial instruments  

with hedge

 Positive fair value	 0.0	 0.0	 607.5	 0.0

 Negative fair value	 0.0	 0.0	 8,827.2	 7,984.2

Interest rate hedges without hedge

 Positive fair value	 0.0	 0.0	 6.6	 1.0

 Negative fair value	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Available-for-sale investments

 Positive fair value	 412.2	 647.3	 0.0	 0.0

 Negative fair value	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

The financial investments available for sale shown as level 1 include – as in the previous year – listed equities 
and units in funds. The fair value of currency forwards and interest rate swaps shown as level 2 is determined – 
as in the previous year – by reference to bank valuations based on recognized mathematical measurement 
models (discounted cash flow method on the basis of current interest and currency future yields based on 
interbank mid-rates as of the end of the reporting period).

In 2016 – as in the previous year – there were no reclassifications between level 1 and level 2 or vice versa. 
There was no change in the measurement method.
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c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of not being able to settle the liabilities due on time. Liquidity in the Group is assured  
at the start of the year with corresponding liquidity planning, sufficient intra-year funds and short-term  
credit facilities. The tables below show the structure of interest-bearing financial liabilities as of December 31, 
2016 and the structure of trade payables and other liabilities.

Furthermore, the Group is subject to a liquidity risk arising from a financing agreement that contains con- 
ditions linked to net debt in relation to EBITDA. The interest rate will be adjusted if this ratio rises above  
or falls below the set ranges. The interest rate will decrease given a ratio of net debt to EBITDA of less than 2.0 
and increase given a ratio of more than 3.25. The ratio neither rose above nor fell below the set ranges in  
2016. The nominal volume of the financing agreement is € 20,000 (2015: € 20,000); the carrying amount as  
of December 31, 2016 is also € 20,000 (2015: € 20,000).

Total interest-bearing financial liabilities amount to € 202,113.0 thousand (2015: € 209,625.5 thousand).  
The average interest rate represents the interest expense as of December 31, 2016, in relation to the carrying 
amount of the financial liabilities as of December 31, 2016, and amounts to 1.6% (2015: 1.5%).The reported 
carrying amounts are essentially the fair values. As the incidental costs of the financial liabilities shown in  
the table below with the nominal interest rates are low, the nominal interest rate is the effective interest rate, 
hence there is no impact on the net assets, financial position or results of operations.

Interest-bearing financial liabilities
Interest rate agreement and maturity in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Fixed, current	 10,677.4	 11,320.5

Fixed, non-current	 70,751.1	 96,223.2

Floating rate, current	 124,539.0	 91,082.9

Floating rate, non-current	 3,658.0	 3,486.4

	 209,625.5	 202,113.0

Currencies in € thousand	 Dec 31, 2015	 Dec 31, 2016
Euro	 183,543.1	 177,461.7

Swiss francs	 461.7	 2,324.9

British pounds	 0.0	 12.6

Saudi riyals	 2,820.7	 3,888.6

Singapore dollars	 9,513.0	 6,076.1

US dollars	 13,287.0	 12,349.1

	 209,625.5	 202,113.0
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Maturity structure
The figures shown in the table below reflect the undiscounted cash flows, hence they may differ from the 
carrying amounts.
			   Between	 Between	 Between	 Between	 More
		  Up to	 1 to	 2 to	 3 to	 4 to	 than
in € thousand	 Total	 1 year	 2 years	 3 years	 4 years	 5 years	 5 years
Interest-bearing liabilities
(current and non-current)

2016	 206,435.0	 104,164.9	 17,345.5	 19,858.7	 38,294.4	 6,914.9	 19,856.6

2015	 205,718.0	 130,370.9	 3,189.6	 13,010.3	 17,539.9	 17,211.5	 24,395.8

Trade payables
2016	 52,193.6	 52,193.6	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

2015	 43,168.8	 43,168.8	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Other liabilities from  
financial instruments  
(without derivative liabilities)
(current and non-current)

2016	 29,082.9	 28,976.3	 106.6	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

2015	 21,987.2	 21,987.2	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

The fair value of non-current loan liabilities bearing interest at fixed rates is € 94,959.9 thousand (2015:  
€ 69.461.4 thousand). The inputs for calculating the fair value of non-current loan liabilities bearing interest at 
fixed rates are assigned to level 2 of the IFRS 3 fair value hierarchy. The fair value of non-current loan liabilities 
bearing interest at fixed rates was calculated using a DCF method, using a discount rate that reflects the 
Group’s interest rate on borrowed capital as of the end of the reporting period. The Group’s own credit risk  
was classified as immaterial as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016.

The table below shows the undiscounted cash flows from derivative liabilities.

			   Between	 Between	 Between	 Between	 More
		  Up to	 1 to	 2 to	 3 to	 4 to	 than
in € thousand	 Total	 1 year	 2 years	 3 years	 4 years	 5 years	 5 years
Derivative liabilities
(current and non-current)

2016
Inflow	 164,759.9	 159,431.3	 5,328.6	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Outflow	 (176,476.6)	 (171,044.2)	 (5,432.4)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Balance	 (11,716.7)	 (11,612.9)	 (103.8)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0
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			   Between	 Between	 Between	 Between	 More
		  Up to	 1 to	 2 to	 3 to	 4 to	 than
in € thousand	 Total	 1 year	 2 years	 3 years	 4 years	 5 years	 5 years
Derivative liabilities
(current and non-current)

2015
Inflow	 149,473.0	 126,934.1	 22,538.9	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Outflow	 (160,360.3)	 (136,979.8)	 (23,380.5)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Balance	 (10,887.3)	 (10,045.7)	 (841.6)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

d) Reconciliation of carrying amounts under IAS 39
The reconciliation of carrying amounts per IAS 39 class is as follows:
			   At fair value
		  At	 Other com-	 Through	 Not a
	 Carrying	 amortized	 prehensive	 profit	 financial
in € thousand	 amount	 cost	 income	 and loss	 instrument
Dec 31, 2016
Securities	 647.3	 0.0	 647.3	 0.0	 0.0

Receivables	 164,251.9	 158,579.8	 0.0	 159.8	 5,512.3

Cash and cash equivalents	 30,209.7	 30,209.7	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Interest-bearing liabilities	 202,113.0	 202,113.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Trade payables	 52,193.6	 52,193.6	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Other liabilities	 68,693.7	 29,082.9	 7,984.2	 3,732.5	 27,894.1

Dec 31, 2015
Securities	 412.2	 0.0	 412.2	 0.0	 0.0

Receivables	 157,937.7	 140,921.3	 607.5	 771.0	 15,637.9

Cash and cash equivalents	 17,877.8	 17,877.8	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Interest-bearing liabilities	 209,625.5	 209,625.5	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Trade payables	 43,168.8	 43,168.8	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Other liabilities	 60,862.3	 21,987.2	 8,827.2	 2,060.1	 27,987.8
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The reconciliation of carrying amounts per IAS 39 category is as follows:

				    Available-		  At fair
				    for-sale		  value	 Not a
		  Loans	 At	 financial	 Derivatives	 through	 financial
	 Carrying	 and	 amortized	 invest-	 in hedge	 profit	 instru-
in € thousand	 amount	 receivables	 cost	 ments	 accounting	 and loss	 ment
Dec 31, 2016
Securities	 647.3	 0.0	 0.0	 647.3	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Receivables	 164,251.9	 158,579.8	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 159.8	 5,512.3

Cash and  

cash equivalents	 30,209.7	 30,209.7	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Interest-bearing  

liabilities	 202,113.0	 0.0	 202,113.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Trade payables	 52,193.6	 0.0	 52,193.6	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Other liabilities	 68,693.7	 0.0	 29,082.9	 0.0	 7,984.2	 3,732.5	 27,894.1

Dec 31, 2015
Securities	 412.2	 0.0	 0.0	 412.2	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Receivables	 157,937.7	 140,921.3	 0.0	 0.0	 607.5	 771.0	 15,637.9

Cash and  

cash equivalents	 17,877.8	 17,877.8	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Interest-bearing  

liabilities	 209,625.5	 0.0	 209,625.5	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Trade payables	 43,168.8	 0.0	 43,168.8	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

Other liabilities	 60,862.3	 0.0	 21,987.2	 0.0	 8,827.2	 2,060.1	 27,987.8
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e) Net results by measurement category
					     Derecog-
		  Change in		  Currency	 nition of
in € thousand	 Interest	 fair value	 Impairment	 translation	 receivables	 Net result
Dec 31, 2016
Loans and receivables	 894.8	 0.0	 622.1	 6,938.7	 240.8	 8,696.4

Derivatives at fair value  

through profit or loss	 0.0	 (2,278.0)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 (2,278.0)

Liabilities at  

amortized cost	 (3,658.6)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 (3,658.6)

Financial investments  

available for sale	 11.9	 43.5	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 55.4

	 (2,751.9)	 (2,234.5)	 622.1	 6,938.7	 240.8	 2,815.2

Dec 31, 2015
Loans and receivables	 1,577.0	 0.0	 (338.3)	 2,312.7	 85.3	 3,636.7

Derivatives at fair value  

through profit or loss	 0.0	 (629.3)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 (629.3)

Liabilities at  

amortized cost	 (3,400.9)	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 (3,400.9)

Financial investments  

available for sale	 9.3	 10.7	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 20.0

	 (1,814.6)	 (618.6)	 (338.3)	 2,312.7	 85.3	 (373.5)

The item “Loans and receivables” shows the net results of receivables and current cash and cash equivalents, 
while “Liabilities at amortized cost” shows interest-bearing liabilities, trade payables and other liabilities.
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E1. Events after the end of the reporting period
Between the end of the reporting period on December 31, 2016 and the time of this report being prepared, 
there have been no other events of particular significance to the company that would have altered its net  
assets, financial position or result of operations.

E2. Contingent liabilities
Rosenbauer International AG has not issued any declarations of liability statements for the benefit of non-Group 
companies. There are also no further contingent liabilities that will give rise to significant liabilities.

E3. Related party disclosures
Subsidiaries	 2015	 2016
		  Invest-	 Type of	 Invest-	 Type of
		  ment	 consoli-	 ment	 consoli-
in € thousand	 Currency	 share1	 dation	 share1	 art
Rosenbauer Österreich GmbH,  

Austria, Leonding	 €	 100%	 CC	 100%	 CC

Rosenbauer Brandschutz GmbH  

(formerly: Rosenbauer  

Management Services GmbH),  

Austria, Leonding	 €	 100%	 CC	 100%	 CC

Rosenbauer Deutschland GmbH,  

Germany, Luckenwalde	 €	 100%	 CC	 100%	 CC

Rosenbauer Management GmbH,  

Germany, Karlsruhe	 €	 100%	 CC	 100%	 CC

Rosenbauer Karlsruhe GmbH & Co. KG,  

Germany, Karlsruhe	 €	 100%	 CC	 100%	 CC

Service18 S.A.R.L.,  

France, Chambéry	 €	 84%	 CC	 100%	 CC

Rosenbauer Finanzierung GmbH,  

Germany, Passau	 €	 100%	 CC	 100%	 CC

G&S Brandschutztechnik AG,  

Germany, Mogendorf	 €	 –	 –	 100%	 CC

G&S Brandschutz GmbH,  

Germany, Mogendorf	 €	 –	 –	 100%	 CC

G&S Sprinkleranlagen GmbH,  

Germany, Mogendorf	 €	 –	 –	 100%	 CC

SIC Brandschutz GmbH,  

Germany, Gladbeck	 €	 –	 –	 100%	 CC

1 Indirect shareholding	 CC = Consolidated company

E. OTHER 
DISCLOSURES
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	 2015	 2016
		  Invest-	 Type of	 Invest-	 Type of
		  ment	 consoli-	 ment	 consoli-
in € thousand	 Currency	 share1	 dation	 share1	 art
Rosenbauer d.o.o.,  

Slovenia, Radgona	 €	 90%	 CC	 90%	 CC

Rosenbauer Rovereto Srl2,  

Italy, Rovereto	 €	 –	 –	 70%	 CC

Rosenbauer Schweiz AG,  

Switzerland, Oberglatt	 €	 100%	 CC	 100%	 CC

Rosenbauer Española S.A.,  

Spain, Madrid	 €	 62.11%	 CC	 62.11%	 CC

Rosenbauer Ciansa S.L.,  

Spain, Linares	 €	 50%	 EM	 50%	 EM

Rosenbauer Minnesota, LLC.3,  

USA, Minnesota	 €	 50%	 CC	 50%	 CC

Rosenbauer South Dakota, LLC.3,  

USA, South Dakota	 €	 50%	 CC	 50%	 CC

Rosenbauer Holdings Inc.,  

USA, South Dakota	 €	 100%	 CC	 100%	 CC

Rosenbauer America, LLC.3,  

USA, South Dakota	 €	 50%	 CC	 50%	 CC

Rosenbauer Aerials, LLC.3,  

USA, Nebraska	 €	 25%	 CC	 25%	 CC

Rosenbauer Motors, LLC.3,  

USA, Minnesota	 €	 42.5%	 CC	 42.5%	 CC

S.K. Rosenbauer Pte. Ltd.,  

Singapore	 €	 100%	 CC	 100%	 CC

Eskay Rosenbauer Sdn Bhd,  

Brunei	 €	 80%	 CC	 80%	 CC

Rosenbauer South Africa (Pty.) Ltd.,  

South Africa, Halfway House	 €	 75%	 CC	 75%	 CC

Rosenbauer Saudi Arabia,  

Saudi Arabia, Riyadh	 €	 75%	 CC	 75%	 CC

Rosenbauer UK plc,  

United Kingdom, Holmfirth	 €	 75%	 CC	 75%	 CC

PA “Fire-fighting special technics” LLC.,  

Russia, Moscow	 €	 49%	 EM	 49%	 EM

1	 Indirect shareholding	 CC = Consolidated company

2	Based on the terms and conditions of the options, it is assumed	 EM = Companies accounted

	 that economic ownership of the remaining 30% has already transferred	 EM = for using the equity method 

to the Rosenbauer Group, hence these interests are already 100%  

included in consolidation (for details see notes B1. and B2.)

3	Rosenbauer International AG has the right  

to cast the deciding vote in the event of a tie
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The following transactions were performed with related parties. In particular, purchases of goods listed relate  
to vehicles supplied by the Spanish joint venture Rosenbauer Ciansa to the Spanish subsidiary. The managing 
director of the Spanish subsidiary is also the 50% owner of the Spanish joint venture.

The receivables are loans provided to US non-controlling interests. The terms of the current loan agreements 
were set for three years. The loans are contracted to end on December 31, 2017, unless a renewal is agreed. 
The rent agreement shown below for the use of land is between a US company and its manager. The term  
of the agreement began on April 1, 2015 and will end on March 31, 2020, provided that it is not terminated 
early or renewed by either of the parties. The consulting services are purchased services from a related party  
of a member of the Executive Board.

	 Joint ventures	 Management
in € thousand	 2015	 2016	 2015	 2016
Sale of goods	 10.0	 3.3	 0.0	 0.0

Purchase of goods	 4,257.0	 2,502.3	 0.0	 0.0

Liabilities	 996.3	 929.4	 0.0	 0.0

Receivables	 1.0	 0.0	 1,073.6	 753.0

Land rent	 0.0	 0.0	 264.5	 286.5

Consulting services	 0.0	 0.0	 83.4	 171.8

Within the Rosenbauer Group, there is an income tax group pursuant to section 9 of the German Corporation 
Tax Act (KStG). The group members are the parent company Rosenbauer International AG (group parent) and the 
two Austrian subsidiaries Rosenbauer Österreich GmbH and Rosenbauer Brandschutz GmbH (group members). 
The table below provides further information in connection with this group taxation:

	 Income tax	 Deferred taxes
	 Current	 Deferred	 Deferred	 Deferred	 Income
in € thousand	 income tax	 income tax	 assets	 liabilities	 tax paid
2016
Group members	 648.9	 (10.4)	 307.0	 291.9	 1,120.4

Non-group members	 9,934.1	 (1,137.1)	 3,080.8	 3,211.4	 12,531.2

	 10,583.0	 (1,147.5)	 3,387.8	 3,503.3	 13,651.6

2015
Group members	 1,193.0	 72.9	 66.2	 61.6	 1,264.5

Non-group members	 9,344.3	 766.3	 5,313.4	 4,194.4	 12,063.9

	 10,537.3	 839.2	 5,379.6	 4,256.0	 13,328.4

EXPLANATORY NOTES



156

E4. Remuneration of persons in key functions
The remuneration of the members of the Executive Board of Rosenbauer International AG amounted  
to € 1,950.5 thousand (2015: € 2,205.2 thousand) in total in 2016 and breaks down as basic salary (2016:  
€ 928.9 thousand; 2015: € 920.3 thousand), bonus (2016: € 870.4 thousand; 2015: € 1,133.7 thousand), 
remuneration components for independent retirement and surviving dependents pensions (2016:  
€ 151.2 thousand; 2015: € 151.2 thousand). The severance provision for members of the Executive Board 
amounted to € 664.1 thousand as of December 31, 2016 (2015: € 678.1 thousand). Total payments  
to members of the Executive Board, consisting of remuneration, severance payments and the change in the 
severance provision amounted to € 1,936.5 thousand in 2016 (2015: € 2,197.3 thousand). After leaving  
the company, the company will not incur any future expenses from title to the occupational pension scheme  
for Executive Board members.

The bonus is calculated from the degree of target attainment of consolidated earnings in the income  
statement before taxes and earnings attributable to non-controlling interests in the respective financial year.  
The target is set by the Supervisory Board for two financial years at a time.

The Supervisory Board was granted remuneration of € 199.5 thousand (2015: € 213.6 thousand) in the  
2016 financial year.

The 21st Annual General Meeting in 2013 resolved the following remuneration system for the Supervisory  
Board. The remuneration for members of the Supervisory Board consists of a fixed and a variable component. 
Each elected member of the Supervisory Board receives annual fixed remuneration of € 18 thousand. For  
the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman this amount is € 24 thousand. Variable remuneration is calculated  
as a percentage of consolidated EBT, whereby variable remuneration for the year of € 40,000 each for  
the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman and € 30,000 each for all other elected members was resolved for  
full attainment of the target set for the year. The following calculation is applied in the event of the actual  
EBT for the financial year deviating from the target set for the year:

p	 In the event of a negative deviation the member of the Supervisory Board receives a discount on variable 
remuneration of 2.5% per € 1 million deviation in EBT.

p	 In the event of a positive deviation up to € 5 million the member of the Supervisory Board receives  
a premium on variable remuneration of 2.5% per € 1 million deviation in EBT and if the target is exceeded  
by more than € 5 million, there is a premium on variable remuneration of 1% per € 1 million deviation  
in EBT.

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is index-linked on the basis of the Austrian 2010 consumer  
price index.
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E5. Auditor’s fees
An amount of € 163.0 thousand was paid for services by the auditor of the consolidated financial statements 
Ernst &Young Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H. in the 2016 financial year (2015: € 477.6 thousand).  
€ 113.0 thousand (2015: € 114.5 thousand) of this related to audits of financial statements and € 50.0 thousand  
(2015: € 363.1 thousand) to other services. There were no tax advisory services or other assurance services.

E6. Earnings per share
Earnings per share are calculated in accordance with IAS 33 (“Earnings Per Share”) by dividing the profit  
or loss for the period after deducting non-controlling interests by the number of shares outstanding. As there 
were no “dilutive potential ordinary shares” outstanding, the “diluted earnings per share” are equal to “basic 
earnings per share”.

The calculation is as follows:
		  2015	 2016
Profit or loss for the period  

after deducting non-controlling interests	 in € thousand	 22,430.1	 23,513.8

Average number of shares outstanding	 units	 6,800,000	 6,800,000

Basic earnings per share	 in €/share	 3.30	 3.46

Diluted earnings per share	 in €/share	 3.30	 3.46

There were no transactions with potential ordinary shares in the period between the end of the reporting period 
and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

E7. Proposal for the appropriation of profits
The proposal for the appropriation of profits is based on the separate financial statements of the company 
prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB – Unternehmensgesetzbuch).

Net retained profits of € 8,304,151.42 were reported in the separate financial statements of Rosenbauer 
International AG for the 2016 financial year. The Executive Board proposes the following appropriation of these 
net retained profits: distribution of a dividend of € 1.2 (2015: € 1.5) per share (i. e. € 8,160,000 for 6,800,000 
shares).

Carryforward to new account: € 144,151.42
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E8. Executive bodies of the company
Supervisory Board
p	 Alfred Hutterer, Chairman
	 Date of first appointment: May 24, 2003; End of current term of office: 2018 Annual General Meeting

p	 Rainer Siegel, Deputy Chairman since May 21, 2016
	 (Member since May 20, 2016)
	 Date of first appointment: May 29, 2009; End of current term of office: 2019 Annual General Meeting

p	 Christian Reisinger, Member since May 21, 2016
	 (Deputy Chairman until May 20, 2016)
	 Date of first appointment: May 25, 2006; End of current term of office: 2021 Annual General Meeting

p	 Karl Ozlsberger, Member
	 Date of first appointment: May 26, 2007; End of current term of office: 2017 Annual General Meeting

Works Council Delegates to the Supervisory Board:
p	 Rudolf Aichinger
p	 Alfred Greslehner

Executive Board
p	 Chairman of the Executive Board, CEO

p	 Gottfried Brunbauer, Member of the Executive Board, CTO

p	 Günter Kitzmüller, Member of the Executive Board, CFO

Leonding, March 15, 2017

Dieter Siegel	 Gottfried Brunbauer	 Günter Kitzmüller
Chairman of the Executive Board, CEO	 Member of the Executive Board, CTO	 Member of the Executive Board, CFO
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AUDITOR’S REPORT1

REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Audit Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Rosenbauer International AG, Leonding, and of its subsid- 
iaries (the Group) comprising the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2016, the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement  
of cash flows for the fiscal year then ended and the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our audit the accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the legal 
regulations and present fairly, in all material respects, the assets and the financial position of the Group as of  
December 31, 2016 and its financial performance for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial 
Reportings Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by EU, and the additional requirements under Section 245a Austrian Company 
Code UGB.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply  
with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those regulations and standards are further described  
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the Austrian General Accepted Accounting Principles and professional 
requirements and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters, that in our professional judgment were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the fiscal year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the con- 
solidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

We considered the following matters as key audit matters for our audit:
1.	 Purchase price allocation related to the acquisition of G&S Brandschutz group
2.	 Revenue recognition
3.	 Cash flow hedge accounting

1.	 Purchase price allocation related to the acquisition of G&S Brandschutz group
Description
The acquisition of G&S Brandschutz group was concluded with a contract dated November 25, 2015 with effect from 
January 1, 2016 at a purchase price of € 10.0 million. The purchase price allocation results in a goodwill of € 4.1 million 
as well as significant intangible assets in the form of a customer relationship (approx. € 2.9 million) and technology 
(approx. € 2.6 million).

Within the scope of this acquisition significant assumptions are made regarding the existence and valuation of acquired 
assets (mainly intangible assets) and liabilities in this purchase price allocation. The main risk is the determination of  
fair values and the valuation of assets, the non-identification of intangible assets and the estimation of future cash flows 
and the discount rate.

1	 The publication or distribution of the consolidated financial statements with our auditor’s report may only take place in the version audited  

	 by us. This auditor’s report relates exclusively to the German-language and complete consolidated financial statements together with the group  

	 management report. The provisions under Section 281 (2) Austrian Company Code UGB are to be considered for deviating versions.
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The disclosures on the explanations of the purchase price allocation of G&S Brandschutz group and their values are  
included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements under note B1. “Basis of consolidation – acquisitions”.

How our audit addressed the matter
To address this risk we performed the following audit procedures:
p	 Assessment of the concept and design of the purchase price allocation process, including its documentation.
p	 Inspection of the contracts related to the acquisition of G&S Brandschutz group.
p	 Review of the identification of intangible assets, the differences between the carrying amount and the fair value  

of other assets and liabilities, and the methodology used with the participation of our valuation specialists.
p	 Review of the mathematical accuracy of the calculations submitted and a plausibility check of the discount rates.
p	 Review of the first-time consolidation of G&S Brandschutz group and the necessary IFRS adjustments at  

the acquisition date January 1, 2016.
p	 Verification of the completeness of the disclosures for the acquisition of G&S Brandschutz group in the notes.

2.	 Revenue recognition
Description
The revenues of Rosenbauer International Group result from various sales streams. The accounting is highly complex  
in the context of the relevant IFRS standards.

Significant risks of correct revenue recognition involve primarily the correct calculation of the percentage of  
completion of construction contracts accounted for using the percentage-of-completion method.

The disclosures of Rosenbauer International AG on revenues are included in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements under notes C6. “Construction contracts”, C13. “Revenue recognition” and D8. “Construction contracts”  
as well as in segment reporting.

How our audit addressed the matter
To address this risk we performed the following audit procedures:
p	 Assessment of the revenue-relevant IT systems as well as the design and effectiveness of the general IT controls  

with the involvement of internal IT specialists.
p	 Assessment of the accounting policies for revenue recognition.
p	 Establishment of a representative sample for the inspection of the percentage of completion of constructions 

contracts.
p	 Review of the mathematical accuracy of the percentage of completion and a plausibility check of the assumptions 

related to estimated total costs and total revenue.
p	 Verification of the completeness of the disclosures for revenues.

3.	 Cash flow hedge accounting
Description
In the consolidated financial statements of Rosenbauer International AG as of December 31, 2016, the cash flow  
hedge reserve amounts to € –6.0 million. The changes in the value of cash flow hedges recognized in other comprehen- 
sive income are € 0.2 million.
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The main risk is that hedging relationships are designated as cash flow hedges under IAS 39, which do not fully meet  
the requirements for the application of hedge accounting under IAS 39. If the requirements are not fulfilled, changes in 
the value must be recognized in profit or loss. In particular, the requirements for the assessment of hedge effective- 
ness must be reviewed at the time of the hedge designation as well as at each reporting date.

The corresponding disclosures of Rosenbauer International AG on cash flow hedge accounting are included in  
the notes to the consolidated financial statements under notes B4. “Fair value measurement”, C9. “Derivative financial 
instruments” and D30. “Risk management”.

How our audit addressed the matter
To address this risk we performed the following audit procedures:
p	 Obtaining an understanding of the processes and controls implemented in the Group related to cash flow hedges.
p	 Establishment of a representative sample to review the calculated market values as at December 31, 2016  

as well as the assessment of the hedge effectiveness of certain cash flow hedge derivatives.
p	 Assessment of the fulfillment of all requirements under IAS 39 for the application of cash flow hedge accounting.
p	 Verification of the completeness and correctness of the disclosures for cash flow hedges.

Responsibilities of Management and of the Audit Committee for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS as 
adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements under Section 245a Austrian Company Code UGB for them to present  
a true and fair view of the assets, the financial position and the financial performance of the Group and for such internal 
controls as management determines are necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to con- 
tinue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are  
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our  
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Austrian Standards on Auditing, which require the application of ISA, always detect a material misstatement  
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing, which require the application of ISA, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.

161

AUDITOR’S REPORT (TRANSLATION)



162

We also:
p	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due  

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

p	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appro- 
priate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control.

p	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and  
related disclosures made by management.

p	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based  
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated  
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on  
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause  
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

p	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events  
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

p	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business  
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for  
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most signifi- 
cance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe  
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,  
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Comments on the Management Report for the Group
Pursuant to Austrian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, the management report for the Group is to be audited  
as to whether it is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as to whether the management report for  
the Group was prepared in accordance with the applicable legal regulations.
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Management is responsible for the preparation of the management report for the Group in accordance with  
Austrian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing for the audit of the management report  
for the Group.

Opinion
In our opinion, the management report for the Group was prepared in accordance with the valid legal requirements, 
comprising the disclosures in accordance with Section 243a Austrian Company Code UGB, and is consistent with  
the consolidated financial statements.

Statement
Based on the findings during the audit of the consolidated financial statements and due to the thus obtained under- 
standing concerning the Group and its circumstances no material misstatements in the management report for the  
Group came to our attention.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in  
the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, the management report for the Group and  
the auditor’s report thereon. The annual report is estimated to be provided to us after the date of the auditor’s report.  
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of audit conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other infor- 
mation, as soon as it is available, and, in doing so, to consider whether – based on our knowledge obtained in the audit – 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

Responsible Austrian Certified Public Accountant
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ms. Johanna Hobelsberger-Gruber, 
Certified Public Accountant.

Linz, March 15, 2017

Ernst & Young
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H.

Mag. Johanna Hobelsberger-Gruber mp	 ppa DI (FH) Hans Seidel mp
Wirtschaftsprüferin	 Wirtschaftsprüfer

Certified Public Accountant	 Certified Public Accountant
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 82(4) 3 OF THE AUSTRIAN STOCK EXCHANGE ACT

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles for financial report- 
ing, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and  
result of operations of the Group, and the management report of the Group includes a true and fair view of the 
development and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of  
the principal risks and uncertainties to which the Group is exposed.

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles for financial report- 
ing, the annual financial statements of the parent company give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial 
position and result of operations of the company, and the management report includes a true and fair view  
of the development and performance of the business and the position of the company, together with a descrip-
tion of the principal risks and uncertainties to which the company is exposed.

Leonding, March 15, 2017

Dieter Siegel	 Gottfried Brunbauer	 Günter Kitzmüller
Chairman of the Executive Board, CEO	 Member of the Executive Board, CTO	 Member of the Executive Board, CFO

Global Product Division:	 Global Product Division:	 Global Product Divisions:

Customer Service	 Firefighting & Body Components	 Fire & Safety Equipment,

		  Stationary Fire Protection
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GLOSSARY

A
Area CEEU: Sales region “Central and Eastern Europe”
Area NISA: Sales region “Northern Europe, Iberia,  

South America and Africa”
Area MENA: Sales region “Middle East and North Africa”
Area APAC: Sales region “Asia-Pacific“
Area NOMA: Sales region “North and Middle America”
AT (Advanced Technology): Municipal firefighting vehicle  

concept

C
Capital employed: Equity plus interest-bearing borrowed  

capital minus interest-bearing assets
Commander: US custom chassis for firefighting vehicles
CSR: Corporate social responsibility

E
Earnings per share: Consolidated earnings after deduction  

of non-controlling interests divided by the number  
of shares outstanding

EBITDA: Earnings before interest and taxes, depreciation,  
and amortization

EBT: Earnings before taxes
EBIT: Earnings before interest and taxes
EBIT margin: EBIT divided by revenues
Equity: Share capital plus capital reserves, other reserves, 

cumulative earnings and non-controlling interests
Equity ratio: Equity divided by total assets
ET: Efficient Technology; municipal vehicle concept

G
Gearing ratio (%): Net debt divided by equity
GRI: Global Reporting Initiative; guidelines for the preparation  

of sustainability reports

I
Interest-bearing borrowed capital: Non-current and current 

interest-bearing liabilities
Interest-bearing capital: Equity plus interest-bearing  

liabilities less cash and cash equivalents less securities
IMF: International Monetary Fund

K
Kanban logistics: production process management  

method

M
Market capitalization: Closing share price as of the end  

of a period multiplied by the number of shares issued

N
Net debt: Interest-bearing liabilities less cash and  

cash equivalents less securities

P
PANTHER: Aircraft rescue firefighting vehicle (ARFF)
Price/earnings ratio: Closing share price as of the end  

of a period divided by earnings per share

R
ROCE (%): Return on capital employed; EBIT divided by  

the average capital employed
ROE (%): Return on equity, EBT as per the income statement  

divided by average equity

S
SVP: SAFE (German abbreviation standing for  

“synchronized work processes and fabrication  
improvement process”)

V
VdS: recognized quality seal for procurement of firefighting  

and safety technology

W
Working capital: Current assets minus current liabilities
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Rosenbauer Group			   2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 2012	 2013	 2014	 2015	 2016
	 Revenues	 € million	 426.1	 500.3	 541.8	 595.7	 541.6	 645.1	 737.9	 813.8	 865.4	 870.8
	 EBITDA	 € million	 36.0	 45.3	 35.9	 57.0	 49.7	 48.0	 52.6	 61.0	 64.7	 63.1
	 EBIT	 € million	 30.8	 39.9	 29.4	 49.7	 41.6	 38.6	 42.3	 48.4	 50.6	 47.0
	 EBIT margin		  7.2 %	 8.0 %	 5.4 %	 8.3 %	 7.7 %	 6.0 %	 5.7 %	 5.9 %	 5.8 %	 5.4 %
	 EBT	 € million	 25.4	 32.3	 26.4	 49.1	 40.3	 38.8	 41.7	 47.3	 48.2	 44.0
	 Net profit for the period	 € million	 19.9	 25.1	 17.6	 40.0	 32.1	 32.0	 30.8	 36.7	 36.8	 34.6
	 Cash flow from operating activities	 € million	 24.1	 20.4	 17.5	 34.8	 (12.8)	 (3.7)	 82.2	 (37.1)	 6.5	 83.4
	 Investments	 € million	 7.1	 12.2	 15.8	 8.9	 11.5	 14.7	 25.4	 51.2	 22.1	 24.3
	 Order backlog	 € million	 375.4	 459.2	 487.2	 394.5	 682.3	 580.5	 590.1	 693.0	 797.5	 739.7
	 Order intake	 € million	 458.7	 556.7	 575.9	 496.9	 826.8	 533.2	 760.6	 845.9	 905.9	 816.8
	 Employees (average)		  1,593	 1,722	 1,895	 2,014	 2,092	 2,328	 2,551	 2,800	 2,969	 3,312
	 — thereof Austria		  753	 811	 883	 920	 994	 1,066	 1,154	 1,253	 1,353	 1,411
	 — thereof international		  840	 911	 1,012	 1,094	 1,098	 1,262	 1,397	 1,547	 1,616	 1,901

Key statement of financial position		  2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 2012	 2013	 2014	 2015	 2016
	 Total assets	 € million	 228.8	 251.0	 306.8	 301.6	 357.7	 432.9	 415.6	 579.9	 611.8	 650.6
	 Equity in % of total assets		  31.8 %	 36.7 %	 32.5 %	 42.9 %	 40.1 %	 38.8 %	 45.2 %	 34.2 %	 37.0 %	 37.2 %
	 Capital employed (average)	 € million	 127.7	 139.0	 159.8	 179.7	 213.0	 267.2	 285.7	 341.2	 437.1	 470.2
	 Return on capital employed		  24.1 %	 28.7 %	 18.4 %	 27.6 %	 19.5 %	 14.5 %	 14.8 %	 14.2 %	 11.6 %	 10.0 %
	 Return on equity		  37.4 %	 39.2 %	 27.6 %	 42.8 %	 29.6 %	 24.9 %	 23.4 %	 24.5 %	 22.7 %	 18.8 %
	 Net debt	 € million	 30.6	 31.3	 41.8	 26.1	 60.8	 93.6	 48.8	 154.2	 191.3	 171.3
	 Working capital	 € million	 60.7	 77.3	 75.0	 100.2	 108.8	 123.3	 119.4	 137.7	 178.3	 189.6
	 Gearing ratio		  29.6 %	 25.4 %	 41.9 %	 20.2 %	 42.4 %	 55.7 %	 25.9 %	 77.7 %	 84.4 %	 70.8 %

Key stock exchange figures		  2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 2012	 2013	 2014	 2015	 2016
	 Closing price	 €	 32.8	 22.0	 29.0	 37.5	 36.3	 46.1	 59.3	 71.5	 66.6	 54.2
	 Market capitalization	 € million	 223.0	 149.6	 197.2	 255.0	 246.8	 313.1	 403.2	 485.9	 452.9	 368.6
	 Dividend	 € million	 4.8	 5.4	 5.4	 8.2	 8.2	 8.2	 8.2	 8.2	 10.2	 8.21
	 Dividend per share	 €	 0.7	 0.8	 0.8	 1.2	 1.2	 1.2	 1.2	 1.2	 1.5	 1.21
	 Dividend yield		  2,1 %	 3.6 %	 2.8 %	 3.2 %	 3.3 %	 2.6 %	 2.0 %	 1.7 %	 2.3 %	 2.2 %
	 Earnings per share	 €	 2.2	 2.9	 1.5	 4.7	 4.1	 4.5	 3.9	 4.0	 3.3	 3.5
	 Price/earnings ratio		  14.9	 7.6	 19.3	 8.0	 8.9	 10.2	 15.2	 17.9	 20.2	 15.5

	 1 Proposal to Annual General Meeting

TEN-YEAR COMPARISON

TEN-YEAR COMPARISON
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Rosenbauer Group			   2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 2012	 2013	 2014	 2015	 2016
	 Revenues	 € million	 426.1	 500.3	 541.8	 595.7	 541.6	 645.1	 737.9	 813.8	 865.4	 870.8
	 EBITDA	 € million	 36.0	 45.3	 35.9	 57.0	 49.7	 48.0	 52.6	 61.0	 64.7	 63.1
	 EBIT	 € million	 30.8	 39.9	 29.4	 49.7	 41.6	 38.6	 42.3	 48.4	 50.6	 47.0
	 EBIT margin		  7.2 %	 8.0 %	 5.4 %	 8.3 %	 7.7 %	 6.0 %	 5.7 %	 5.9 %	 5.8 %	 5.4 %
	 EBT	 € million	 25.4	 32.3	 26.4	 49.1	 40.3	 38.8	 41.7	 47.3	 48.2	 44.0
	 Net profit for the period	 € million	 19.9	 25.1	 17.6	 40.0	 32.1	 32.0	 30.8	 36.7	 36.8	 34.6
	 Cash flow from operating activities	 € million	 24.1	 20.4	 17.5	 34.8	 (12.8)	 (3.7)	 82.2	 (37.1)	 6.5	 83.4
	 Investments	 € million	 7.1	 12.2	 15.8	 8.9	 11.5	 14.7	 25.4	 51.2	 22.1	 24.3
	 Order backlog	 € million	 375.4	 459.2	 487.2	 394.5	 682.3	 580.5	 590.1	 693.0	 797.5	 739.7
	 Order intake	 € million	 458.7	 556.7	 575.9	 496.9	 826.8	 533.2	 760.6	 845.9	 905.9	 816.8
	 Employees (average)		  1,593	 1,722	 1,895	 2,014	 2,092	 2,328	 2,551	 2,800	 2,969	 3,312
	 — thereof Austria		  753	 811	 883	 920	 994	 1,066	 1,154	 1,253	 1,353	 1,411
	 — thereof international		  840	 911	 1,012	 1,094	 1,098	 1,262	 1,397	 1,547	 1,616	 1,901

Key statement of financial position		  2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 2012	 2013	 2014	 2015	 2016
	 Total assets	 € million	 228.8	 251.0	 306.8	 301.6	 357.7	 432.9	 415.6	 579.9	 611.8	 650.6
	 Equity in % of total assets		  31.8 %	 36.7 %	 32.5 %	 42.9 %	 40.1 %	 38.8 %	 45.2 %	 34.2 %	 37.0 %	 37.2 %
	 Capital employed (average)	 € million	 127.7	 139.0	 159.8	 179.7	 213.0	 267.2	 285.7	 341.2	 437.1	 470.2
	 Return on capital employed		  24.1 %	 28.7 %	 18.4 %	 27.6 %	 19.5 %	 14.5 %	 14.8 %	 14.2 %	 11.6 %	 10.0 %
	 Return on equity		  37.4 %	 39.2 %	 27.6 %	 42.8 %	 29.6 %	 24.9 %	 23.4 %	 24.5 %	 22.7 %	 18.8 %
	 Net debt	 € million	 30.6	 31.3	 41.8	 26.1	 60.8	 93.6	 48.8	 154.2	 191.3	 171.3
	 Working capital	 € million	 60.7	 77.3	 75.0	 100.2	 108.8	 123.3	 119.4	 137.7	 178.3	 189.6
	 Gearing ratio		  29.6 %	 25.4 %	 41.9 %	 20.2 %	 42.4 %	 55.7 %	 25.9 %	 77.7 %	 84.4 %	 70.8 %

Key stock exchange figures		  2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 2012	 2013	 2014	 2015	 2016
	 Closing price	 €	 32.8	 22.0	 29.0	 37.5	 36.3	 46.1	 59.3	 71.5	 66.6	 54.2
	 Market capitalization	 € million	 223.0	 149.6	 197.2	 255.0	 246.8	 313.1	 403.2	 485.9	 452.9	 368.6
	 Dividend	 € million	 4.8	 5.4	 5.4	 8.2	 8.2	 8.2	 8.2	 8.2	 10.2	 8.21
	 Dividend per share	 €	 0.7	 0.8	 0.8	 1.2	 1.2	 1.2	 1.2	 1.2	 1.5	 1.21
	 Dividend yield		  2,1 %	 3.6 %	 2.8 %	 3.2 %	 3.3 %	 2.6 %	 2.0 %	 1.7 %	 2.3 %	 2.2 %
	 Earnings per share	 €	 2.2	 2.9	 1.5	 4.7	 4.1	 4.5	 3.9	 4.0	 3.3	 3.5
	 Price/earnings ratio		  14.9	 7.6	 19.3	 8.0	 8.9	 10.2	 15.2	 17.9	 20.2	 15.5

	 1 Proposal to Annual General Meeting

TEN-YEAR COMPARISON
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